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Letter to shareholders

On behalf of the board of
directors (the “Board”) of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd, |
hereby present the Annual
Report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to all
shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
FBERIE R

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the Annual Report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 to all shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”).

In recent years, with the decreased number of newborns, the
demographic dividend gradually diminished, and the policy
control over the quality of milk powder products continued to be
strengthened, the domestic infant milk powder market entered a
stage of inventory competition, further eliminating the weak among
the strong in the industry. The COVID-19 pandemic and the boom of
domestic brands brought valuable development opportunities for
leading domestic milk powder brands. In addition, on 8 February
2020, the National Health Commission issued the Nutritional Dietary
Guidelines for Prevention and Treatment of Pneumonia infected
by COVID-19 GRESE MRS RARH A B G & & ERHEE), which
recommended that the general population should consume 300
grams of dairy products per day to help improve immunity, and thus
significantly boosted the demand for adult milk powder, such as
middle-aged and elderly milk powder, children milk powder and
family milk powder. As a leading domestic milk powder brand, the
Group further highlighted its advantages. In 2020, the sales and net
profit of the Group achieved steady growth.

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic created more diverse and flexible
digital marketing methods. Yashili also followed the trend by
developing new digital marketing initiatives such as community
interaction and live streaming to strengthen the interactive
communication between brands and consumers. In June 2020, Yashili
rebranded “Reeborne”, its core infant formula brand by launching
a series of new products under “Reeborne” with the product
positioning of “staying closer to breast milk (#— 883 &F3)". By
making the best of the influence of brand ambassador and innovative
digital marketing methods, with new brand propositions, remarkable

quality and brand-new packaging image, Yashili shaped the new
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

Yashili always insisted in investing scientific research to continuously
enhance and consolidate the advantages of its differentiated products
and further meet the diversified nutritional needs during all stages
of life of core consumer groups. In 2020, the Group formulated a
full-line formula upgrade plan for the infant formula products that
had been launched, continued to conduct research on the nutritional
ingredients of breast milk, and innovatively developed infant milk
powder with breast-milk formula. In addition, through the application
of innovative functional ingredients, Yashili followed and the market
trend and developed high-end adult functional milk powder to provide
solutions for consumers who need immunity enhancement under the
COVID-19 pandemic.

In 2020, Yashili continued to strengthen the channel layout of
“Mother-and-baby Stores for Infant Formula Products, Modern Trade
Channels for Nourishment Products, Rapidly Developing E-commerce
Channels and Comprehensively Developing New Channels and New
Products (BECIMBRETERE  €EMBTERBERE - REXR
BEEE  FRBFNEREEERE) and the in-depth development
of both online and offline channels. In early 2020, at the beginning
of the COVID-19 outbreak, in order to adapt to the changes in sales
channels, Yashili increased investment in digital marketing, coupled
with targeted channel product portfolios with a sound product line,
building a solid distribution foundation in core sales channels.
During the pandemic, the home delivery service of infant formula and
nutrition products of the Group had also become a standard service,
receiving good reputation from customers and consumers at all
levels. In the second half of 2020, the Group continued to increase
support for e-commerce business in terms of team and resources
and deepened the cooperation with e-commerce platforms such as
Alibaba and JD.com, while expanding social retail. In addition, the
pandemic also accelerated the consumption transfer of adult milk
powder from traditional retail to new retail. While the community
group purchase and social e-commerce thrived, the frequency of
ordering and the unit price of orders received by terminal stores

from the platforms also increased significantly.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
MR AVE ()

In 2020, Yashili launched a smart shopping guide platform to reshape
the way of interaction with consumers by empowering shopping
guidance with data. In addition, the Group created a new membership
digital operation system through the establishment of a consumer
point mall to further enhance the consumers’ loyalty to the brand. In
terms of business model, the Group created a brand-new operation
model to facilitate the comprehensive digital upgrade of physical
stores through Joyful-Shopping for staff members and Mengya
Home.

In early 2020, faced with the severe pandemic, the Group took the
initiative to provide nutritional supplements and milk powder to
the front-line staff in the fight against the pandemic and special
families and children affected by the pandemic to ensure their
nutritional needs are met, with a total value of RMB46 million, fully
demonstrated the social commitment of the brand.

In 2021, with the continuous support of large-scale resource
platforms such as COFCO, Mengniu, Danone and Arla Foods, Yashili
will gather global high-quality resources to achieve the highest
quality of the dairy industry, firmly root the social responsibility in
the development of the enterprise and be committed to becoming
the trustworthy brand of choice to provide consumers with
comprehensive nutrition and health solutions.

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 March 2021

2020%F - LM LR TESER TS - BBUE
EEEERE  BREBEENTH IR - BN
AEBEBEDHEEEOBMAIL THHNER
BrLELERAR £ SEBHEBENREK
o ERFERATE - AEEEBE TELEM
SR - ITERHNEERRN - EBEEFE
ETERBFTR -

202047 - MERIEWRE - AEETHRIEK
—RIEABRRREZENERFER TER
HEBFRMRDY  REELEEFE  AEE
ARBELBET ROBR T mENLEEE -

20214 - HEABETR - K4 - EEMArla
FoodsZEARERFEMNFHEZFT £E2HEE
BR - 23 XE2EHRE  EHeaEREERR
TEERT  BORKAESHEEEBENER
BEEZHIREEME -

ESK
EY
EFB 0 2021938248




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
BeEry RS

Year ended 31 December £ 12 A31H ILEE

(BR4SRIBIBBSN - FRE£EE
(ALl amounts in Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR AR ])

million unless otherwise stated) BBETYIR)

Key results FTEXEE

Revenue ' @N

Gross profit EH

Operating profit KR

Earnings before interest, tax, BT E#HAT AN
depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA]

Profit attributable to equity holders of ZNAFIHERH A
the Company FEAE R A

Net operating cash flow (Note 1) KREReMEFEMIEE)

Basic earnings per share BRERBM(ARES)
(RMB cents) (Note 2) (BtzE2)

Net asset value per share EREEFEARET)
(RMB yuan) (Note 3) (Ff$7E3)

Proposed special dividend per share &A% E#E RIS
(RMB cents) (Note 4) (AR%D) (FiIEs)

Dividend payout ratio % 8 79K b

Key performance ratios FEFEELR

Profitability ratios BT E

Gross profit margin EN=

Operating profit margin R AT =

Net profit margin AN E

Margin of profit attributable to equity A% B AFE(G HF =R
holders

Return on net assets FEEM R

Net profit to total assets Fm AR E L
(Note 11) (F&E11)

Asset ratios BEHFE

Current ratio (Note 5) MENEL 2 (M45E5)

Inventory turnover days (Note 4) FERERE(Hixs)

Trade receivable turnover days Z Z NG R RS
(Note 7) (BH5E7)

Trade payable turnover days (Note 8) & 5 FE S ZUEEE R L

(Ff15E8)
Debt to equity ratio (Note 9) BEH R R ()

Gearing ratio (Note 10) BESELE(HEE10)

Percentage
2019 change
BHESIL
3,412.0 7.0%
1,266.8 5.3%
18.3 200.0%
156.9 34.1%
112.4 -10.1%
177.2 -33.0%
2.4 -12.5%
1.2 -
37.1%
0.5%
3.3%
3.3%
2.0%
1.5%
1.9
154
16
73
32.2%
0.5%




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (CONTINUED)
PhEE TSR (4R

Year ended 31 December £ 12 A31H L EE

Notes:

1.

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash outflow
generated from operating activities for the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year.

Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at year end.

Proposed special dividend for the year divided by the number of ordinary shares for
the year.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year end.

Average inventory balances for the year divided by cost of sales for the year and
multiplied by 365 days.

Average balances of trade and bills receivables for the year divided by cost of sales
for the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Average balances of trade and bills payables for the year divided by cost of sales for
the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by total equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company at year end.

Total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at year end divided by total assets
atyear end.

. Profit for the year divided by total assets at year end.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERBEWAS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

As demographic dividend diminishes, advantages of leading
brands become more apparent

Affected by the decline in birth rate in recent years, milk powder
consumption in the domestic market has gone on the downtrend.
With demographic dividend coming to an end, inventory competition
has become the dominant theme in the mainland milk powder
market. Industry consolidation has started sending milk powder
companies into the battle for share in the market which size is
already limited. The chances for new entrants to gain competitive
advantage are slim, whereas leading players, by boosting their
strengths, see their brand advantages snatching the spot light.
Small and medium brands’ room of survival is quickly squeezed and
the milk powder market is stepping into a new cycle of inventory
competition.

The COVID-19 pandemic brings development opportunities
to local brands

In the last two years, more and more consumers have been craving
for domestic brands. That, together with improving regulation of the
dairy industry, more and more consumers are shopping for domestic
brand infant formula milk powder. Since the COVID-19 broke out in
2020, the pandemic has kept worsening overseas, as a result, milk
sources and supply of imported milk powder were affected to various
extent. Milk powder products of domestic brands however afforded
more stable supply, which has encouraged many consumers to
switch from surrogate shopping for overseas products to buying at
home and from foreign brands to domestic brands. On top of that,
the Group has boosted its brand reputation through participating
in pandemic prevention and relief support, which will benefit

development of the Group in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EE R wE D ()

Product development geared towards the high-end and
product segmentation

With per capita disposable income rising generally in the country,
fueling consumption upgrade and demand for high-end milk powder,
development of the infant milk powder industry received a shot in
the arm. Furthermore, advent of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020
has prompted consumers to pay more attention to their health, and
in turn the consumption demand for high-quality dairy products
has become more robust, driving product segmentation by industry
players.

In the main battlefield of infant formula milk powder, A2 protein
milk powder, organic milk powder and goat milk powder are the
key product markets for manufacturers’ competition, and niche
markets like milk powder for pregnant women and special formula
milk powder are gaining attention. Regarding nutritional products,
the country’s aging population and rising per capita income point to
a market with huge room for development. The pandemic lingering
has also increased demand for and interest in nutrition products. On
8 February 2020, the National Health Commission (BG4 i@ EE
B &) issued the Guidelines on Nutrition and Dietary for Prevention
and Treatment of Pneumonia Infection for Novel Coronavirus ( {¥7
AR RS RER AP e EERERIEE) ), recommending general
patients to take 300 grams of dairy products every day to boost their
immune system. As a result, demand for milk powder for the middle-
aged and elderly, and for children and the whole family has increased
significantly. Products that boost immunity are also popular, and
sales spiked for child nutrition products like probiotics, lactoferrin

and calcium products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Digital marketing in the industry hastens because of the
pandemic

In 2020, the novel coronavirus pandemic went rampant across the
world. While bringing a short-term impact on the economy and
society, it has also created opportunities for various industries and
the entire society to accelerate digital transformation. Following that
trend, the dairy industry has developed new business forms such
as contact-free delivery business, WeChat community marketing,
social retail, remote delivery and convenience services, gaining
more users and transaction volume on the traditional e-commerce
platforms and the customer base overall swelled. Furthermore, key
industry players have increased their investment in digitalization
and accumulated relevant operating experience. In the long run,
social group interaction, livestreaming, integrated online and offline
sales and other new models of digital marketing will become the
consumption trend and lifestyle of the future in the PRC, and the new
battleground for major dairy enterprises.

Continuous improvement of industry regulation and the
competitive environment

Regulatory authorities in the PRC have continuously tightened
policies and regulations on quality of milk powder products, including
publishing in 2019 the Administrative Measures for the Registration
of Infant Formula Milk Powder Products ( (22%h 53 B2 75 2L 2 e
F M EIESE) ) (the “Recipe Registration Requirement”), which
markedly improved regulation on safety risks of infant formula milk
powder. As at 31 December 2020, a total of 1,311 recipes in 440 series
of infant formula milk powder had completed registration, of which
992 recipes are from 117 factories in China, and 319 recipes are from
52 factories overseas. In December 2019, China officially enacted the
revised Regulations on the Implementation of the Food Safety Law
((RBEEFEEMIERF) ), with emphasis on improving monitory of
food safety risks of including infant formulas, special medical food
and healthcare food. Also released in the same year, the 2019 Food
Safety Supervision and Sampling Plan ({2019 &M% & BB MiRsT
£]) ) stipulates “double random” spot checks be conducted on key
food production enterprises, strengthening safety regulation on infant
formulas. These policies are conducive to the industry optimizing its
structure, ousting smaller substandard brands, which will benefit
development of the leading enterprises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EE R wE D ()

BUSINESS REVIEW

Staying true to its original aspiration, the Group is committed
to becoming the brand of choice that provides consumers with
comprehensive nutrition and health solutions they can trust.
The Group has strong support in resources from its controlling
shareholder Mengniu Group and the second largest shareholder
Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. ("Danone Asia”}, giving
it the drive to expand business and advance on the path of
internationalization.

Segment results

Since the first half of 2019, the Group, based on the particularities of
base powder products in terms of raw material purchase, production
and sales, has separated the base powder business from the original
operating segment under “Others” and renamed as “Other milk
powder products” segment. There are four reportable operating
segments as follows:

Milk powder products

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the results of milk powder
products segment were RMB2,975.6 million (2019: RMB2,650.3
million), increasing by over 12.3% as compared to the last year. Infant
formula powder continues to optimize the product structure, with
business growth and good momentum after rebranding. With the
aging population structure in China, the Group adjusted its strategy
for adult milk powder by focusing on high-end adult milk powder
and the promotion of Oushi Mengniu adult milk powder; meanwhile,
Oushi Mengniu adult milk powder uses the trademark of Mengniu and
leverages the advantages of its channels of malls and supermarkets
to record a significant growth in sales volume.

Other milk powder products

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the results of other milk
powder products segment were RMB427.4 million (2019: RMB574.9
million), decreasing by 25.7% as compared to the last year, which
was mainly attributable to the restriction of production and export

in the period from January 2020 to April 2020 due to the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on Yashili New Zealand Daily Co., Limited
(“Yashili New Zealand”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Dissolvable products

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the results of dissolvable
products segment was RMB166.4 million (2019: RMB143.2 million),
increasing by 16.2% as compared to the last year, which was mainly
due to the expansion of dealer channels and cooperation with dealers
in large size in the current year.

Others

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the results of other segments
were RMB79.8 million (2019: RMB43.6 million), increasing by 83.0%
as compared to the last year, which was mainly due to the increase
in the sales of defective raw material of Group during the year, which
led to the increase in the results of other segments.

Product Introduction

The Group strives to become the preferred brand of all-round
nutrition and health solutions for consumers. Its products are divided
into two large categories, namely infant formula milk powder and
health and nutrition products, and by type, cow milk powder, organic
milk powder and goat milk powder, covering markets of various ends
- ultra-high, high and middle. The infant formula milk powder brands
the Group champions include Yashily, Dumex, Reeborne, Doraler and
the cooperative brand Arla, and nutrition products carry mainly the
Mengniu and Topconic names.

The Group prides a business mode that integrates premium imported
dairy raw materials, world-class milk sources, world-class scientific
research and self-developed formulas, advanced manufacturing
system and stringent quality management system, enabling it to
gather high-quality resources from around the world to turn out best

quality dairy products worthy of the trust of consumers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Infant formula milk powder
Yashily

Yashily, which has for 38 years focused on research on the nutritional
needs of Chinese babies and production and sale of infant formula
milk powder, has international standard production bases in China
and New Zealand. It sources milk of superior quality from New
Zealand and carries out “double” quality inspection according to
standards in China and New Zealand, striving to become a world-
class “Chinese infant formula expert”. Yashily’s products are made
with high-quality raw materials, such as OPO structured lipid,
lactoferrin, prebiotics and nucleotides, from around the world.

Dumex

Dumex, born in Europe in 1946, boasts over 50 years’ experience in
research on breast milk and over 20 years’ experience in research
on the human immune and digestive systems. Dumex landed in the
China market many years ago, and has over the years constantly
innovated and upgraded its product formulas with the 9:1 golden
ratio of prebiotics, and high DHA and lactoferrin content. Its milk
powder contains 100% whole goat milk protein with OPO-structured
lipid added, helping absorption of key nutrients.

Reeborne

In 2020, the Group reinvented the brand proposition of Reeborne and
launched a series of breast milk-like milk powder products. As the
core product series of the year and in the future, the series features
a lighter taste and more nutritious ingredients. To serve customers
with different needs, the series comprises seven new products,
covering mainstream milk powder, high-growth organic milk powder

and niche goat milk powder.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Reeborne’s “Kieember (E33)" cow milk powder adopts the advanced
MSD drying process, which can retain the vitality of nutritional
ingredients. It contains double high-quality protein, patented OPO-
structured lipid, high living CPP factors and prebiotics in golden ratio,
providing babies with all-round, easy-to-absorb nutrition. Reeborne’s
“Qinyou (#R4&)” organic milk powder is made of pure organic milk
sourced from seven-year clean soil farms in The Alps and dairy
cows free range and grass-fed for 300 days, to provide milk powder
with protein content of up to 20% for infants and toddlers. It has WIT
organic certification and adopts the “one can, one code” tracking
system for quality assurance. Reeborne’s “TruYn (#]%8)" goat milk
powder selects high-quality small molecule goat milk protein,
and rare ingredients, such as lactoferrin, the body-friendly OPO-
structured lipid and probiotics and prebiotics, are added to provide
high-quality nutrition that babies can easily digest and absorb. In
addition, Reeborne’s breast milk-like milk powder series also has
other products at different prices, with different nutritional content
tailored to address the different nutritional needs of infants.

Arla

Arla, a century-old brand, is also the world’s largest organic
dairy brand, and the high product quality it affords has made it an
authorized brand fit for consumption by Danish royals. The organic
milk powder of Arla “Baby & Me” has secured three major organic
certifications and it contains high DHA and ARA, prebiotics in golden
ratio and uses organic lactose. Arla “Baby & Me Lanxi (E5%&)"
contains NutriCollab, a unique complementary set of nutrients, and
quality nutritious elements such as choline, taurine and nucleotide.
The new upgraded formula of Arla “Milex (3£713%)" combines OPO-
structured lipid, BB-12 probiotics and a golden ratio of prebiotics to
form the Pro Plus growth formula matching natural needs.

Doraler

Originally from Australia, Doraler goat milk powder contains 100%
whole goat milk protein, which can be easily digested and absorbed
by the human body because it is all natural. Doraler insists on not
adding sucrose, flavors and fragrances or maltodextrin in its products,

that it may provide babies with the purest and healthiest nutrition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Health and nutrition products
Adult milk powder

The Group's health and nutrition products include various milk
powders for adults. In addition to the Mengniu brand golden and
standard series adult milk powder, the Youyi (18] series adult milk
powder and Zhengwei (IE¥K) brand oatmeal, the Group has continued
to upgrade and innovate its products and launched the Mengniu
ultra-gold series, platinum series and Yourui (f&%s) series adult milk
powder. Moreover, new category products, including Topconic (fF
FZ 1) milk powder, Nutriall (A7E&E) milk powder, fruit oatmeal, M8
children’s growth formula milk powder and skimmed milk powder,
etc. have been launched by the Group. Below are the key new
category products:

Topconic milk powder

Topconic milk powder is a high-end product series with a goal is to
strengthen immunity, targeting mainly consumer groups with low
immunity. It is the first immune health formula milk powder in China.
Topconic’s milk powder uses Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus and
X0S as the main ingredients to help consumers boost their immune
system.

Nutriall milk powder

Nutriall milk powder is imported and designed for family
consumption. It uses milk from New Zealand and possesses
the certificate of recognition from the New Zealand Fernmark
Certification Licence Programme (3770 $REXEER:&). The formula
can supplement nutrients, such as calcium, protein, vitamins,
soybean lecithin and linoleic acid, to meet nutritional needs of all
members of a family.

Fruit oatmeal

Fruit oatmeal is a product targeting young female consumers aged
between 18 to 35. It contains diverse ingredients such as dried fruits,
nuts, milk and rose petals. It is low-calorie and has no sugar, yet rich
in dietary fiber. It can be served dry or with cold milk. It is a delicacy
for instant enjoyment and the best choice for breakfast, afternoon tea

and meal replacement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

M8 children’s growth formula milk powder

M8 children’s growth formula milk powder has Bifidobacterium
lactis Probio-M8 added to help nutrient absorption, benefiting
intestinal health and enhancing protection. Various nutrients fortify
the formula, particularly the addition of FOS, GOS, PS, DHA, ARA,
lactoferrin, N-acetylneuraminic acid, zeaxanthin and lutein. It is also
rich in calcium and vitamin D and is scientifically formulated to help
children grow.

Brand Strategies
Rebranding and renovating products

To integrate superior resources and focus on brand building, the
Group launched several rebranding projects in 2020. The core infant
formula Reeborne took on the positioning of closer yet to breast milk.
The Group combed through the cow milk, goat milk and organic milk
categories, among others to restructure product mix, allowing it to
add seven new products to the Reeborne series and those products
were officially launched in the market in June 2020. The brand is
competing in the market with a new brand proposition, high-quality
products and in a brand-new packaging. Reeborne’s “Kieember (&
¥A4)” realized a growth in sales of about 102% in the second half of the
year compared with the first half.

Furthermore, the Group also reshaped the high-end positioning of
the Arla Baby & Me brand with the organic features of products as
highlights and upgraded the image of the brand. On 10 May 2020,
Arla Baby & Me hosted an online global conference and released
a new TVC to promote the brand’s new slogan that emphasizes
its “World Leadership in Production and Sales Volume of Organic
Dairy Products (B# L mEHE 2IKEEE L) for five consecutive
years. Arla Baby & Me also invited top key opinion leaders (KOLs) to
promote the brand helping to raise brand awareness.

The Group also refreshed Doraler’s brand image and brand
positioning stressing that “Doraler from Australia is the Best Choice
of Goat Milk ["NFREEIM  FHMFLELH)". Using new visuals,
Doraler highlighted its high-end image with the fact of it canned in

and imported from Australia, enhancing the core value of the brand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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The Group also adjusted and established the brand positioning of
Dumex, which is “Choosing the healthy Dumex for easy absorption
of nutrition”, building anew Dumex’s competitive advantage. Efforts
were also made to extend reach of the brand to lower-tier markets
with a unified new brand vision.

Strong media promotion and full force and scope for brand
promotion

During the year, the Group’s infant brands actively carried out media
promotion. Reeborne organized more than a hundred of media
conferences across the country, achieving strong publicity for the re-
shaped brand. Reeborne also sponsored the first-tier variety show
“Trump Card: Season 5" ((EME FEESZE) ] in the first quarter
of the year, which saw consumer awareness of the brand improve
markedly in a short period of time. At the same time, through
content communication tied in with home delivery service during
the COVID-19 pandemic, the brand image of Reeborne brand and
corporate image of the Group were effectively enhanced and well-
endorsed by consumers.

During the year, the Group’s infant formula segment increased
investment in promotion in local media and outdoor media. Focusing
on mobilizing strong media resources in core markets to achieve
extensive coverage, it empowered those on the sale-front and also
the sales channels. In mounting innovative promotional activities,
the Group’s infant milk formula brands strengthened the use of
social media, such as Douyin, Weibo and WeChat, which are popular
among young mothers, to promote the brands and products in fun
formats, such as interesting short videos, vivid graphics and texts,
and celebrity interactions, thereby enhanced interaction between the
brands and consumers.

Regarding nutrition products, since the launch of Topconic on 20
May 2020, the Group has worked closely with major media outlets to
establish a comprehensive media matrix. During the year, Topconic
made a total of 278 promotional announcements, through regular
online media releases, consumer-end news platforms and also large

WeChat accounts to forcefully drive sales of the new products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Committing to charity with passion and promoting the healthy habit
of drinking milk

During the pandemic, the Group actively responded to the call from
the National Health Commission in the “Guidelines on Nutrition and
Dietary for Prevention and Treatment of Pneumonia Infection for
Novel Coronavirus” and agreeing with the action plan of “Healthy
Chinese People Drink Milk Everyday (K ARG A A)” of the
Mengniu Group, public relations campaigns surrounding topics of
interest to the media were launched and frequent publicity was
undertaken via such channels as online media, we media, mother-
and-baby groups and e-commerce channels to enhance awareness
and reputation of the brand. The Group also donated batches of adult
milk powder and infant formula milk powder to assure nutritional
needs of front-line staff in the government and hospitals were met
and their babies had sufficient food supply during the pandemic.
The Group also led the delivery of supplies to the recipients, so as
to enhance consumers’ good feeling towards the brand, show the
brand’s sense of social responsibility and set the stage mounting
strong subsequent brand promotion.

Increasing number of members with comprehensive tactics

The Group was able to draw in traffic flows through community
marketing, member benefits cooperation with external parties and
cross-selling with other industries. With the pandemic stimulating
online sales, the total number of customer members of the Group
increased steadily during the year. The Group also actively explored
and pursed innovative cooperation mode with mother-and-baby retail
platforms, mother-and-baby brands, medical channels, internet
platforms, mother-and-baby communities, fast-moving consumer
brands and financial platforms, pushing up fast the number of
members. At the same time, to build a more comprehensive, efficient
and precise membership marketing system, the Group launched a
membership building project during the year to lay a solid foundation

for developing effective marketing to members.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Product Research and Development

The Group has been actively investing in technological research on
product differentiation to give it competitive advantage. To meet the
nutritional needs of infants at different stages of growth, the Group
has been innovating and developing infant formula milk powder
with nutritional composition resembling breast milk. Moreover, the
Group developed a series of adult milk powder that can satisfy the
nutritional needs of various consumer groups, especially the growing
needs of middle-aged and elderly people. With a professional
and sizeable R&D team and heeding market development trends
and demands of consumers, the Group made good progress with
registration of milk powder formulas and research and development
of nutrition products.

Innovation and upgrade of infant formula milk powder

As of the end of December 2020, the Group and its partner Arla
had a total of 54 infant formula products in 18 series with recipes
registered. To continuously enhance and consolidate the advantages
of differentiated products, the Group devised during the year a
plan to upgrade across the board infant formula products already
launched, entailing researches on protein, lipid and oligosaccharides,
to develop innovative infant milk powder resembling breast milk and
launching new packaging for infant formula products to attract more
consumers and elevate the profile of the products

Innovation and development of high-end functional milk powder for
adults

Using innovative functional ingredients, the Group is developing
high-end adult functional milk powders with more merits attractive
to consumers. Among them, there is Topconic's Bifidobacterium
Lactobacillus XOS milk powder, whose development was completed
in 2020 after six years of hard work. It is now an approved healthcare
food. Such product provides consumers who need to enhance their
immunity against the COVID-19 virus with a solution that combines
probiotics and functional XOS ingredients. Moreover, the development
of two series of milk powder for the middle-aged and elderly, namely
Yourui Liyi (#&3% &) and Xinpei ({L3f1), was also completed in 2020.
The products with a selection of functional ingredients beneficial to
muscle health and cardiovascular and cerebrovascular functions can
help enhance the health of the middle-aged and elderly. The HMB-
Ca in Yourui Liyi can promote muscle formation and reduce muscle
wasting for middle-aged and elderly people, whereas Yourui Xinpei
contains phytosterol esters and fish oil rich in EPA that can improve
cardiovascular health.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Improving R&D level and launching researches on nutritional
composition of breast milk

The Group continued to increase investment in the research of
milk powder technology, testing methods, product standards
and technological patents to raise the level of its research and
development technology and product quality. A good number of patent
applications were filed by the Group during the year. Regarding the
research on the nutritional composition of breast milk under the “13th
Five-Year Plan”, the Group has kicked off work related to formula
design, trial production and animal experiment, and a database of
breast milk nutrient composition has also been set up. Furthermore,
the Group started actively the study of “Optimizing the Design and
Development of Proteins and Amino Acids in Infant Foods” ({{B1tZ&
HEMAQARE LR mPARETAFEE) ) in eight cities across the
country. In line with national policies, the Group is cooperating with
well-known national medical institutions such as the Capital Institute
of Pediatrics to conduct clinical trials investigating the impact of
nutrients in infant formulas on the brain, intestines and the physical
development of infants.

Sales Channels

In 2020, on the back of the business division organization structure
with infant formula milk powder and nutrition products as two main
basic management units, Yashili continued to strengthen strategic
channel deployment entailing “Mother-and-baby Stores for Infant
Formula Products, Modern Trade Channels for Nutrition Products,
Hasten Development of E-commerce Channels and Develop New
Channels and New Products (RE D BETRRE EELE
EHERE REZREFRE FREFTEMEEER]". When
the COVID-19 pandemic broke out in the beginning of the year, in
response to changes happening on the sales channel front, Yashili
increased investment in digital marketing and, with a comprehensive
product portfolio, came up with channel-specific product mix, helping
build a solid distribution foundation for core sales channels. During
the pandemic, home delivery service for the Group’s infant formula
milk powder and nutrition products have become a standard service,
not only assuring supply of milk powder to end consumers, but also
helping establish the good reputation of the Group among customers
and consumers at all levels. In the second half year, Yashili further
optimized its market layout and team operation, directing great
effort onto channel penetration and deployment. At that, as well as
mounting more in-store promotion of a wider reach, satisfactory

results were achieved.
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Development of all online and offline channels in depth and breadth

With regard to development of channels for infant formula, the
Group mainly focused on steadily development of the mother-and-
baby store channel, and devising synergistic match among mother-
and-baby store chains, modern trade and e-commerce channels.
The Group insisted on opening channels in lower-tier markets by
cooperating with well-known core chain retailers with presence
nationwide, complementing its own channels in main markets. As
for offline stores operation, Yashili continued to enhance the overall
quality of its stores. In the latter half of 2020, the Group stepped up
support to its e-commerce business with a stronger team and in
terms of resources, plus cemented cooperation with e-commerce
platforms like Alibaba and JD.com, and at the same time exerted
on developing social retailing. Furthermore, the pandemic has
speeded up the shift from traditional retailing to new retailing for
adult milk powder. Apart from community group purchase and social
e-commerce performing well, terminal stores also made more and
bigger orders on the new platform. During the year, the Group’s adult
milk powder products achieved a sales increase of approximately
52% year-on-year.

Proactive marketing

The Group fully exploited the influence of its spokespersons in 2020,
which helped bolstered popularity of the Reeborne brand. Various
marketing events were organized highlighting the refreshed brand
attribute “resemblance to breast milk (##%L)” and coinciding with
festive occasions. The Group also established close to 20,000 brand
stores during the year. At the same time, in the second half of
the year, with “sales is supreme (EJ$8&F)" as theme, the Group
launched sales and marketing campaign in the lower-tier markets,
hosting close to 1,000 display and sale events in the fourth quarter,
which raised effectively its overall results and the confidence of
channels. In particular, during sales peak in September and October,
employees were sent to first-tier markets to take part in client and
in-store events to help zest up and take to the peak buying sentiment

at the different channels.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Digital marketing empowers marketing innovations

Apart from conventional basic promotional activities, the Group
increased investment in digitalization to smart up marketing,
gradually realizing the shift from traditional marketing management
to marketing empowerment, as such various marketing events of
the Group have become more intelligent, innovative and effective.
The Group created a new membership operation system that awards
bonus points to consumers on spending. Engaging digital technology
in its operation, the system has helped strengthen customers’ loyalty
to the brand. Furthermore, on top of in-store sales and marketing
events, the Group made innovative uses of “family dinner (XE)",
“movie festival (EF/£i)”, “breast milk-like milk festival (33ZL&0)"
and other scenarios to achieve in-depth interaction with consumers,
thereby boosted the effect of its consolidated marketing effort as well
as customer loyalty.

Quality Management

2020 was the third year of the Group’s “Three Quality Years (3FE =
£F)”. In agreement with the development plan of its parent company,
Yashili worked hard on improving product quality, and also quality
management standard with a view to raise customer satisfaction.
During the year, the Group upheld its quality philosophy of “Quality
comes first — be the quality benchmark of the global milk powder
industry (FOVEE AZIKIINITEZD EZM)” and the quality
management targets of “T(rust), O(utstanding), P(referred) (T{Z#8 0
H P&iE)", quiding it in the strive to provide the best products and
product experience to consumers. All its products passed sampling
tests conducted by external parties.

Upgrading quality management system

In 2020, Yashili's quality management system underwent a
comprehensive upgrade that covered four aspects, namely quality
planning, quality control and assessment, quality performance
and improvement and quality safety support and assurance across
the entire industrial chain, which involved operations in relation to
market management, product innovation management, procurement
management, manufacturing operation, logistics and storage to sales
management and customer communication. Yashili also further
optimized its organization structure, expanded the scope and depth
of management while improving related systems, adding or updating

in 106 documents of relevance to the new management setup.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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To manage and control risk across its entire industrial chain, Yashili
worked to identify and analyze risks heeding quality management
requirements and drew up a quality risk map to help it focus on
risk control in critical operation stages, which is important for it to
control overall risk. Moreover, during the year, Yashili established a
compliance management system and compliance management team,
completed identifying compliance obligations and assessing risks at
group level and launched comprehensive compliance control.

Raising consumer satisfaction

To raise consumer satisfaction, project teams dedicated to
conquering difficulties were set up at all Yashili's factories.
Meanwhile, Yashili continued to emphasize quality control throughout
the entire production process, pushing for pursuits to heighten
improvement of process quality by its plants. Its four plants in China
had all kicked off standardized production procedures during the
year. Furthermore, Yashili also started implementing quality design
during the year, making sure quality risks are well under control in
the early stages of new product development.

Strengthening quality assessment

To strengthen supervision and management, Yashili redesigned
its quality assessment system during the year, with supervision
covering all factories of the Group as well as OEM factories.
Laboratories in factories will be independently supervised and
assessed. Comprehensive improvement of the Group’s assessment
system, approaches and terms was made using Mengniu Group's as
a benchmark, with senior assessors from Mengniu Group providing
assessment guidance on site, helping raise the work standard of
Yashili’s own assessors. To strengthen supervision of processes,
Yashili also started unannounced inspections. During the year,
the level of quality management of all the factories and also the

assessment score of the Group further improved as compared with
2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Enhancing test management level

Enhancing test management level is one of the major tasks of
Yashili in 2020. Taking reference of the quality test management
requirements of Mengniu Group, Yashili established a collective
laboratory system and implemented it in all factories, achieving
uniform and standardized test management. Furthermore, to
improve the testers’ ability, the Group put in place a talent succession
and cultivation and ability enhancement program for test managers
to help them sustain development of their ability. During the year,
the passing rate of external ability tests and internal blind tests for
factories under the Group further increased as compared with 2019.

Strengthening digitalization for quality assessment

In 2020, the Group established a laboratory information system,
ran test trials in Horinger Factory (FI#A /&) and the system was
implemented in all factories of the Group in January 2021. The
system allows SAP system to send test tasks and receive test result,
streamlining, simplifying and standardizing the quality test process,
helpful for quality data analysis. Moreover, the quality assessors of
the Group shared the salesforce system with Mengniu with review
information of suppliers and factories uploaded to the system. This
allowed sharing of the information and made it easy for responsible
departments to follow up and access statistics for analysis, helping
all parties to improve work efficiency.

Promoting a culture that embraces quality

Yashili has continuously raised awareness of the importance of
quality among the factory staff. By providing various on-site quality
training and promotion in the factories, offices and other places,
the Group succeeded in fostering, with employee participation, a
culture that embraces quality. In 2020, the Group organized a total
of 419 quality related training sections, covering quality system, food
safety laws, relevant regulations and standards, etc., to increase

employees’ quality awareness.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Supply Chain

The sudden outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 posed
great challenges to Yashili in supply chain management. The
Group responded quickly by setting up a supply chain pandemic
emergency committee, making nationwide deployment, maintaining
at full strength excellent supply chain operation, conducting strict
management of factories, perfecting coordination of production,
supply and sales, embarking on critical projects, linking up upstream
suppliers and downstream customers, and also continuing to build up
its culture, teams and talent, thereby supports the normal operation
of the Group's front-end business.

Fighting against the pandemic and securing supply

Despite the pandemic lingering, all Yashili’s factories resumed
work and production in strict accordance with national policies and
the Group’'s plan. In the period when the pandemic went wild, the
Group still insisted on putting equal emphasis on fighting against
the pandemic and resuming work and production, and diligently
implemented sterilization and pandemic prevention procedures for
employees, vehicles, and in production areas, and office and living
areas. Throughout 2020, the Group had zero outbreak incidents and
no infection among employees. Although logistics operations were
almost paralyzed across the country during the pandemic, the Group
was able to meet its targets with regard to order fulfillment rate,
customer satisfaction, and shipment timeframe, giving front-end
business the strong backup it needed.

Improving factory management, and expanding sources of income
and reducing expenses

During the year, Yashili's supply chain officially upgraded the six
major “Empowering 3.0” (#&£3.0) projects, covering the building up
of culture, teams and talents, the strict management of factories,
the excellent supply chain operation, the improvement of production,
supply and sales coordination, the establishment of key projects
and the connection between upstream suppliers and downstream
customers. In the second half of 2020, the Group repositioned all
its factories and launched a series of projects to expand sources of
income and reduce expenses, such as human resource sharing and
leasing out of vacant factories. The Group will continue to improve
factory management and increase synergy between the supply chain

and each business unit to facilitate the achievement of sales targets.

it

2020 FBERRERABRE - HHLAROHE
BEETRHRBARS - NEEREEY - K
VYHERRBEESZES  2HHE  2O4E
FHHRRES  BAK  TEERERA
1TERRSRE - TR R ERHERRTHERS
WHBETTE - BERRATNER » FHAE
] A EAS Y IE H A

neRE  REHE

LR TR BEHEBRRRRERBR MAS
B EIETEE - ERIEREBRNFR - KA
BENBRENETEEYS  BENTHE
T BHH- LERE  HARE - AEEEAH
SRRERF © 2020F2F - AEBRFETRIE
BRT AEEFTEREE  FEWMEE - EH
RAER BIR - RANHREBRRMRTE S
EVERIE o

RATIHER - BIRER

FR - BRI EREERTRSANRAE3.0 38
B ORESESEUE - BERAS R - #
BOARRK - SEHEREE  TEEMRERR 1T
ERASRIAR - ANR[#E B ETHEERR THE
F o 20205 T+ F - AEEHMETIHEHNE
iz - ARFA—RIIRREGRER  MADKE -
HEBEHESE - AEEBESRT THRERE
IR E s R R 2 FMIBHRIER - BN
HHE BIRAEMX




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Cultural co-creation and strategic planning

In order to spread Yashili’s visions, missions and values, the Group
organized a number of cultural co-creation activities to collectively
create values and behaviors in line with the functions of the supply
chain and the business philosophy of “Supply chain is a service, and
service creates value (/&SRR - ARG ENMEERI%E)". In addition,
the Group’s supply chain department has set the strategic goal of
“Satisfying customers’ needs, reducing total supply chain costs, and
helping the Company gain success through strict administration
and coordinated operations” AR B & 2 A& UKL EE
BRAREBN REBAE HREE BIHEBEZEE), and has jointly
formulated a three-year strategic plan regarding supply chain on the
basis of cultural co-creation.

Management System

In the first half of 2020, the Group completed the integration of its
business units. With the upgrading and transformation of its internal
management system, the Group optimized and sorted out data assets
to ensure smooth business operation.

Based on Yashili’s digital platform jointly established with Alibaba, an
e-commerce giant, in 2019, the Group launched the smart shopping
guide platform online in 2020 to reshape the way of interaction with
consumers by empowering shopping guidance with data. In terms
of business model, the Group has created a brand-new operation
model to facilitate the comprehensive digital upgrade of physical
stores through Joyful-Shopping for staff members and Mengya
Home and the establishment of independent online stores for every
physical store. Consumers could watch video lessons conducted
by experts on parenting knowledge centrally provided by brands in
each independent store of Mengya Home, so as to accumulate the
consumer assets of each store, expand the influence of brands and

innovate the service form of channel participants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In terms of marketing and sales, the Group has enabled sales data AEEEEHEmH EERBEIFEERER &
online in real time, at the same time, Yashili's marketing and sales A& - IS HEAHNESHEEREEZSHC
expense management system has been put online to better manage  #X F4% @ BBHFLEE TS @ B EIEITH
the expenses and utilization efficiency of promotional campaigns EENE A R(EARRK - £ EGESR T E  ~NEEH
through such digital management platform. In terms of supply R E¥F2EEMSAP WMSEFEIE - 272
chain, the Group comprehensively implemented SAP WMS stock [EEIBiEN - B REEEBER=E B0
management in the first half of the year to improve warehouse  ZEA(LIMS)EZ REE - 0 - KRBT
management capabilities. Meanwhile, the Group applied the 12 WERIRASAP - ERPEZRSER » AAEH
Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) in the inspection &2 HEHESERRHEELE  SHIEEREEE
process of raw materials, auxiliary materials, semi-finished products  IEE)A[4R10 & B BGEHE -

and finished products. The LIMS system was integrated with systems

such as the SAP and ERP systems, etc., to provide data support for

the comprehensive quality management of the Group and achieve

visible and effective tracking of the quality management of supply

chain.

In addition, the Group continuously leveraged on the successful  [th4) @ REBIFEEESF EEE (L MIZEL
experience of Mengniu Group in digitalizing and standardizing {PZEZERNRKINEE @ £ — TR NEEEELKL
its corporate operations to further enhance the Group's overall  &%KEE ©

operational efficiency.




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's revenue

amounted to RMB3,649.2 million (2019: RMB3,412.0 million],
increasing by 7.0% as compared to the last year.

By product category RmEER 8 D
Milk powder products IR EE oo

Other milk powder products  EL b @13 2=
Dissolvable products R mm
Others Hith

Total #sEt

For the year ended 31 December 2020, sales revenue from milk
powder products amounted to RMB2,975.6 million (2019: RMB2,650.3
million), representing an increase of 12.3% from the last year, sales
revenue from dissolvable products amounted to RMB166.4 million
(2019: RMB143.2 million), representing an increase of 16.2% from the
last year, which was mainly because the Group expanded its channels
during the year, which resulted in an increase in performance; sales

revenue from other milk powder products amounted to RMB427.4
million (2019: RMB574.9 million), representing a decrease of 25.7%
from the last year, which was mainly due to the decrease in sales
volume of Yashili New Zealand due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic.

EEEWE D T ()

B35 1R
A
BZ2020%F 12831 BILEFE - AEEZWAZEA

R¥3,649.28 87T (20194F : ARMES 412058
JC) B EFE EFT.0% °

2020 2019
Percentage
RMB million RMB million change
INLEE Ve A AREEETT o=t
2,975.6 2,650.3 12.3%
427.4 574.9 -25.7%
166.4 143.2 16.2%
79.8 43.6 83.0%
3,649.2 3,412.0 7.0%

EHZE2020F128318 - HERERBESKRA
AR#2975.6 F & TT(20194F - AR¥2,650.3H
Et) BEFLEF123%  FHAERBRBES K
AARBE166.4ABTT(20194 © ARM143.28
EL) BEFLEF162% TBEHARAER
SERRES  TREELF  HWIMERE
HINEWAARKL27 4B B TT(20195F : ARK
5749B&7T) * ML EFTFE25.7%  FERX
FEREYE  FTRRNAMILEHEEHE TR
FTEL °




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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The increase in the Group’s sales revenue was mainly due to:
(1) expansion of the coverage of adult milk powder and nutrition
products on new functional products to shift focus to high-end
products while developing market segments; (2) the infant formula
market continued to optimize the product structure, the business
grew after the brand rebranded and the momentum was good; and
(3) enhanced brand exposure and credibility through a variety of
advertising approaches and promoted the growth of online and offline
sales.

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a gross
profit of RMB1,333.8 million (2019: RMB1,266.8 million), representing
an increase of 5.3% from the last year. The gross profit margin
was 36.6% (2019: 37.1%), representing a decrease of 0.5% from the
last year, which was mainly because disposal of old goods due to
rebranding, thus lowered the overall gross profit.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group generated selling
and distribution expenses of RMB1,039.1 million (2019: RMB963.8
million), representing an increase of 7.8% from the last year.

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses as a percentage of
revenue increased to 28.5% (2019: 28.2%), representing an increase
of 0.3% from the last year. The overall fluctuation is mainly due to the

increase in online promotion and advertising costs for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2020, administrative expenses
amounted to RMB186.6 million (2019: RMB223.0 million]),
representing a decrease of 16.3% from the last year, which was
mainly attributable to the improved operation efficiency of back
offices and the optimization of corporate organisational structure
during the year.

Net finance income

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net finance income amounted
to RMB74.8 million (2019: RMB84.7 million). The decrease in net
finance income of 11.7% was mainly attributable to the global
adoption of quantitative easing policy under the pandemic, leading to
a decrease in deposit rate and capital for deposits.

Income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the income tax expense of
the Group amounted to RMB28.6 million (income tax credit of 2019:
RMB9.4 million), and the effective income tax rate was 22.1% (2019:
-9.1%). The increase in income tax expense was mainly attributable
to the increase in utilization of unrecognized temporary differences
in previous years, and the use of deferred tax assets that have been
recognised in previous years.

Inventory
As at 31 December 2020, the balance of inventory of the Group

amounted to RMB984.8 million (31 December 2019: RMB924.0
million). The increase in inventory was mainly due to the strategic

stocking up for raw materials near the end of the year.

EEEWE D T ()

1T BASZ

HZE2020F12A31HLEFE - TBRAXAARKE
186.6 BB IL(20194F : AR¥223.068L) ' &
FFETET163%  TZRARAFREBEER
RS A WNUNGIFEE 2 - a

BHBBA

BZE20206F12A31 A LS E - IEWRAEEAA
RE7,8BHET(201946F : ARESLTAETT) °
HBRAFB TR TELRBEFET
IS ERECE - FRFRFETREAR
ARGERNES T

FrigiR

EHE2020F12831BILFE - AEENFEH
ERAARARK28.68 EL(2019F BRI ¢
ARBILBETT) « BEEMBHER22.1%(2019
F:-91%) - ISHEALANRREIEZRASE
I3 7N 1| FR A 7 4 R T o 0 T B 1 2 348 o A
RERUARNIFECERNETHEHEE -

2

2020612 A31H - AEEFERBERARE
984.8E BT (2019F 12 A31H : AR#92405H
Er) c FEENEZRFRANEE Y RME#E
177 BRS s o




36

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Other current financial assets/structural bank deposits

As at 31 December 2020, other financial assets included fixed yield
wealth management products of RMB121.8 million (31 December
2019: RMB643.4 million), with an anticipated annualised yield of 1.15%
to 3.50% (31 December 2019: 1.30% to 6.10%].

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s trade receivables amounted
to RMB91.2 million (31 December 2019: RMB152.6 million). In 2020,
the trade receivables turnover days were 12 days (2019: 16 days),
representing a decrease of 4 turnover days from last year, which was
mainly attributable to the accelerated collection of receivables.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2019: nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net cash outflow in capital
expenditures was RMB84.1 million (31 December 2019: RMB101.1
million). As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s capital commitment
was RMB4.3 million (2019: RMB9.7 million], which is mainly related
to workshop renovation projects and the purchase of milk powder
production equipment.

Provision for doubtful debts of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had provisions for doubtful debts
of RMB12.1 million (2019: RMB12.0 million). These provisions were
made for impaired receivables relating to customers that were in
default or delinquency of payments. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over such amounts. An
impairment analysis is performed by the Group using a provision
matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on ageing of the balances for the groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer
typel. The calculation reflects the probability weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of inventories

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s balance of provision for
impairment of inventories was RMB71.2 million (2019: RMB78.7
million), which was mainly because certain inventories affected by the
rebranding policy had longer age profile and were required to provide
the impairment allowance under the policy accordingly. In addition,
the Group recorded losses on disposal of inventories of RMB21.1
million in 2020 (2019: RMB4.4 million), which was mainly because the
Group needs to dispose of unsuitable packaging materials affected by
the rebranding policy, meanwhile, impairment provision was accrued
for the inventories in degraded status.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had pledged assets with an
aggregate value of approximately RMB1,715.8 million (31 December
2019: RMB1,453.2 million).

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Group amounted to
RMB101.1 million, representing a decrease of 10.1% from the last
year. This was mainly due to the increase in income tax expenses

during the year.
Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s liquidity and capital resources,
including cash and bank balances, pledged deposits to be released
within one year, other current financial assets/structured bank
deposits and long-term bank deposits, amounted to RMB3,089.0
million in total (31 December 2019: RMB2,692.0 million), representing
an increase of 14.7%. The increase was mainly due to the decrease
in investment activities and the increase in daily working capital as a
result of lower bank interest rates during the year.

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s net cash inflow
from operating activities was RMB118.7 million (2019: net cash
inflow RMB177.2 million). The decrease in the net cash inflow from
operations was mainly due to the preparation of strategic inventories
of raw materials occupied cash flow at year end.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EE R wE D ()

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net cash inflow generated
from investing activities amounted to RMB1,067.1 million (2019: net
cash outflow of RMB695.1 million), which was mainly attributable to
the decrease in the purchase of wealth management products by the
Group during the year.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net cash inflow generated
from financing activities amounted to RMB71.1 million (2019: net
outflow of RMB64.2 million), mainly attributable to the increased
bank borrowings as well as the maturity of deposits pledged to obtain
the bank borrowings during the year.

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings amounted to RMB365.9 million (31 December
2019: RMB36.2 million). The above loans shall be repayable on
demand upon maturity. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s gearing
ratio, which is calculated by total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings at year end divided by total assets at year end, was 4.7%
(31 December 2019: 0.5%).

Use of net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering

The Company’s net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering
amounted to approximately RMB1,965.8 million after deduction of
relevant expenses. As of 31 December 2020, the Company had used
up all the net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering in accordance
with the manner as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans

and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus dated 30 October 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has a total of 2,919 (31 December
2019: 2,965) full-time employees. The total staff cost for the year was
approximately RMB435.3 million (2019: RMB532.4 million).

Commencing cultural co-creation and reshaping corporate
culture

In order to achieve the strategic goal of rapid growth in results, the
Group reshaped its corporate culture in the second half of 2020, with
the mission of “Nutrient in a drop, blooming every life (B % ' 48
REEAAR)", the vision of “winning with milk powder by 2026 (4
W5 E552026)", the values of “Consumer first, respect for values,
results-oriented and digital intelligence innovation CEE& % —5
—%— BEEE BREM HELIF", and the corporate spirit of
“Dare to explore and compete with oneself (B Fh EE 2 EKY)" as
the new corporate culture.

Optimizing the organization and strengthening the business
units

At the beginning of this year, the Group launched an organizational
reform to introduce a multi-divisional organization structure and
strengthen the business units. Based on the design principles of
“vertical penetration, horizontal splitting, collaborating and sharing,
and empowering and supporting (#[A N ERFSD  HEE=Z
BHBE#%)", the Group transferred all its functional centers and
departments of the headquarters to business units since March 2020,
so as to continuously optimize the corporate structure and achieve

the Group’s strategic objectives more effectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Establishing a talent evaluation model to identify talents

The Group established a talent evaluation model in the first half of
2020, conducted a stocktaking on the talent pool to identify high-
potential talents, and implemented a personal development plan for
high-potential talents based on the “70-20-10" cultivation concept.

Reforming remuneration system to retain talents

In 2020, the Group commenced a comprehensive job evaluation to lay
the foundation for building a job system, optimizing the remuneration
system and formulating a succession plan. In terms of remuneration
reform, the Group increased the proportion of fixed income for sales
staff during the year to enhance employees’ sense of belonging;
in terms of performance reform, the Group strengthened salary
management based on employees” performance to enhance the
sound and sustainable development of Yashili’s business, and
continuously adjusted the salaries of employees with outstanding
performance to retain talents. In addition, the Group adopted a
phantom share incentive scheme for the first time to motivate
Yashili's middle management, so that key personnel would be more
attentive to the long-term development of the Company.

Creating a better workplace atmosphere and enhancing
employer’s brand image

Through branding programs such as “Leaders Speak Up (48B3 %
#%)” and “Executive’s Direct (58 BE3#85)", Yashili has improved its
communication mechanism and better listened to the suggestions
and opinions of its employees to create a more inclusive and open
workplace atmosphere. The Group also continued its employer brand
building activities and outstanding human resources management
and practices, successively won the title of “2020 China Best
Employer Award (2020 Bl SFE & {E® E)" jointly awarded by
Zhaopin.com (B EE) and Institute of Social Science Survey, Peking
University (3t R RS2t GRS FTH L), the “Outstanding Human
Resources Management Award (A JJ&RE AT 52)” presented
by 51job.com (FIF2#%E) and the “Best Talent Partner (FR{EAA
£#)” presented by Liepin.com [J#24d) in 2020, which enhanced the
employer’s brand image of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

At the beginning of 2020, in the face of the severe pandemic, the
Group proactively shouldered its corporate social responsibility by
providing nutrition supplement and milk powder, with a total value of
over RMB46 million, to front-line personnel who fought against the
pandemic and special families and children affected by the pandemic
to secure their nutritional needs.

During the year, to cope with the urgent demand for food supply
for infants and young children, Yashili fully mobilized resources
from all parties and proactively liaised with various organizations,
such as China Children and Teenagers’ Fund (FERZE > FHE ),
China Nutrition and Health Food Association (Bl ERER Mm%
@), China Charity Federation (F#£E24=42€), Henan Charity General
Federation (A& Z=4€) and Hubei Charity Federation (j#1t4&
#ZE42), and donated nutritional milk powder products to regions
severely suffered from the pandemic, so as to mitigate the material
needs of special families. In addition, Yashili initiated the “Overcoming
Difficulties with Love and Food (725 2R - & TENE)” campaign by
deploying all channels, such as milk powder e-commerce channels,
customer hotlines and physical mother-and-baby stores to establish
the “home delivery” service, with an aim to deal with difficulties of
families for going outside to purchase supplies.

In order to support front-line personnel to better participate in the
prevention and control of the pandemic, Yashili also liaised with
various organizations to donate batches of adult milk powder and
infant formula milk powder to secure the nutritional needs of front-
line staff of local governments and hospitals across the country and
the food supply for their babies. Yashili's employees from different
regions also proactively joined the volunteer teams, aiming to deliver
supplies as fast as possible.

In view of the huge demand for supplies, the production and logistics
teams of Yashili resumed production as soon as possible in an
orderly manner under the premise of good scientific prevention and
control of pandemic. Based on sufficient self-protection, the Group’s
employees insisted on rigorous sterilization and quality control on
each production line to ensure food safety. In addition, Yashili’s two
warehouses in Chaozhou and Shanghai shipped goods at the same

time to ensure the fastest delivery to the locations of recipients.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EE R wE D ()

In addition to supporting the pandemic alleviation, Yashili continued
to carry out charitable activities across the countries. Doraler under
Yashili launched a “Warm Sunshine with Doraler” caring campaign ()&
% [ | Yt = L&) in Northern China and Henan Province, donating
to left-behind children and children with disabilities; meanwhile, the
“Reeborne’s Charity Walk (¥ & & [, Az1T)” entered Nanchang,
Anging, Liuan and other regions to launch the “Care for the Elderly,
Warmth for Families (BZ £ A RBEZKEE)” campaign. In May 2020,
Yashili also donated Topconic milk powder, which was worth more
than RMB1 million, to Air Force Hospital for Guangzhou Southern
Military Area ()N FSf8k[@ 2= F &fT), the People’s Hospital of
Liangshan County (L% AR EFz), the Education Bureau of Yuexiu
District, Guangzhou (EM#FKEE2ZE ) and the School of Public
Health, Sun Yat-sen University (FF 111 A2 37 A B30

In the future, Yashili will continue to give full play to its strengths,
firmly rooting social responsibility in its corporate development and
making its best endeavor to protect consumers’ health.

PUBLIC RELATIONS AND CRISIS MANAGEMENT

The Group has been striving to communicate with relevant
government departments, media and consumers through various
channels in a proactive, open, sound and active way to achieve
mutual benefits and win-win results. In 2020, affected by the
pandemic, consumers paid more attention to food safety issues.
The Group carried out system reforms, integrated Mengniu Group’'s
system with the original corporate crisis management system and
strengthened learning and application to quickly handle various
kinds of incidents in an active and effective manner. With the support
of the crisis management system, the Public Affairs Management
Department coordinated with various departments to timely respond
to various consumer voices and assist in handling the consultation of

government departments and dealing with media concerns.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group also actively coordinated market sales and promotions,
and timely responded to consumers’ concerns, which thereby
effectively prevented the occurrence of crisis. By closely monitoring
industry trends and news events, the Group responded to industry
events in a timely manner and communicated with the public and
the media effectively, thereby establishing a good position in the
industry. The Group also actively released information to the media
in the aspects of brand activities, industry activities and trending
information. By controlling the pace of communication, the Group
established trending, influential and readable topics for each event,
with an aim to improve the understanding of the public and media on
the Group. Looking ahead, the Group will focus on topics regarding
breast milk-like products, scientific research findings, and adult
milk powder and so on. In line with its development strategies, the
Group will proactively communicate with the public and media to
continuously enhance its corporate and brand image.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group believes that effective communication with shareholders,
investors and potential investors is essential for enhancing investor
relationship and enabling investors to understand its business
performance and strategies. The Group communicated with investors
through various channels and means such as onsite receptions,
telephone conferences, non-deal roadshows and investment summits
of securities companies.

To facilitate effective communication, the Group has also set up a
website (www.yashili.hk] to publish its latest financial information,
corporate governance practices and other updated data for public

reference.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FUTURE PROSPECTS
Policy implications

In December 2020, China’s regulatory bodies published the Action
Plan for Improving Dairy Product Quality and Safety ((FL&MmE
ELX2IRFITEHZE) ), which imposes mandatory requirements
on quality improvement and further pushes companies to develop
technological innovations to improve quality and upgrade formulas
of their products. This will urge dairy companies to enhance their
competitiveness on all fronts and jointly improve the quality of milk
powder. As the leading and large enterprises in the industry have
scientific research teams, they are more capable of conducting
technological innovation to upgrade their formulas and optimize
their products, and therefore, the new policy will benefit the leading
enterprises.

In addition, the registration of the first batch of approved infant
formula milk powder products under the Recipe Registration
Requirement will expire in August 2022, these products need to
start applying for renewal of recipe registration before 2022. The
State Administration for Market Regulation is now revising the
Recipe Registration Requirement, whereas requirements for recipe
registration will be further tightened. Enterprises are required to
strengthen the control of raw materials and increase their R&D,
production and inspection capabilities in order to complete the
registration application within the shortest possible time after the
implementation of the new national standards, which will certainly

accelerate the further consolidation of the milk powder market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

At present, a number of food safety-related regulations, including
Administrative Measures on Filing of Infant Formula Foods (&4}
FEAHRMEREEIE) ), National Food Safety Standard - Infant
formula ((RMEZEBIRIEE-LZAHRM) ), National Food Safety
Standard - Older Infants Formula - ({(RAZZEFIZE-RARRT
Bl 75 R A ), National Food Safety Standard - Young Children Formula
(BRREZEBRRIZE 47 RM) ), Good Manufacturing Practice
for Dairy Products ((FLE G R FEERE) ), Good Manufacturing
Practice for Powdered Infant Formula Food ((824) REl 7 R &
44 E R &) ) and Detailed rules on examination of manufacturing
license for infant-formula milk powder manufacturers ( (&%) 2
FHEMAEEFESMA)) are also being formulated and revised.
The state will execute more stringent management on regulating the
registered products and approving the products being registered, to
further enhance the quality of domestic infant formula milk powder,
optimize the structure of the industry and further eliminate the weak
and keep the strong enterprises.

Industry Trend
Increasingly fierce market competition

With the steady recovery of Chinese economy after the pandemic,
the demand of the public for high-quality products and services
will increase, and the differences between the domestic and
pandemic situations abroad will drive the rapid rise of domestic
branded products, bringing business opportunities for domestic
milk. Although the birth rate demonstrated a declining trend, it was
still relatively stable as shown in the birth population data for 2019
and 2020, whereas the infant formula milk powder market is still
undergoing structural adjustment, and the consumption amount
per unit is also steadily increasing. Therefore, it is expected that the
sales of infant formula milk powder in the entire industry will remain
flat in 2021. Such situation will lead to a more and more competitive
infant formula market, particularly the competition between local
and foreign brands in China, and the leading enterprises will increase
their invasion of the market shares to small- and medium-sized

enterprises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Rapid development of digital marketing

At present, the vast mother-and-baby store channel is still the main
battlefield of infant formula milk powder. In particular, the store
channel is growing steadily in third-tier and fourth-tier markets, so
there is still considerable room for penetration and exploration. In
the first-tier and second-tier markets, due to the stable number of
channel stores, the Group pays more attention to the advancement
of each store on a single store operation level. Large-sized and
medium-sized mother-and-baby chain stores are gradually seeking
various industry innovations, and the trend of increasing convenience
stores, digitalization and platformization has been formed. As the
novel coronavirus pandemic has catalyzed more diversified and
flexible digital marketing methods, information dissemination to
and communication with consumers become more fragmented.
Sales promotions of physical stores, consumer interaction and even
delivery of goods will tend to be combined with the use of Internet,
while emerging marketing methods such as live streaming and
community operation will continue to see rapid development in 2021.

Accelerating the optimization of product structure

In the wake of the novel coronavirus pandemic, Chinese consumers’
consuming attitude and purchasing behaviors have undergone far-
reaching changes. Consumers are increasingly focusing on the
quality and health functionality of products. This trend requires dairy
companies to pay more attention to product production and quality
assurance, as well as the layout of upstream quality milk sources, the
research and development of milk powder formula, the promotion of
healthy ingredients and consumer education.

In addition, with the “healthy and nutritious” lifestyle becoming
more popular, the Group will continue to expand its product lines
by introducing new products in different sub-segments to meet the
nutritional needs of people at all stages of family life. The Group will
optimize all product portfolios, particularly the layout of product
categories including milk powder for pregnant women, children, the
middle-aged and elderly etc., to seize the business opportunities in

the nutrition product market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Company Strategies
Brand Strategies
Focusing on brand and product category

The Group will continue to regard infant formula as its main
product category, establish a successful business model that is
sustainable, strive to consolidate its position in cow milk powder
market, and expand the market for organic and goat milk products,
while gradually developing the market for dissolvable nutritional
products. In particular, the Reeborne brand will focus on brand
new breast milk-like milk and organic products, the Arla brand will
focus on high-end organic products, and the Doraler brand will seek
for breakthroughs in imported goat milk, thereby forming a sound
infant formula brand and product mix. On the other hand, under
the two major trends of aging population and younger sub-healthy
population, the Group will continue to develop the strategy of multi-
brand operation, focus on sub-health populations, build a high-
end adult milk powder brand with health maintenance functions for
the middle-aged and elderly and become the market leader in this
regard.

Enhancing brand image in multiple dimensions

In 2021, the Group will focus on newly renewed brands (such as
Reeborne, Arla Baby & Me, and Doraler, etc.), further shape their
high-end professional images, and concentrate resources to
continuously invest in brand building and brand empowerment. In
particular, the Group will adhere to the “breast milk-like” positioning
of the Reeborne brand, establish the theme of “Choose Reeborne for
your breast milk-like powder (3% 713125 2)” and put emphasis
on promoting Reeborne’s new brand image to create a new concept of
infant formula and enhance brand awareness. Reeborne will also use
the image of mother and baby pandas to convey the brand concept
of “Every Baby is a Mother’s National Treasure (&% & &l 2 1515
KIEIE)", and will actively participate in the national panda welfare
and protection cause, calling on the society to pay attention to and
participate in the protection of pandas, so as to further strengthen
the positive image of the Group in terms of social responsibility.
In addition, Reeborne has also continued the cooperation with
the spokesperson Yao Chen (#/&), and launched more attractive
TV commercials and content in other media to strengthen the
brand’s professional image. For nutrition products, Mengniu M8
children’s growth formula will continue to improve in respect of its
packaging and formula, in order to promote its differentiated product
advantages. The Group also will launch a public test and invite tens of
thousands of participants in order to raise the consumers’ awareness
of the advantages of the Group’s M8 children milk powder.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Empowering the retail-end with media and communication

In 2021, the Group will increase the Group’s investment in the
media, and will continue to concentrate resources in core cities,
and actively strengthen the distribution, retail-end construction and
consumer cultivation and interaction in core markets. Meanwhile, the
Group will attract more consumers to buy the Group’s products and
enhance the Group’s brand’s reputation by different means, such as
TV advertisements, cooperation with local media, as well as various
digital media like internet advertisements and video social media.

Product research and development

The Group will continue to enhance its differentiated product
advantages and continuously upgrade all the launched infant formula
milk products. By combining the latest research results of breast
milk nutrition composition, the Group will continue to develop breast
milk-like formula for infant milk powder product and are preparing
to renew and upgrade the packaging of the product series under
the brand, with an aim to attract more consumers and raise the
consumption level of the products.

In 2021, the Group will continue to strengthen research efforts on
breast milk nutritional components, including cooperation with the
Nutrition Research Institute of Mengniu to carry out research on how
to make infant formula products that are more similar to breast milk,
and actively cooperate with industry-leading food and nutritional
science experts and institutions to develop technologies on breast
milk-like infant formula, as well as continue to proceed the research
on nutritional components of breast milk under the “13th Five-Year
Plan”. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to increase the investment
in milk powder craftsmanship, testing method, product standard,
technology patents and other basic research and development
projects to continuously improve the technical level of research and

development and product quality.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

To cater for the diversified needs of the market, the Group will
continue to enrich its brand matrix and improve its product portfolio.
The Group will continue to devote more efforts on the design of
the unique formulas for the needs of children, adolescents, adults,
women and the middle-aged and the elderly, including the innovative
development and application of nutritional milk powder with different
functional ingredients to meet the diversified needs of the middle-
aged and elderly people and the development of formula food
products for special medical purposes for adult consumer groups
with special needs. Furthermore, the Group will also actively develop
other related products with regard to the demand for other nutrition
products for core consumers.

Sales channels

Yashili will continue to increase its investment in its various
brands and layout and construction of different sales channels
for all business divisions, and continue to promote the balanced
development of online and offline markets, enhance marketing
digitalization, seize the development opportunities for e-commerce
and new retail, and promote marketing innovations.

Continuously strengthening market penetration

The Group will continue to put great emphasis on its store channels
in 2021, in order to empower the stores, enhance their quality and
achieve balance development in second, third, fourth and fifth-tier
markets. For online markets, the Group will gradually establish
solid manufacturer-retailer cooperation with large-scale mother-
and-baby chain stores, while at the same time consolidate the
Group’'s resources in stores throughout the country to support their
operations and sales. Furthermore, the Group will continuously
strengthen channel penetration, further extend the Group's
distribution coverage at the county, township and village levels,
increase product categories for distribution and improve the income

per store.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Increasing effort on marketing digitalization and innovation

Yashili will continue to invest in digitalization and improve its digital
operation ability in 2021, focusing on monitoring and utilizing big
data from channels and consumers to provide consumers with more
efficient and tailor-made value-added services. Yashili will also
establish a new membership operation system through creating a
membership marketing platform, further accelerate the utilization
of big data analysis, improve the service experience for front end
consumers and provide precise support for stores. Moreover, the
Group will enhance the efficiency of the Group’s logistics and delivery
as well as the Group’s overall service standard through marketing
digitalization, so as to promote business growth.

Expediting e-commerce and social retail development

For its tactics on e-commerce business, Yashili will strengthen
its full cooperation with Alibaba in Tmall self-operated stores,
Alimama digital media, Tmall new retail and Aliyun, making plans
on e-commerce sales platforms, digital media, business model and
big data utilization. The Group will also expedite the development
of online sales and services for its infant formula milk powder,
enhance online and offline traffic flow and improve overall services.
Furthermore, the Group will gradually explore innovative business
models related to social retailing, with an aim to seize the new
business opportunities from the new retail model of e-commerce and

social media.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Supply Chain

In 2021, the Group will focus on the core abilities of developing the
nationwide production planning capacity, worldwide procurement
and logistics planning, supply, production and sales coordination, and
overall operating cooperation for the Group’s supply chain.

The Group will continue to enhance its policies in improving factory
operation and empowering the factories, by implementing its six
initiatives of “Empowerment 3.0”, namely promoting cultural, team
and talent development, adopting strict factory management and
excellent supply chain operation, optimizing supply, production
and sales coordination, establishing key projects and connecting
upstream and downstream suppliers and customers. On top of that,
the Group will complement with developing fresh milk, oatmeal,
children milk powder and other businesses, pursuing government
resources and other cooperation channels, expand sources of income
and reduce expenses, in order to continuously enhance the supply
chain’s business ability.

In respect of lean production management, the Group will introduce
higher flexibility into its supply chain in terms of raw material
procurement, production and scheduling, quality inspection, logistics
and delivery, in order to enhance its responsiveness to changes
in demand. The Group will expedite its transition to digitalization,
increase investment in supply chain digitalization projects,
launch intelligent statement, visible inventory platform and other
digitalization and intelligence development, with an aim to proactively
capture the market demand and achieve supply chain digitalization
transition.

Human resources

In 2021, the Group will further strengthen its business division
system. Being business oriented, the Group will raise its human
resources effort to a strategic level, maximize organizational
performance and maintain the sustainable competitive advantages of

the Group through policy deployment and active development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Strengthening effort in promoting corporate culture and deepening
employees’ values

The Group will strengthen its effort in promoting corporate culture
in 2021, so as to allow employees of the Group to keep the new
corporate culture in mind and put the same in practice. The Group
will also include value assessment into performance assessment
as well as standard for recruitment and selection, with an aim to
thoroughly embed the corporate culture into the organization system.

Further strengthening the business divisions structure and laying
foundation

On top of transferring all the functional centers and departments
of the headquarters to business divisions, the Group will
further promote the core value of “production, supply and sales
consolidation, and equal rights and responsibilities (7 - 8 —%2
b BEEREFIEZE])" to create business division structure with more
flexibility in terms of operations. The focus of functional department
will gradually transit from control and supervision to empowerment,
supporting the business development of the Group through full
authorization and empowerment.

Improving incentive mechanism to provide incentives to talents with
excellent performance

In 2021, the Group will continue to deepen its remuneration
system. With the strategic goals of the Group in mind, the Group
will enhance the Group’s results and performance and improve the
Group’s incentive mechanism, provide differentiated remuneration
adjustment packages, bonus for gaining profit over the set target
and phantom stock scheme for key employees, in order to encourage
them to achieve target result.

Establishing supply chain for core talents and clear promotion path
for employees

In 2021, the Group will establish clear talent standard. Through
a standardized talent evaluation model, the Group will refine the
talent development path to provide the Group’'s employees with
dual development paths on both management and profession. The
Group encourages internal promotion and multi-level promotion for
talents. The Group will also strengthen its talent cultivation, launch
cultivation schemes such as “Blue Ocean Program (E;&512()” and
“Tidal Program (REETE)”, introduce Mengniu's “Zhide ({B1F)"
i arning n and develop employees with potential.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the
interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 December
2020, the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions as
set out in the CG Code, except for the deviation from code provision
A.2.1 as explained under the paragraph “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business
and to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure that they
comply with statutory and professional standards and align with the
latest development.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”] set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the Group’s code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company with all directors
and the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than the Model Code
for securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
the employees was noted by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERHS (K)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All directors, including the non-executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum
of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Through
active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing
issues involving potential conflict of interest and serving on Board
committees, all non-executive directors (including the independent
non-executive directors) make various contributions to the effective
direction of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent
judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company
and the shareholders at all times.

The directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight members, consisting of
four non-executive directors, one executive director and three
independent non-executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman]
Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)

Executive directors

Mr. Yan Zhiyuan [Chief Executive Officer]
(appointed on 8 January 2020)
Mr. Chopin Zhang (Chief Executive Officer]
[resigned on 8 January 2020)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive directors
are expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the directors including relationships
among the members of the Board are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Management Biographies” of this Annual Report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial,
business or family relationship among the members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEQ”)

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and CEO should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between
the chairman and CEO should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The position of Chairman of the Company is held by Mr. Jeffrey,
Minfang Lu. On 8 January 2020, Mr. Chopin Zhang resigned and Mr.
Yan Zhiyuan was appointed in place of Mr. Chopin Zhang as the CEO
of the Company.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The CEO focuses on the
Company’s business development and daily management and
operations generally. The Board considers that the responsibilities
of the Chairman and CEO respectively are clear and distinctive and
hence written terms thereof are not necessary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each independent non-executive director has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 15 November 2013 and the service contract shall
continue unless and until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party to another.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors are independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the non-executive directors of the Company is appointed for
a specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation
once every three years.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction includes visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for directors would be arranged and
reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to directors
where appropriate. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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EEERRS (H)

The record of continuous professional development relating to

director’s duties and regulatory and business development that have

been received by the directors for the year ended 31 December 2020

and up to date of this report are summarized as follows:

REZE2020F12 831 B It FEREEAFRH
H  EECREGHEERSUREERIIRE
HEEASERERROHEMNT ¢

Type of Training Nete

Directors = 3% 5l 4 Bl
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu E BT E A/B/C
Mr. Qin Peng =E%k A4 A/B
Mr. Zhang Ping SR SEE A/B
Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu) FALTE (X & Philip Gu) %t A/B
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chopin Zhang 5%F(Chopin Zhang)5t &

(resigned on 8 January 2020) (R2020%F 1 58 H FHT) =
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan BEE%EE

(appointed on 8 January 2020) (R2020%F 1 H8HEZ(F) A/B
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben SRR E A/B
Mr. Cheng Shoutai ESFANSTE A/B
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway PAEEE A/B
Note: FIRE -
Types of Training IR
A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, A HEEIE  BEETRRENE g 23K

conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant

publications

C: Giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters of the
Company, including approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular to those that may
involve conflict of interest), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’'s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the websites of the Company (www.yashili.hk) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available to
shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 8 October
2010 with revised written terms of reference (adopted on 26 August
2015) in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee consists of three
members including two independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman)] and Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and
one non-executive director, namely Mr. Zhang Ping with Mr. Lee Kong
Wai Conway possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of
the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company, and providing advice and comments to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee
held three meetings and reviewed the Group's interim and annual
financial results and interim and annual reports, significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, appointment of external auditors and
relevant scope of works, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties. The
Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times
without the presence of executive director.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established on 8
October 2010. As at 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee
consists of five members including three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben (Chairman], Mr. Cheng
Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway and two non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr. Qin Peng.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. Its main duties are
to evaluate and make recommendation to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all directors and senior
management of the Group, including making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management; and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as
well as the annual bonuses of the executive directors and the senior
management during the year ended 31 December 2020. In addition,
the Remuneration Committee made recommendation to the Board on
letter of appointment of the new director, Mr. Yan Zhiyuan, who was
appointed on 8 January 2020.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on 8
October 2010. As at 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members including one non-executive director
namely Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman], and two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Cheng
Shoutai.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
directors, and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as set out in the Company’s
Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, etc. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the independence of
independent non-executive directors, to consider the qualifications
for the retiring directors standing for election at the annual general
meeting held on 3 June 2020 and to consider and recommend to the
Board on the appointment of executive director. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2020.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS
Board practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to the directors in advance. Notice of regular
Board meetings is served to all the directors at least 14 days before
the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given.

Board papers together with relevant information are sent to all
directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee
meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest development and
financial position of the Company and to enable them to make
decisions. The Board and each director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings
and where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to
advise on business development, financial and accounting matters,
statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other
major aspects of the Company.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving transactions
in which such directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and final version are open for
director’s inspection.
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Attendance Records of Directors EFEHETRNS

REEHERARNE £20205128318ILFEE
BUorzEFeR EELEgaMEEAZH
FOEREYIAAT

The attendance records of each director at the Board, Board
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out below:

Number of Attendance in Person/Number of Meeting(s)

G/ Va-F V|
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration Nomination General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting® Meeting!
LES e
Name of director B EXg® ENZET FMZEREE REZRE  AFAEY KA
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu  [E&IMRELA 717 - 3/3 11 1/1 0N
Mr. Qin Peng ES yits 717 - 3/3 - 1/1 0/1
Mr. Zhang Ping =T EE 77 33 - - 0/1 01
Mr. Gu Peiji BIEE(X4E
(alias Philip Gu) Philip Gu) £ 4 77 - - - 11 0N
Mr. Chopin Zhang!! 5% (Chopin Zhang)
yir:l 17 - - - - -
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan® BEHELED 6/7 - - - 1/1 0/1
Mr. Mok Wai BunBen  Efi%4 717 3/3 3/3 N 7 N
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BYFAKE 5/7 - 2/3 11 1 11
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway /87404 717 3/3 3/3 = 1/1 11
Notes: B

(1) Resigned on 8 January 2020, one Board meeting was held before 8 January 2020.

(2) Appointed on 8 January 2020, six Board meetings were held on or after 8 January (2)

2020.

(3] The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 3 June 2020.

(4)  The extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 23 December 2020. (4)

Apart from regular Board meetings, an independent non-executive
directors’ meeting was also held without the presence of the

executive director on 25 March 2020.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of directors and senior
management of the Group.

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than directors] by bands for the year ended 31 December 2020
is set out below:

EERESREEEHNEMH

ARAFEHELEANBEBAENER - AFIEAR
SEEZNERERBHOZFMECR

HZE2020F12 A3 HIEFE - H=HMAERIE 5/
SREEENK S (ZSRINFFHOT

Number of

individuals

AE

Nil to RMB1,000,000 Tz AR¥1,000,0007T 1
RMB2,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 AR #2,000,0017TE A K%3,000,0007C 1
Total FEE 2

Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals of the
Group are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Model Code and Employee Written Guidelines, and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate

governance report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 14 December 2018
which sets out the Company’s approach on the diversity of the Board
of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.

The Company believes that greater diversity of directors is good for
corporate governance and is committed:

e To attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a combination of
competencies from the widest possible pool of available talent.

e To maintain a Board with diversity perspectives at all levels, in
particular, those are aligning with the Company’s strategy and
objectives.

e To assess regularly the diversity profile of the Board and, where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions
under the succession planning of the Company and the progress
on achieving diversity objectives, if any.

e To ensure that the selection and nomination of Board positions
are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates
can be considered.

e To set up appropriate procedures for development of a broader
and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced senior
management that would be prepared for Board positions.

e Toensure that changes to the Board's composition can be
managed without undue disruption.

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.
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In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the nomination
of directors (as applicable), Board diversity has to be considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to the following:

e Gender

e Age

e Cultural and educational background

¢ Professional qualifications

e Skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that
are appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board diversity policy

as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Director Nomination Policy on 14 December
2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company. The policy aims to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company as well as the Board
continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

Criteria for nomination and appointment of directors

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

e Character and integrity.

e Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy.

e Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board.

e Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

e Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity.

e Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company.

e Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and

succession planning.
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nation process

(a) Appointment of new director

(i)

(ii)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iii) The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the

Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
where applicable.

(iv) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election

as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general

meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(b) Re-election of director at General Meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues
to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policy and
where appropriate, make recommendation on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business
needs.
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EEERRE (E)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy on 14 December 2018 which

sets out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to

apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

A summary of the dividend policy is set out below:

1. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.

2. The Company intends to distribute part of the annual net profits
of the Group or other special dividend amount approved by the
Board as dividends to its shareholders, subject to the conditions
and factors as set out below. No specific dividend proportion has
been currently adopted.

3. The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Articles
of Association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

4. The Board shall also take into account the following factors of
the Group when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

e financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e future operations and earnings;

e capital requirements and expenditure plans;
® interests of shareholders;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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5. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the 5. 1872 & K& 2N & B B B AR A B b3t (&
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, the HREER BRI AEMBFERHAMER
following dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the ¥/ SEIRFHIALE

Board for a financial year or period:

e interim dividend; o FRHARRE
e final dividend; o FRHERRRE. :
e special dividend; and o RRRIRE &

EREFTER/BBENAFIRS

e anydistribution of net profits that the Board may deem

appropriate.

6. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to 6. BAESEEHE(AREIAR 21978 R AR L -

shareholders” approval.

7. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or 7. ARG AIUBREHIUBRKETAXEZTESA
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. AAEBENEMERERMORERE

8. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to 8. {E{a] R %BELAY A% B B 1 SR U 2 FEAR 1B AN A 7]
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of ARERMEERARQA] o

Association.

The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from time to ~ EE & /S B AR T AR S BEE -

time.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in respect
of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2020.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and
other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems, and that it has the
responsibility to review their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance that there will be no material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Board is the highest decision-making authority
for overall corporate risk management, and is mainly responsible for
performing the following risk management duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

A risk management committee composed of the members of the
Board and the department heads of the Group was established
pursuant to the guidelines of the Listing Rules. By establishing a
comprehensive risk management organizational system, the Group
carried out risk management effectively, clarified decision-making,
execution, supervision and other risk management responsibilities,
formed a scientific and effective system with division of duties and
set up three lines of defense for risk management. The first line
of defense consisted of sales management divisions, factories
and bidding and procurement directly in charge of each of risk
management; the second line of defense comprised the risk and
internal control management committee, functional and support
divisions and the risk management division in charge of the overall
planning and supervising of risk management; and the third line of
defense was composed of the Audit Committee, the internal audit
division and the discipline inspection office in charge of verifying risk
management.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee is the supervisory and evaluation office of risk and
internal control management, which guides and supervises the
Group in carrying out risk management. The risk and internal control
management committee, being a committee established under the
Audit Committee, is the highest coordination and business affairs
office for risk management. The committee is composed of the
first level officials in charge of various divisions, and chaired by the
chief executive officer of the Group. The risk management division
is directly under the risk management and audit divisions of the
Group, reporting to the head of the risk management and audit
divisions. As the centralized management department of the Group’s
risk management, the risk management division is responsible for
the Company’s day-to-day arrangement, coordination, supervision,
analysis and reporting of risk management.
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The risk management division has developed a “Risk Management
Workflow”, which divides the workflow into five major sections,
namely (I) risk identification, (Il) risk assessment, (IIl) risk response,
(IV) risk monitoring and (V) risk management reporting, and clarifies
and unifies the workflow trend of risk management as well as the
roles and functions of relevant departments, implementation steps
and so on. To regulate the system and set out unified management
requirements for workflow execution, the department has specifically
set out the work requirements for each section in the workflow as
follows:

(1) Risk identification

Risk identification is the first step and the basis for risk
management. It refers to the process of analysing and
discovering, by the staff in each business area and at each
level of the Company, the potential factors that may impact
on the achievement of business objectives. The Group may
take the initiative to select appropriate, effective ways to cope
with and handle risks only if it is able to identify its own risks
comprehensively and correctly.

The Group's risk identification is carried out in two main lines.
The first one is a routine check on risk identification arranged
and initiated by the risk management division once a year, and
the second one is a temporary risk identification initiated by each
of the affairs divisions and factories in line with the management
needs. The job requirements for risk identification are as follows:

(1) Time of risk identification: the Group will initiate routine risk
identification for the coming year in the fourth quarter of each
year. The risk management division will issue the relevant
notice and collect internal and external information (such as
changes in China’s relevant policies or industry regulatory
requirements, the Company’s strategic and operational
objectives for the current period as well as major findings on
the risk management and internal audit supervision for the
previous year) for the preparation of annual risk alerts;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Scope of risk identification: there are inherent risks in
conducting any business activities. Each of the affairs
divisions, functional divisions and factories are required to
organize risk identification on a unified basis according to the
required dates of starting and ending the risk identification
as notified by the risk management division. Management
staff and risk counterpart staff at each level are the main
organizers of risk identification and are required to boost the
risk management awareness among all staff internally and to
comprehensively identify various internal and external risks
which impact on the achievement of objectives;

Areas of risk identification: in commencing a risk identification
process, each affairs division, functional division and factory
are required to sort out and collect risks comprehensively
and systematically in line with the Group’s risk management
framework which consists of seven dimensional areas
including strategy, market, finance, operations, law and
compliance, quality and food safety as well as sustainable
development, taking into account the factors that impact on

the achievement of the Company’s business objectives;

Principle of risk identification: it is necessary to follow
the three basic principles including comprehensiveness,

systematicness and continuity;

Method of risk identification: employing the risk identification
methods commonly used by enterprises as well as a variety of
ways and methods to collect a wide range of risks associated

with the Group’s business areas;

Summarizing and submitting findings on risk identification:
risk counterpart staff of each affairs division, functional
division and factory are required to describe each risk
identified strictly in accordance with the Company’s common
risk language and compile a list of risks identified at the
affairs division/functional division/factory level which, after
being verified and confirmed by the affairs division, functional
division and factory manager, shall be submitted by the risk
counterpart staff of affairs division, functional division and
factory to the risk management division of the Group;

EEERRE (K)

(2) RERRRIREE - EREFESRRSE
EEARR - BEXEE - BEMPIL TR
AR IR e i T2 B AR R O JEL e w1 AE LE By
BEXR - S—ABFARER R TIE - &
BAREEA S MER SR AR BRER

BHEME  AEABESRERRER
MER - EEHAIFE B RERAINED
sERER

RERBRIRRE - BFREL - BAERFI R
TRERRREBRBENBETS - BREAX
SERREEER 8K TS5 W
%o EE FREAR HEHREMK
2 AIRBERCEREZE - ZounE
TTRBHRENKE - FeEEEZEART
EBRRERNEE

(3

(4) EEBRERERRA : AERE=ZBEERRRE
BEEME - ZEEREEN

(5) RERERIETTA « MBEEE AR
RITE BB ZERIEM T ERZRER
SEXRBREERNRE

(6) EBg BRI ERER - BEXAD - B

REBBFI & TR\ B i A B8RV B IR
R B AR IR IR AN R R — M AR 58 S 1T
i - KRR B, TR EE
MR ERBE LR EHEED - BBEEIMT
RIMEBEANEZHEREL BEEER -
BaesiPI R THe RS A2 R AKE
R E AR ;

HETREREZRERA T
2020 5



76

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

=N

o 3

EVAWE (&)

(7) Organization of risk seminars: specifically for the findings on

(8

(9

risk identification submitted by each affairs division, functional
division and factory, the risk management division is required
to sort out the differences regarding the unclearly defined
leading role in risk management and incomplete description
of risks;

Establishment and improvement of the risk database: the risk
management division is required to establish and improve
the risk database of the Group as an essential basis for risk
management based on the findings on risk identification
submitted by each affairs division, functional division and
factory annually;

Other requirements: in addition to the routine risk
identification carried out by the Group each year, each of
affairs divisions, functional divisions and factories are required
to carry out temporary risk identification in line with their own
internal actual situations. The workflow and methods shall be
carried out with reference to the above criteria.

(1) Risk assessment

Risk assessment refers to the risk assessment conducted on the

basis of the possibility of occurrence and the degree of impact

of a risk. In particular, possibility refers to the probability of

occurrence of a risk, and the degree of impact means the degree

of impact of the occurrence of a risk created on the target. The

scope of impact covers daily operations, laws and regulations,

financial loss, food hygiene and safety, environmental protection,

corporate reputation and so on. By comparing various risks, the

significant risks are arranged, and the priority to manage these

risks in chronological order and the strategies to cope with them

are determined initially. The specific job requirements include:

(1) the cycle of a risk assessment (conduct regularly once a year);

(2] to carry out a risk assessment at different levels;

(3) to assess and identify significant risks at different levels;

(4) to build up a team of risk assessment experts;

(5) to set risk score weight across affairs divisions/functional

divisions/factories.
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(Ill) Risk response

Risk response refers to the strategies and plans determined by
each level of the management for responding to risks in line with
the Company’s own conditions and the external environment, with
a focus on the management intent determined in the Company’s
development strategy upon assessment of the relevant risks. Risk
response shall take into account the growth objectives and the
balance between risk and opportunity, and focus on emphasized
management of and response to significant risks at each level.
The specific workflow includes:

(1) to determine the main unit in charge of the Group's significant
risks;

(2) to make preparations for responding to and notifying of risk;
(3) to develop strategies for analysing and responding to risks;

(4) to execute and modify measures for responding to risks.

(IV) Risk monitoring

Risk monitoring is a mechanism or method used by the
management to understand and determine whether risk
management is functioning continuously and effectively under the
changing internal and external environment. It is a continuous
process aimed at evaluating the effectiveness of risk control,
detecting control deficiencies and making improvement in a

timely manner. The specific work requirements are as follows:

(1) Division of duties in risk monitoring: significant risks at
Group level are monitored by the risk management division
throughout the process. The risk management division
conducts random checks while significant risks of functional
division/affairs division/factory level are monitored by the risk
counterpart staff of the functional divisions/affairs divisions/
factories throughout the process;
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(2) Frequency of risk monitoring: significant risks at Group level
are monitored quarterly, while significant risks at functional
divisions/affairs division/factory level are monitored quarterly
or monthly by the functional divisions/affairs divisions/
factories on a selective basis;

(3

Particulars of risk monitoring: risk monitoring covers the
implementation and effectiveness of strategies for responding
to significant risks at each level as well as the monitoring
and early warning of significant risk events and related risk
information within the industry.

(V)Risk management reporting

Risk management reporting includes the report submitted to
the superior risk management division annually as well as the
information and communication details generated in each part
of the process of carrying out risk management. The specific
requirements for risk management reporting are as follows:

(1) Risk management reporting to the Audit Committee: report at
least once a year, as required by the Audit Committee;

(2) Reporting to the risk and internal control committee: report at

least twice a year, as required by the risk and internal control
committee;

(3

Other risk management forms and reports: while the
risk management system and workflow (refers to risk
identification, assessment, response and monitoring) are being
carried out, the functional divisions/affairs divisions/factories
shall, as required by the risk management division, submit all
kinds of process management form and information report
in a timely and quality manner to ensure that the Group's
risk management information is communicated and reported
smoothly.
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As part of the drive to improve the internal control systems and
pursuant to the direction of the Stock Exchange in the news
release published on 27 September 2019, the Company appointed
an independent international accounting firm on 25 October
2019, as the Company’s internal control consultant (the “Internal
Control Consultant”) to conduct a thorough review (the “Review")
of and make recommendations to improve the Company’s internal
controls to ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Review was completed on 27 November 2019, and
the report of the Review has been issued by the Internal Control
Consultant and submitted to the Stock Exchange on the same
date.

Procedures implemented by the Internal Control Consultant as
part of the Review include:

(i) conducting interviews with the relevant management
personnel and staff of the Company, and conducting site
review of the relevant documents relating to internal control
at the same time;

(ii) conducting walk through testing on relevant internal control
processes and systems;

(iii) conducting sample testing on relevant internal controls to
determine whether the internal controls of the Company are
consistent with the requirements of the management and the
relevant policies and procedures handbook;

(iv) based on the results of procedures (ii) and (iii) above,
identifying deficiencies of internal controls of the Company
and making appropriate recommendations to improve them.

The Internal Control Consultant identified findings and made
recommendations to the Company on the issues regarding the
Internal Rules on Connected Transactions currently in effect,
procedure for identification of connected persons, independent
review of the list of the connected persons and written rules in
relation to price enquiry procedures in connected transactions in

supply transactions.
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All the recommendations of the Internal Control Consultant as
set out in the report of the Review have been implemented by the
Company and a follow-up review (the “Follow-up Review”) on the
Company’s internal controls by the Internal Control Consultant
was completed on 23 January 2020. Report of the Follow-up
Review has been issued by the Internal Control Consultant on 23
January 2020 and submitted to the Stock Exchange on 24 January
2020.

Procedures implemented by the Internal Control Consultant as
part of the Follow-up Review include:

(i) conducting follow-up review of the rectification measures
implemented by the Company;

(ii) discussing the procedures of the rectification measures with
the relevant management personnel and staff of the Company;
and

(iii) conducting walk through testing on the rectified internal
control processes and systems.

Having considered the findings and results of the Follow-up
Review, the Board concurs with the Internal Control Consultant’s
view and are of the view that the Group’s internal controls to
ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are
sufficient to meet the obligations under the Listing Rules. For
further details of the internal control reviews, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 8 November 2019, 11
December 2019 and 7 February 2020.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2020.

At the board meeting held on 24 March 2021, the Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the report from
the Internal Control Consultant and the internal audit findings,
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls,
for the year ended 31 December 2020, and considered that such
systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and
staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

MANAGEMENT OF CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

To ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has implemented the “Rules for Management of Connected
Transactions” KRB FEIEH|E)) with effect from 20 January
2020, with emphasis on the following areas:

e Maintenance of the list of connected persons and connected
transactions;

e Procedure for identifying connected transactions other than those
with members of the Mengniu Group and Danone;

e Procedure for aggregating connected transactions and managing
the aggregated transaction amount; and

e Monitoring mechanism for the annual caps of continuing
connected transactions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERHS (K)

Procedures for identifying connected transactions are as follows:
(1) The first control gate - Business Unit

All business units of the Company shall act as the first gatekeeper
and maintain a high degree of sensitivity and alertness to
connected transactions.

(1) When negotiating any business contract, it is necessary to
take the initiative to check with the other party of the contract
whether it is a connected person of the Company and conduct
research and verification on the list of connected persons;

(2) When signing any business contract, it is necessary to
add an option for declaration of connection to the contract
with reference to the “Supplementary Rules on Contract
Management” (& RIE IR IR E ). Currently, the option for
declaration of connection is mainly targeted at the Company’s
substantial shareholders, Mengniu Group and Danone Group;

(3

Contracts confirmed as connected transactions must be
countersigned to the Compliance Department in the OA
system;

(4

The pricing of connected transaction contracts strictly follows
the principles of fairness and impartiality;

(5) The time limit for signing the connected transaction contracts
shall not exceed three years; and

(6) It is forbidden to make connected transactions first and
then to supplement contracts or backdate the connected
transaction contracts.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(1) The second control gate - Legal Department

(1) To supervise the review of any draft business contract initiated
by the business unit and check whether the contract text
includes the option for declaration of connection. If there is no
option for declaration of connection, the draft contract will be
returned to the business unit.

(2

If the connection is declared as “the contracted party is a
connected company”, the business unit must be reminded
and requested to countersign the contracts to the Compliance
Department in the OA system.

(Il) The third control gate - OA system

The Compliance Department ensures that the latest list of
connected persons is imported into the OA system back office.
When the business unit initiates a contract review at the “contract
process” in the OA system, the OA system will automatically
search for and match the “contract counterpart” with the
back-office list. The system will forcibly add the Compliance
Department to the signing approval flow.

(IV) The fourth control gate - Seal Management Department

(1) If any business contract is found to lack the option for
declaration of connection, the contract shall not be stamped;

(2) If the connection is declared as “the contracting party is a
connected company”, but the contract process of the OA
system is not countersigned to the Compliance Department,
the contract shall not be stamped.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXEEREE (F)

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION  4NEE& 4% 25 £ 1% 42 X £ 1 357 B

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their  ANAF4NEZ BT A BE ST BRENRB &
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements are set out in  {FR BN ARER[ B AZEENHRE | —F7 o
the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” of this Annual

Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration paid/  #;Z£2020F12A31BILEE - XA FEN FER
payable to the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, Certified Public R A GBI Lk @5t NS 4& AT (G2 stEm) &

Accountants, is set out below: NS S T
Fee paid/payable
Category of services BRAS X8 5Bl et ERER
RMB’000
AREET T
Audit services BRI 2,748
Non-audit services IEEAIZ RS =
Other assurance services H B AR TS 203

Total st 2,951




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris is the company secretary of the
Company. Mr. Kwok is the financial controller and company secretary
of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (a company listed on the
Main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2319) ("Mengniu
Dairy") (the holding company of the Company), a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Kwok is not
an employee of the Company. Mr. Kwok contacts the management
of the Company and reports to the chairman of the Board and/or
the chief executive officer of the Company through Mr. Eric Fang of
Strategic Development Department, when necessary in accordance
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. Mr. Kwok has confirmed that he has taken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional trainings during the year ended 31
December 2020.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. The general meetings of the Company
provide a platform for communication between the Board and the
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of
the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, are available to answer shareholders’ questions at
general meetings. A notice to shareholders is sent by the Company at
least 20 clear business days before the annual general meeting and
at least 10 clear business days in all other general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERHS (K)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has not
made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of Association.
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website (www.yashili.hk], where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance
practices, biographical information of the Board and other

information are available for public access.
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders” Communication Policy
is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure
its effectiveness.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each separate substantial issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person
for election as a director are available on the Company’s website

(www.yashili.hk].
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSAL AT GENERAL MEETING

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the Company:

Address: Room A, 32nd Floor,
COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2845 1230

Fax: +852 2845 1231

Email: irdyashili.cn

Contact person: Mr. Eric Fang

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

EEREEBEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu

Aged 52, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board, and was redesignated as a
non-executive director of the Company on 15 September 2016. Mr. Lu
was a director for each of the following subsidiaries of the Company,
namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili International Group
Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co., Limited and Mengya
International Group Limited (formerly known as Scient International
Group Limited) from 27 April 2015 to 9 January 2017. Mr. Lu is
currently an executive director and the CEO of Mengniu Dairy (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 2319) as well as a non-executive director and the chairman
of the board of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1117). Mr. Lu
is also a director of International Dairy Federation. Mr. Lu was the
Vice President (Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater
China and had been with the Danone Group and Dumex Baby Food
Co., Ltd. ("Dumex China”) for over 10 years. During the tenure at
the Danone Group, he demonstrated strong strategic business and
market planning capabilities. With strong leadership, management
skills and in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed
significantly to the success of the Danone Group’s baby nutrition
business in China. Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9
years with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and almost
4 years with General Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over 18
years of experience in sales and marketing and has been served in
general manager or senior management roles for over 11 years.
He has extensive experience in the management of fast-moving
consumer products and dairy companies and has an excellent
understanding and the in-depth knowledge of the PRC market. Mr.
Lu obtained his bachelor degree from Shanghai Fudan University.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

Mr. Qin Peng

Aged 65, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 27 April 2015
and 5 June 2015 respectively. Mr. Qin has been appointed as the
Chairman of China division of the Danone Group since 2007, and has
deep knowledge and understanding of international and Chinese
business and culture. Mr. Qin joined the Danone Group in 1983.
Mr. Qin was appointed as the vice president of the China Operation
division of the Danone Group from 1997 to 2006 and as the vice
president of the Corporate Development division of the Danone Group
in Asia Pacific from 1995 to 1996. Mr. Qin served as the general
manager of Amoy Foods Limited in Hong Kong from 1991 to 1994
and as the general manager of Guangzhou Danone Yogurt Company
Limited from 1988 to 1990. Mr. Qin was engaged in Danone’s
marketing and sales operations in France when he joined the Danone
Group and has stationed in Asia since 1988. Mr. Qin graduated from
the Rene Descartes University with a Bachelor degree and from the
Paris Institute of Political Sciences with a Master degree.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

EESREEEBEE (&)

Mr. Zhang Ping

Aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
and a member of the Audit Committee on 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang
was appointed as the authorized representative of the Company on
16 March 2018. He has been also a director of Yashili International
Group Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, since 27 April 2015.
Mr. Zhang joined the Mengniu Group in 2014 and is currently a vice
president and the chief financial officer of Mengniu Dairy. He has
over 25 years of experience in the industry of fast-moving consumer
goods, specializing in the management of operation, finance and
audit as well as risk control. Mr. Zhang successively worked as
the manager of internal audit and system development, finance
director in Swire Beverages Co., Ltd., general manager of its bottler
manufacturing company and chief executive officer in Coca-Cola
Bottler Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang graduated from
Beijing Information Science and Technology University with a Master
degree in management engineering. Mr. Zhang has been a non-
executive director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1117)
since 22 March 2016 and a non-executive director of China Shengmu
Organic Milk Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1432) since 25 August 2020.

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)

Aged 67, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on 29 April 2019. Mr. Gu received his Master of Laws degree from
the East China Institute of Politics and Law (now known as East
China University of Political Science and Law) in 1988 and had been
teaching in the same institute from 1988 to 1991. Mr. Gu had been a
practicing lawyer in Shanghai No. 7 Law Firm (the firm has changed
its name to Shanghai Bund Law Firm) for ten years since 1989.
Mr. Gu joined Danone Group in 1999, and is currently the general
manager of Danone Asia Pacific (Shanghai) Management Co., Ltd and
the chairman of the board of Danone (China) Food & Beverage Co.,
Ltd. In the past, Mr. Gu has also held various positions within Danone
Group, including the General Counsel for Danone China.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan

Aged 38, was appointed as an executive director, Chief Executive
Officer and authorized representative of the Company on 8 January
2020. Mr. Yan has also been a director for each of the following
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili International Ltd., Yashili
International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong International Co.,
Limited and Mengya International Group Limited (formerly known as
Scient International Group Limited) since 8 January 2020. Mr. Yan has
seventeen years of working experience in Mengniu Dairy, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Mengniu Group”), and has accumulated
extensive sales and management experience in the dairy products
industry. Mr. Yan was formerly the assistant vice president of
Mengniu Dairy, and had also been the general manager of the sales
management center of Mengniu Group’s room temperature product
business division since January 2017, leading the room temperature
sales team to achieve continuous high growth in sales revenue and
market share. During his term of office, Mr. Yan was also in charge
of Xinjiang Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (¥i5@5 3L 2 B[R A7)
(the “Xinjiang Company”], which runs an operation with integrated
production and sales of room temperature, low temperature and
frozen products. With his outstanding ability to manage the entire
business chain, the performance of Xinjiang Company recorded
steady growth and achieved continuous growth in profits in last three
years. Prior to this, Mr. Yan held different management positions
within the Mengniu Group, including general manager of Mengniu
Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (A5 &5 4-FHrE
BRAREE AT (milk powder segment) in Central/East China
region and general manager of Mengniu Henan region. Mr. Yan
obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration degree
from the University of Texas at Arlington, and is currently pursuing a
Doctorate degree in Business Administration at the City University of
Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

EESREEEBEE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 72, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Audit
Committee on 15 November 2013. Mr. Mok has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of China Foods Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
506) since 29 August 2017. Mr. Mok served as a senior consultant for
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok had served as
a general manager of Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002
to 2011. From 1993 to 2001, he was a general manager of Hangzhou
BC Foods Company Limited and Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited.
Mr. Mok also served as the general manager of Swire Beverages
Limited responsible for overseeing bottling plant of Swire Beverages
Limited in China. Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor degree of
Economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975.

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee on 15 November 2013. Mr. Cheng is
a qualified lawyer of the People’s Republic of China, the chief partner
of Tahota Law Firm, a law firm based in China. Mr. Cheng also serves
as a director of the All China Lawyers Association (FF % %2 Al 17
@J8 =) an arbitrator of the China International Economic and Trade
Arbitration Commission (CIETAC) (R EIBIBR A E 5 & Z =
#8), the president of Sichuan Province Lawyers Association (/g
JII& 2% & e R) and a legal advisor of the People’s Government
of Sichuan Province. Mr. Cheng holds a Doctorate’s degree in civil
and commercial law from Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics. Mr. Cheng is honored with the titles of “Model Worker
in the Judicial Administration System in Countrywide (2B RJATT
X & %4588 #E)", National Outstanding Lawyer, Chambers Asia-
Pacific Asia’s Leading Lawyer for Business (#5{AHTZR A& EEH
T%12fM), China Top Ten Influential Lawyers of Asia Legal Business
(ALB) (8E17A7R%55) and LEGALBAND “China Top Lawyers of 2020”
(LEGALBAND “2020F ERBITE A 2AD") and was one of the Fangyuan
Top Ten Elite Lawyers of the Year as well as the First Session of Top
Ten Outstanding Lawyers Graduated from Southwest University of

Political Science and Law.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee on 27 November 2013. Mr. Lee
has over 30 years of experience in public accounting and auditing,
corporate finance, merger and acquisition and initial public offerings.
Mr. Lee served at Ernst & Young from September 1980 to September
2009. Mr. Lee was a partner of Ernst & Young and held key leadership
positions in the business development of Ernst & Young in China. Mr.
Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and
New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants respectively. From
2007 to 2017, Mr. Lee was a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Hunan Province.

Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of Chaowei Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 1117), GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code:
451), GOME Retail Holdings Limited (stock code: 493], NVC Lighting
Holding Limited (stock code: 2222), West China Cement Limited (stock
code: 2233), WH Group Limited (stock code: 288) and Guotai Junan
Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2611) (the above companies are all
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). From July 2014 to
December 2020, Mr. Lee served as an independent non-executive
director of China Rundong Auto Group Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1365). From
March 2011 to February 2020, Mr. Lee also served as an independent
non-executive director of Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1115).
From July 2014 to September 2015, Mr. Lee also served as a non-
executive director of China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1237). From November 2011 to May 2016,
Mr. Lee was also an independent non-executive director of CITIC
Securities Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6030) as well as the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600030)). Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director
of China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 966)
from October 2009 to August 2013. Mr. Lee was an independent
non-executive director of Sino Vanadium Inc. (a company which was
delisted on the TSX Venture Exchange in December 2011, stock code:
SVX) from September 2009 to December 2011.

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as
Kingston Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor degree in Arts in
July 1980 and further obtained his postgraduate diploma in business
from Curtin University of Technology in Australia in February 1988.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

EESREEEBEE (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Chen Limin

Aged 41, has over 20 years of work experience in accounting and
financial management. Prior to her appointment as the CFO,
Ms. Chen served as Senior Director at the finance management
department of Mengniu Group. Ms. Chen joined the Mengniu Group
in May 2003 and had held various positions at the Mengniu Group.
Ms. Chen obtained her Master of Business Administration degree
from Inner Mongolia University of Finance and Economics in 2015.
Ms. Chen is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris

Aged 48, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
on 10 April 2019. He is also the financial controller and company
secretary of Mengniu Dairy. Prior to joining the Mengniu Group in May
2007, Mr. Kwok was the financial controller of a Hong Kong listed
company and had also served in an international accounting firm. Mr.
Kwok graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
Bachelor degree in accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year under review and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and outlook
of the Company’s business, possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing and important events affecting the Company
occurred during the year ended 31 December 2020 are provided
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 13 to 52 of this Annual Report. An account of the Company’s
relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the paragraphs
headed “Emolument Policy”, “Retirement Benefits Schemes” and
“Major Customers and Suppliers” of this Report of the Directors.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31
December 2020 using financial performance indicators is provided in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
13 to 52 of this Annual Report.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance
by reference to environmental and social related policies, as
well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Company will be provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which will be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk]
and the Company (www.yashili.hk) and a printed copy of the same will
be despatched to the shareholders of the Company upon request.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (R

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year under

review.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 266 of
this Annual Report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Wednesday, 2 June 2021. Notice of the annual general meeting and
all other relevant documents will be published and despatched to the
shareholders of the Company in due course.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year under
review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised] of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately RMB5,324 million, which
may be distributed provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year under review amounted
to approximately RMB21 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group held property,
plant and equipment of approximately RMB1,530 million. Movements
in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (R

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2020 and during the period from the end of the year of 2020 to the
date of this Report of the Directors were:

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman)]
Mr. Qin Peng

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)

Executive directors:

Mr. Chopin Zhang'
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan [Chief Executive Officer/?

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

1 Resigned with effect from 8 January 2020.

2 Appointed with effect from 8 January 2020.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Article of Association of the
Company, Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu), Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the existing independent non-executive directors
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS® AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 88 to 94 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below, there was no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors in the Board has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years which will continue
thereafter unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms
of the service contract, including by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party to the other. No Director
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in
their respective offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors” and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company had the following interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SF0”)),
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests
and short positions which the Directors and the chief executives of
the Company are taken and deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO, or which are required to be and are recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules:

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company:
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Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest

EEng B EmtE
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Beneficial owner
Sty EmfAA
Note:

1. Grant of 8,949,100 phantom shares by the Company pursuant to the phantom share
incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 15 July 2020.

2. The total issued Shares as at 31 December 2020 was 4,745,560,296.

(L) The interest is held in long position.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ interests in the shares of Mengniu Dairy (being a holding
company of the Company and an associated corporation of the
Company):

EEEHRE(E)

EERNRF IR (RR R AIER A R R AREAE)
dn FR YRR -

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest

EEnA B Rt
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu Beneficial owner
B E BEmEAA

Mr. Zhang Ping Beneficial owner
SRS BEREAA

Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Beneficial owner
Shotegas EmfAA

Note:

(L) All the shares are held in long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFOJ, which had been recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Approximate
percentage of
Number of the issued

ordinary shares share capital

ERITRAN

EERHA BROEDE
11,522,5200 0.29%
1,943,002 0.05%

82,2551 0.00%
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a pre-lPO share option scheme (the “Pre-
LPO Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010.
Details of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme for the
purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or reward them for their past
contributions, attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-
going relationships with such eligible participants who are significant
to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth or success of the Group.

The maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of
the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
at 1 November 2010 (the “Listing Date”), that is, 350,000,000 Shares,
which represented approximately 7.38% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at the date of this report. No option may be granted to any
participant of the Share Option Scheme such that the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period up to the
date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by
the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are
required to pay the Company HK$1.00 upon acceptance of the grant
on or before the 28 days after the offer date. The exercise price of
the options is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and
shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a Share;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the Listing Date, after which no further options will be
granted or offered.

On 23 July 2013, China Mengniu International Company Limited
(“Mengniu International”] made a voluntary general offer to option
holders of the Company (“Option Offer”], to cancel the outstanding
options granted under the Pre-lPO Share Option Scheme and the
Share Option Scheme. Please refer to the composite offer and
response document issued by the Company, Mengniu Dairy and
Mengniu International relating to, among other things, the Option
Offer dated 23 July 2013 for further details.

On 13 August 2013 (being the final closing date of the Option Offer],
the Option Offer was accepted in respect of 52,088,266 options. The
underlying options together with all the rights attached thereto were
cancelled and given up and all the outstanding options automatically
lapsed upon acceptance of the Option Offer.

No option was granted by the Company nor was there any outstanding
option granted by the Company from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2020. As at 31 December 2020, there is no outstanding option granted
by the Company.
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PHANTOM SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

To motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group, the Company adopted the Phantom Share
Incentive Scheme (the “Phantom Share Incentive Scheme”) on 15
July 2020 for certain key management team, middle and senior
management personnel and key personnel who have a material
impact on the operating performance and sustainable development
of the Company (the “Incentive Recipients”).

Phantom Share Incentive Scheme does not involve the grant of
options over new shares or other new securities that may be issued
by the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and therefore, it does not
fall within the ambit of, and is not subject to, the requirements under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Phantom Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid for a period of
10 years commencing from the effective date of the Scheme (the
“Effective Period”). The Board could terminate the Scheme before
the expiry of the Effective Period if the Board considers it necessary.
The total number of Phantom Shares to be granted under the
Effective Period shall not exceed 474,556,029 Shares. The Incentive
Recipients do not own any shares, nor enjoy voting rights or allotment
rights of the shares. Phantom Shares cannot be transferred or used
as security or for repayment of debts.

On 15 July 2020, the Board approved the initial grant of 59,660,700
Phantom Shares under the Scheme.

For further details of the Phantom Share Incentive Scheme and
the grant of Phantom Shares on 15 July 2020, please refer to the
announcement issued by the Company on 16 July 2020.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Schemes” and “Phantom Share Incentive Scheme” above, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouses or
minor children, or were such rights exercised by them, or was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures)
of the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the Company,
as at 31 December 2020, the persons or corporations (other than
Directors or chief executives of the Company] who had interest or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or its associated corporation(s) which were required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
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under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name

=5

Mengniu Dairy’

EES S

Mengniu International'
ELEES

Danone SA?

yE AL

ZERESA?
Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV2

Nutricia International BV2

Danone Asia?

BRI

Vanguard International Investment
Co., Ltd3

Zhang Yangui®
SR EAES
Zhang International Investment Ltd?®

RERBBRHEERRAR

Capacity/Nature of interest

50 EEME

Interests in a controlled corporation
XESEENER

Beneficial owner

BB A

Interests in a controlled corporation
REHEENER

Interests in a controlled corporation
RESEENER

Interests in a controlled corporation
S EENER

Beneficial owner

ERBEAA

Interests in a controlled corporation

RESEENER

Interests in a controlled corporation
REHEENER

Beneficial owner

EnEAA
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Number of

ordinary shares

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding®

16 RS

EEREE B4
2,422,150,4374 51.04%
2,422,150,4374 51.04%
1,186,390,0744 25.00%
1,186,390,0744 25.00%
1,186,390,0744 25.00%
1,186,390,0744 25.00%
303,462,119+ 6.39%
303,462,119+ 6.39%
303,462,194 6.39%
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Note:

1

As at 31 December 2020, Mengniu Dairy held 99.95% interest in Mengniu
International and Mengniu International directly held the relevant Shares.

As at 31 December 2020, Danone SA held 100% interest in Danone Baby and Medical
Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV held 100% interest in Nutricia
International BV. Nutricia International BV held 100% interest in Danone Asia and
Danone Asia directly held the relevant shares.

As at 31 December 2020, Zhang International Investment Ltd. was held as to 35.06%
by Vanguard International Investment Co., Ltd, which is in turn wholly owned by Mr.
Zhang Yangui.

All the shares are held in long position.

The total issued Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020 was 4,745,560,296.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors are

not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or

short position in shares and underlying shares of the Company or its

associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s

listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Persons

(a) Mengniu Dairy, Inner Mongolia Mengniu and Burra Foods Pty Ltd

(b

(“Burra Foods”)

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds
51.04% of the shares of the Company and is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is a
connected person of the Company. As Inner Mongolia Mengniu
is a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, Inner Mongolia Mengniu is a
connected person of the Company. Burra Foods is owned as to
51.35% by Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial (Group)
Co., Ltd., which is in turn owned as to 43.35% by Inner Mongolia
Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy. Therefore, Burra Foods is
an associate of Mengniu Dairy under Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing
Rules and a connected person of the Company.

Danone Trading, Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“DAPH"),
Danone Nutricia NZ Ltd (“Nutricia NZ”), Shanghai Nutri Go Food
Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Nutri Go”), Milupa GmbH (“Milupa”) and
DanTrade B.V. [“DanTrade”)

Danone Asia, a subsidiary of Danone SA, has a 25.0%
shareholding interest in the Company. Therefore, Danone SA is
a connected person of the Company. As each of Danone Trading,
DAPH, Nutricia NZ, Shanghai Nutri Go, Milupa and DanTrade is
an indirect subsidiary of Danone SA and a member of the Danone
Group, each of Danone Trading, DAPH, Nutricia NZ, Shanghai
Nutri Go, Milupa and DanTrade is a connected person of the
Company.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

Trademark Licensing Agreement

On 25 September 2015, as one of the conditions precedent to
the completion of the equity transfer agreement in relation to
the entire equity interests in Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia)
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”), Yashili International
Group Ltd. (“Yashili (Guangdong]”), Oushi Mengniu and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu entered into a trademark licensing agreement
(the “Trademark Licensing Agreement”) pursuant to which
Inner Mongolia Mengniu (as licensor) agreed to grant Oushi
Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates (as licensees])
a nontransferable and non-exclusive right to use and sub -
license certain registered trademarks (the “Trademarks”)
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu, which are subject to change by
Inner Mongolia Mengniu from time to time in the PRC, for a
term commencing from the date of the Trademark Licensing
Agreement for a period of (i) 50 years, or (ii] the operation period
of Oushi Mengniu, whichever is later. The Trademark Licensing
Agreement may be renewed subject to the negotiations among
the parties in the future. The annual license fee is equal to (a)
3% of the net sales revenue arising from the sale of the pediatric
milk formula products and milk powder products for adults
for which the Trademarks are used (the “Products”) by Yashili
(Guangdong) and its affiliates during that respective year, and
(b)(i) 3% of the net sales revenue arising from the sale of the
Products by Oushi Mengniu during that respective year, or (ii)
RMB18.0 million, whichever is higher. The net sales revenue of
Oushi Mengniu shall start to accrue (i) following the completion
of the registration of the capital reduction as further described
in the joint announcement of the Company and Mengniu Dairy
dated 21 September 2015 and the circular of the Company dated
29 October 2015, or (ii) from January 1, 2016, whichever is earlier.
The annual license fee shall be paid by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili
(Guangdong) and its affiliates within two months after the end
of each year. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 25 September 2015 for further details.
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The Directors are of the view that the entering into of the
Trademark Licensing Agreement will benefit the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole in the following respects: (i)
the Company can benefit from the brand of Mengniu Dairy, the
“Mengniu” trademark is highly recognized in the PRC and the use
of the “Mengniu” trademark would be beneficial to the sale of the
Company’s adult milk powder products and maintain the market
share of Oushi Mengniu’s infant milk powder; and (ii) through the
“Mengniu” trademark license, the Company could access more
support from Mengniu Dairy in terms of brand resources.

On 22 December 2017, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a confirmation letter in
relation to the Trademark Licensing Agreement, pursuant to
which the parties agreed that for each of the years ending 31
December 2017 and 2018:

- no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and Yashili
(Guangdong) to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the use of the
Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing Agreement
provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates] for the promotion,
marketing, advertising and distribution of the Products (the
“Marketing Expenses”) in any such year shall not be less than
3% of the revenue from the sales of the Products to third party
customers in such year; and

- in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong] (and its affiliates] in any year
are less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of the Products
to third party customers in such year, Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong] shall pay the shortfall to Inner Mongolia

Mengniu within two months after the end of such year.
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On 12 July 2019, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental confirmation
letter (the “Supplemental Confirmation Letter”) in relation to the
Trademark Licensing Agreement, pursuant to which the parties
agreed that for each of the years ending 31 December 2019, 2020
and 2021:

- no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and Yashili
(Guangdong) to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the use of the
Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing Agreement,
provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) for the promotion,
marketing, advertising and distribution of the Products (the
“Marketing Expenses”) in any such year shall not be less than
3% of the revenue from the sales of the Products to third party
customers in such year; and

- in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong] (and its affiliates] in any year
are less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of the Products
to third party customers in such year, Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong) shall pay the shortfall to Inner Mongolia
Mengniu within two months after the end of such year.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors
but excluding Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr. Zhang Ping) are of
the view that the entering into of the Supplemental Confirmation
Letter will benefit the Company and its Shareholders as a whole
as the arrangements provided in the Supplemental Confirmation
Letter would support the Company’s promotional and marketing
activities for the Products, which are important components
of the product portfolio of the Company in the future, and
thereby increasing the market share of and sales revenue of the
Company.
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On 9 July 2020, the Yashili (Guangdong], Oushi Mengniu and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental agreement
to the Trademark Licensing Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which, among others, (i] Yashili New
Zealand, an affiliate of Yashili (Guangdong) incorporated in
New Zealand, is designated as a licensee under the Trademark
Licensing Agreement, and may use and sub-license the
Trademarks in New Zealand and use the Trademarks in the
manufacturing of the Products in New Zealand, and such Products
may be imported to the PRC for promotion, advertising, marketing
and distribution; and (ii) the Supplemental Confirmation Letter
shall apply to the Trademark Licensing Agreement as amended
by the Supplemental Agreement.

The Directors are of the view that the Supplemental Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder would enable the
Group to promote the advertising and distribution of its products
through the Mengniu brand.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, pursuant to the
Supplemental Confirmation Letter, no license fee is payable by
Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong) and its affiliates to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu under the Trademark Licensing Agreement.

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement

On 27 May 2016, Dumex China entered into a manufacturing
and supply agreement (the “Manufacturing and Supplying
Agreement”] with Danone Trading, an indirect subsidiary of
Danone SA. pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to purchase
and Danone Trading agreed to sell certain products for infant
nutrition from time to time during the term from the completion
of acquisition of the entire equity interest in Dumex China to 31
December 2027. The prices shall be negotiated each year prior
to the start of the year and shall be calculated based on the cost
of the relevant infant nutrition products supplied plus a markup
of 10% and with reference to the volume forecasts provided
by the Dumex China to Danone Trading. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2016 for further
details.
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The Directors are of the view that the Manufacturing and Supply
Agreement enables Dumex China to secure a long-term supply
of four tailored nutrition products from the Danone Group, which
would complement the existing product portfolio of the Group and
enhance the bargaining power the Group in channel distribution.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Manufacturing and Supply
Agreement was RMBO, which was less than the cap of RMB14
million (equivalent to approximately HK$16.576 million) as
disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

. The Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ

On 1 May 2017, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a service agreement (the “Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ”) with Nutricia NZ, pursuant to which Yashili New
Zealand agreed to co-pack and deliver to Nutricia NZ canned
infant formula during the period from 1 May 2017 to 30 June
2018 (being the initial term commencing from 1 May 2017 to 31
December 2017 extended for six months according to the Service
Agreement with Nutricia NZ). Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 18 January 2018 for further details.

On 31 May 2018, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed
to extend the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ for another
six months (the “31 May 2018 Extension”). Accordingly, the
Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ shall remain in force until
31 December 2018. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 May 2018 for further details.

On 3 December 2018, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed
to extend the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ for another
six months (the “3 December 2018 Extension”). Accordingly, the
Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ shall remain in force until
30 June 2019. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 3 December 2018 for further details.
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On 31 May 2019, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed to
further extend the term of the Service Agreement with Nutricia
NZ for another six months (the “31 May 2019 Extension”).
Accordingly, the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ shall
remain in force until 31 December 2019. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2019 for further
details.

On 29 November 2019, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ
agreed to further extend the term of the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ for another six months (the “29 November 2019
Extension”). Accordingly, the Service Agreement with Nutricia
NZ shall remain in force until 30 June 2020. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 November 2019 for
further details.

On 29 May 2020, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed to
further extend the term of the Service Agreement with Nutricia
NZ for another six months (the “29 May 2020 Extension”).
Accordingly, the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ shall
remain in force until 31 December 2020. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 May 2020 (the “29 May
2020 Announcement”) for further details.

On 4 December 2020, Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed
to further extend the term of the Service Agreement with Nutricia
NZ for another six months (the “4 December 2020 Extension”).
Accordingly, the Service Agreement with Nutricia NZ shall remain
in force until 30 June 2021. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 4 December 2020 for further details.

The Directors are of the view that are of the view that the
transactions contemplated under the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ, the 31 May 2018 Extension, the 3 December 2018
Extension, the 31 May 2019 Extension, the 29 November 2019
Extension, the 29 May 2020 Extension and the 4 December 2020
Extension would enable Yashili New Zealand to further improve
its utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater synergies between

the Group and Danone.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Service Agreement with
Nutricia NZ as extended by the 29 May 2020 Extension was
NZ$0.49 million, which was less than the annual cap of NZ$6
million as disclosed in the 29 May 2020 Announcement.

Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go

On 23 March 2018, Dumex China, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a processing agreement (the “2018
Processing Agreement”) with Shanghai Nutri Go pursuant to
which Dumex China agreed to provide processing services in
respect of NutriGo nutrition packs to Shanghai Nutri Go from time
to time from 23 March 2018 to 22 March 2019. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 23 March 2018 for further
details.

On 4 June 2019, Dumex China entered into a processing
agreement (the “2019 Processing Agreement”) with Shanghai
Nutri Go, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to provide
processing services in respect of NutriGo nutrition packs to
Shanghai Nutri Go from time to time from 4 June 2019 to 3 June
2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4
June 2019 (the “4 June 2019 Announcement”) for further details.

On 4 June 2020, Dumex China and Shanghai Nutri Go entered into
the a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
to (i) extend the term of the 2019 Processing Agreement to the
period from 4 June 2020 to 30 June 2020; and (ii) amend certain
terms of the 2019 Processing Agreement. Save as described
above, the transactions contemplated under the Supplemental
Agreement shall comply with the terms of the 2019 Processing
Agreement. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 4 June 2020 (the “4 June 2020 Announcement”) for further
details.
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The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the 2018 Processing Agreement, the 2019 Processing
Agreement and the Supplemental Agreement with Shanghai Nutri
Go would generate revenue for the Group and enable the Group to
explore additional business opportunities in the future.

For the period from 4 June 2019 to 4 June 2020, the value of
the transactions contemplated under the 2019 Processing
Agreement was RMB1.28 million, which was less than the cap of
RMB8 million for the period from 4 June 2019 to 3 June 2020 as
disclosed in the 4 June 2019 Announcement.

For the period from 4 June 2020 to 31 December 2020, the
value of the transactions contemplated under the Supplemental
Agreement was RMBO0.94 million, which was less than the cap of
RMB3.5 million for the period from 4 June 2020 to 31 December
2020 as disclosed in the 4 June 2020 Announcement.

. Can Supply Agreement with Nutricia NZ

On 23 May 2018, Yashili New Zealand, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a can supply agreement (the “Can Supply
Agreement with Nutricia NZ") with Nutricia NZ, a subsidiary of
Danone SA, pursuant to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to
purchase and Nutricia NZ, agreed to supply cans from time to
time from 23 May 2018 to 30 June 2020 unless terminated earlier
in accordance with the terms of the Can Supply Agreement with
Nutricia NZ. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 May 2018 (“23 May 2018 Announcement”) for further
details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions contemplated
under the Can Supply Agreement with Nutricia NZ would enable
Yashili New Zealand to procure high quality packing materials
from a stable source, further achieving greater synergies
between the Group and Danone.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

For the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020, the value of
the transactions contemplated under the Can Supply Agreement
with Nutricia NZ was NZ$0 million, which was less than the cap
of NZ$5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$27.1 million) for
the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020 as disclosed in
the 23 May 2018 Announcement.

Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy

On 29 June 2018, the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement (the “Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy”)
with Mengniu Dairy in relation to (i) purchase of goods by the
Mengniu Group from the Group (“Type | CCT"); (ii) purchase of
goods by the Group from the Mengniu Group (“Type Il CCT"}; (iii)
provision of services by the Mengniu Group to the Group (“Type Il
CCT"); and (iv) provision of services by the Group to the Mengniu
Group (“Type IV CCT"). The Framework Agreement has a term
of three years commencing from the date of the approval of the
independent Shareholders (the “Effective Date”).

The goods under the Type | CCT and Type Il CCT are mainly raw
materials for dairy products, raw materials for food, food additives
(including but not limited to whole milk powder, skimmed milk
powder, white sugar, etc.), auxiliary materials, packing materials,
semi-finished goods and finished goods. The list of goods may
be updated from time to time according to the business needs of
the Group and the Mengniu Group. The services under the Type
ILL CCT and Type IV CCT are mainly testing services, storage and
leasing services, marketing and sales services, IT services, labour
services, advisory services and management services. The scope
of services may be updated from time to time according to the
business needs of the Group and the Mengniu Group. The price
and terms of the transactions under the Framework Agreement
shall be determined in the ordinary course of business on normal
commercial terms, negotiated on an arm’s length basis and no
less favourable to the Group than those available to the Group
from independent third parties.
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Please refer to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 2 July
2018 in relation to the entering into of the Framework Agreement
with Mengniu Dairy, (i) the announcement of the Company dated
31 December 2018 in relation to, among others, the revision of
proposed annual caps of the continuing connected transactions
under the Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy, and (iii] the
circular of the Company dated 22 February 2019 (“22 February
2019 Circular”), for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors
(whose views were set out in the letter from the independent
board committee included in the 22 February 2019 Circular))
are of the view that the Framework Agreement with Mengniu
Dairy and the transactions contemplated thereunder would
enable the Group to achieve greater synergies with the Mengniu
Group. In particular, (i) the purchase of goods and services from
the Mengniu Group will enable the Group to realize stable and
quality sourcing and reduce purchase costs; and (ii) the provision
of goods and services by the Group to the Mengniu Group will
diversify and increase the Group’s income and most importantly
improve the capacity utilization of the Group.

The Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy and the
transactions contemplated thereunder were approved by the
independent Shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 12 March 2019. The
Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy became effective on
12 March 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the value of transactions
under the Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy was
RMB325 million, RMB140 million, RMBO0.67 million, RMB33
million for Type | CCT, Type Il CCT, Type Ill CCT and Type IV CCT,
respectively, which was less than RMB265 million, RMB364
million, RMB35 million and RMB168 million, respectively, as
disclosed in the 22 February 2019 Circular

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

AR ZFHIE - F2H)A 7B A2018
i?ﬁzaﬁF%Jﬁﬁi%tﬁL%uTiWE E1%
FHRAE - (HARARBEA2018F12831H
ﬁﬁ%(ﬁﬂfﬂ@%)f AR R ER HhaE
BTIREBER G EZFELROAE
K (i) A7) B HI &201942 A 22 B #)38 X
([2019%2H2288& ) »

EZ(BEBUIEHNTES  FEEAER
2019@2H225pu$ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ¢§$*%@
u1¢¢a§u> R - BRI EIT I MELE D
FRHBTHRETRZCEDREAREER
%ﬁF%@zFﬁﬂ’\]Tﬁ%Hxﬁ% c BEEME - (i)M
SHSEREERERREEDASERRE
EREERBIR - WHEERBAE : &lii)
AEERSFEERERRERREATZ T
NG B R AR &I AR BAY A - T
EEEMNRARARNEENELNAE -

7

BEEFIENERBEREBETRETRS
ER2019F3 81288172 AN A RIIREEFRIR
2 FAARRBIIREIE o BRAFZLER
MEZR TR 201943 8128 4% »

HZE2020F12831HILFE - BREESF I
EWIERGRERE MFEBEIZER - FE
BER SR - FEREISERNNNRFE
BERZERNVHR ZEBD B AAR325
BB AREILBEETL - ARK0.TEE
TTRARKIBEETT © HRl{ER201962A4
2BBRHAEENARE2008ET - AR
3BLEETL - AREIISAEETLEARE168H
8o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

7. Supply Agreement with Burra Foods

On 29 March 2019, Newou, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a supply agreement (the “March 2019
Supply Agreement”) with Burra Foods, pursuant to which Newou
agreed to purchase, and Burra Foods agreed to sell, base powder
products for milk based recipes from time to time from 29 March
2019 to 31 December 2019. Please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 29 March 2019 and 29 April 2019 for further
details.

The March 2019 Supply Agreement expired on 31 December
2019. On 17 April 2020, Newou entered into a supply agreement
(the “Supply Agreement with Burra Foods”] with Burra Foods,
pursuant to which Newou agreed to purchase, and Burra Foods
agreed to sell, base powder products from time to time from 17
April 2020 to 31 March 2021. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 17 April 2020 (the “17 April 2020
Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors expect that the transactions contemplated under
the March 2019 Supply Agreement and the Supply Agreement
with Burra Foods would enable Newou to procure high quality
raw materials from a stable source, which would lay a solid
foundation for the Group’s expansion into high end product
categories.

For the period from 17 April 2020 to 31 December 2020, the value
of the transactions contemplated under the Supply Agreement
with Burra Foods was AUD7 million, which was less than the cap
of AUD10 million (equivalent to approximately HK$49.19 million)
as disclosed in the 17 April 2020 Announcement.
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8. Service Contract with Nutricia NZ

On 19 June 2019, Yashili New Zealand, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a service contract (the “Service
Contract with Nutricia NZ”) with Nutricia NZ, pursuant to which
Yashili New Zealand and Nutricia NZ agreed to supply services
including but not limited to consulting service, labor service,
management service and marketing service, to each other
from 19 June 2019 to 31 December 2021. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 19 June 2019 (the “19 June
2019 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Service Contract with
Nutricia NZ and the transactions contemplated thereunder would
enable Yashili New Zealand to leverage on such Services provided
by Danone, and hence take advantage of Danone’s industry
leading edge with the ultimate aim of achieving greater synergies
between the Group and Danone.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Service Contract with
Nutricia NZ was RMB3 million, which was less than the cap of
RMB20 million as disclosed in the 19 June 2019 Announcement.

. Service Agreement with Milupa

On 21 October 2019, Yashili New Zealand, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a service agreement
(the “Service Agreement with Milupa”) with Milupa, pursuant to
which Yashili New Zealand agreed to provide processing services
in respect of goat milk powder to Milupa from time to time for six
months commencing from 21 October 2019. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 October 2019 (the “21
October 2019 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Service Agreement
with Milupa and the transactions contemplated thereunder
would enable Yashili New Zealand to explore more business
opportunities with Danone, and achieve greater synergies

between the Group and Danone.
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For the period from 5 August 2019 to 20 April 2020, the value of
the transactions contemplated under the Service Agreement with
Milupa was RMBO million, which was less than the cap of EURO.7
million (equivalent to approximately RMB5.5 million) during the
period from 5 August 2019 to 20 April 2020 as disclosed in the 21
October 2019 Announcement.

2020 Supply Agreement with DAPH, Danone Trading, DanTrade
and Their Affiliates

On 19 November 2019, Yashili New Zealand entered into a supply
agreement (the “2020 Supply Agreement”) with DAPH, Danone
Trading, DanTrade and their affiliates (the “Purchasers under
the 2020 Supply Agreement”], pursuant to which Yashili New
Zealand agreed to supply, and the Purchasers under the 2020
Supply Agreement agreed to purchase, base powder and dairy
ingredients from time to time. The 2020 Supply Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
approval by the independent Shareholders. If the approval of
the 2020 Supply Agreement by the independent Shareholders is
obtained before 1 January 2020, the 2020 Supply Agreement shall
take effect on 1 January 2020, and shall remain in force until 31
December 2020 unless otherwise agreed by the parties in writing.
If the approval of the 2020 Supply Agreement by the independent
Shareholders is obtained after 1 January 2020, the 2020 Supply
Agreement shall take effect on the date on which it is approved by
the independent Shareholders, and shall remain in force until 31
December 2020 unless otherwise agreed by the parties in writing.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 19
November 2019 and circular of the Company dated 12 December
2019 (the “12 December 2019 Circular”) for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that the 2020 Supply Agreement would enable
Yashili New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby
achieving greater synergies between the Group and Danone.

10.
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The 2020 Supply Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were approved by the independent Shareholders
of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 31 December 2019. The 2020 Supply Agreement
became effective on 1 January 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the 2020 Supply Agreement was
RMB354 million, which was less than the cap of RMB630 million as
disclosed in the 12 December 2019 Circular.

On 13 November 2020, Yashili New Zealand entered into an
agreement with DAPH and DanTrade to extend the term of the
2020 Supply Agreement for a period of one year from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2021 and to amend certain terms of the
2020 Supply Agreement (the “Extension”). Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 13 November 2020 and
the circular of the Company dated 4 December 2020 for further
details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that the Extension would enable Yashili New
Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater
synergies between the Group and Danone.

The Extension and the transactions contemplated thereunder
were approved by the independent Shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 23
December 2020. The Extension became effective on 1 January
2021.

The pricing policies set out in the relevant announcements
and circulars (where applicable] of the connected transactions
and continuing connected transactions set out above have
been followed when determining the price and terms of the
transactions conducted during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Other than the connected transactions and the continuing
connected transactions set out above, in respect of which the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract of significance
has been entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed that such
transactions were entered into:

- inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

- on normal commercial terms or better; and

- according to the agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued their
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The Directors named in the paragraphs below held offices in
businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

Each of Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr. Zhang Ping held offices in the
Mengniu Group during the year ended 31 December 2020. Mengniu
Dairy is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Bellamy's
Australia Limited, which is an Australian organic infant formula
and baby food provider, acquired by the Mengniu Group in 2019, is
engaged in, among others, manufacturing and distribution of milk
formula. Each of Mr. Qin Peng and Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu) held
offices in Danone. Danone Asia, a member of the Danone Group, is
a substantial shareholder of the Company. Danone is engaged in,
among others, manufacturing and distribution of milk formula.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed by
separate entities with independent management and administration.
The Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying
on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the
businesses of these entities. When making decisions, the relevant
Directors, in performance of their duty as Director, have acted and
will continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had any interest in any company or business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Service Contracts” above, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where the
Company is incorporated applicable to the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group's emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee periodically. The
emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has previously adopted two share option schemes
and one Phantom Share Incentive Scheme to motivate and reward
its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the schemes are set
out in the paragraphs headed “Share Option Schemes” above and
“Phantom Share Incentive Scheme”.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2020.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentages of basic salaries of the employees
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme. The
contributions are charged to the consolidated income statements
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the state
- managed retirement benefits scheme. The Group has no other
material obligation for the payment of pension benefits beyond the
annual contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s total contributions
to the retirement benefits schemes charged in the income statement
amounted to RMB17 million. Details of the Group’s retirement
benefits scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers were 10% and 17% of the Group’s total sales respectively.
Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five
largest suppliers were 6% and 18% of the Group’s total purchases
respectively. At no time during the year ended 31 December 2020
did a Director, his/her associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’'s
share capital, have an interest in any of the Group's five largest
suppliers.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of shareholders who
are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 27 May 2021 to Wednesday, 2 June 2021, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 2 June
2021, all duly completed and signed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 May 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed, with the
Company’s management and the external auditors, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed
auditing, risk management, internal control, whistleblowing policy
and system and financial reporting matters, including the review of
the Group’s financial statements’ for the year ended 31 December
2020.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for its re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float of not less than 23.42% of the Company’s issued shares
pursuant to a waiver granted to the Company by the Stock Exchange
for the period from the Listing Date.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of short-term and long-term bank loans of the Group
as at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements. Other than such bank loans, the Group had no
other bank loans.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 53 to 87 of this
Annual Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five financial years ended 31 December 2020 is set out
on pages 267 to 268 of this Annual Report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no significant event after the reporting period.

On behalf of the Board

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e
EY:x

To the shareholders of

Central, Hong Kong

Yashili International Holdings Ltd.,
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd (the “Company”] and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 136 to 266, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed ZBHEERFTH
Key audit matter the key audit matter FRENSEE I FEEHY
Impairment testing of goodwill BERENR
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RMB991 million represented among others, evaluation of FERARBINE FEEEEHROE
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allocated and assessment of the
impairment model and underlying
assumptions by comparing
key assumptions, such as the
forecasted revenue and gross
margins with historical operating
results. We involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us
in evaluating the impairment
model and in benchmarking key
assumptions, including expected
growth rates and discount rates.
We assessed management’s
sensitivity analysis in relation to
the reasonably possible changes
in assumptions, including revenue
growth rates and gross margins.

2020. The impairment tests
performed by management
involved significant
estimations of the value in use
of the cash-generating unit
(“CGU") group to which the
goodwill is allocated.

The accounting policies,
significant estimates and
related disclosures are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17
to the consolidated financial
statements.

We also reviewed the adequacy of
the related disclosures included
in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

BB RS (&)

ZBREETF
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Impairment testing of trademark with indefinite lives

Trademark with indefinite
life amounting to RMB283
million represented 3.63%
of the Group’'s total assets
as at 31 December 2020. The
impairment tests performed
by management involved
significant estimations in
determination of the value in
use of the CGU to which the
trademarks belong.

The accounting policies,
significant estimates and
related disclosures are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 16
to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our audit procedures included,
among others, assessment of the
impairment model and underlying
assumptions by comparing
key assumptions, such as the
forecasted revenue and gross
margins with historical operating
results. We also reviewed brand
strategy and business plan
prepared by management and
compared the assumptions such
as unit selling prices and unit
costs used in the impairment
testing with the industry peers.
We involved internal valuation
experts to assist us in evaluating
the impairment model and key
assumptions, in particular those
relating to perpetual growth
rates and discount rates. We
also assessed management’s
sensitivity analysis to evaluate
the impact of reasonably possible
changes, including revenue
growth rates and gross margins.

We also reviewed the adequacy of
the related disclosures included
in the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

BB RS (&)

BB BB S O B R A AR
HEE

BN BERRAEEERERA HUBEHRRES
FHREMRREFRERMEMM B ARHERRL - I
FHEFRMEROZBEIRE - AREERE
BRRRR - WTRERMAR - LA TIHRA
BREATHEMEMA TAREIERERMEE -

éﬁﬁﬁi? BREXIZE - BETRERBIEELER

AHERETH RS TRERERMATENER
B AR PRI o BARRBRA AT IR BRRF Sk EE AR - M (& 51

HEE EA/\IE?EHH BRTNARZEERERERS G

FEHRIELNEERER - AR AERIHR
PRt
REFEENENEFR - RIEREXHE -

REBEFERT IR EXIREELE - JFI:

o BRI RFHEA B SRR AN HEF S ER ER
BYMEABRBMRRE - AELERRR
STRAITENEY  BEEREREERTR
ERBEMNERIREER - AREKFESRE
?%%_ SR WEER - REERESOE

BRSBTS - At ReeHBEAIERNEXR
i AR PR L R PR B R AL B ER R P BR AR T S B Y
éj@%%&fﬁ R E S o

o EREARMBEAOAIITH - URFHEENE

HER  BXFEAHESERMENNE
WIZEBRER

o MAEAFTASHEERESKE UREEFIE
SHEENERREESSTAE -
HTFEBRERERD

2020¢$&



134

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZBERE ()

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to

continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for

our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Ng Siu Ki Ricky.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

=
SHEEER
Year ended 31 December 2020 #;Z=202012731H [LFE
2020 2019
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B RE AR¥T T AREFIT
Revenue WA 3,649,206 3,411,962
Cost of sales SHEMK A (2,315,373) (2,145,191
Gross profit EF 1,333,833 1,266,771
Other income and gains H AU A e 5 102,039 28,929
Selling and distribution expenses FHE RS (1,039,102) (963,810)
Administrative expenses 1T (186,582) (222,978)
Impairment loss on financial assets TREERBERX (3,758) (5,804)
Other expenses and losses ELAh F 2 MR (151,509) (84,836)
Finance income B REUA 88,470 94,467
Finance costs EURCID RN (13,712) (9,816)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AR A 7 129,679 102,923
Income tax (expense)/credit FiEHi(BR), R 10 (28,598) 9,443
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERA 101,081 112,366
Attributable to: BB :
Owners of the parent ISYNEIZEESVEIN 101,081 112,366
RMB cents RMB cents
AR¥SD ARES
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBERESA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EHEREF
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 11
Basic and diluted HARES 2.1 2.4

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SHEERRE

Year ended 31 December 2020 &;Z2020512A31HILFE

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEHEF 101,081 112,366
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Hip2mE(BK), WS
Other comprehensive income that may be AR AR B E R D i E

reclassified to profit or loss in Bz EMEmE(ER), MW

subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of financial IMNERERITEZKE
statements (53,861) 43,954

Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that may RIRANEHIEEF DEEET 2
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent  FE b2 E (385), Uz:

periods (53,861) 43,954
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR FEHiZHEMEE(EX) kZH

THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (53,861) 43,954
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FEZHINZELE

THE YEAR 47,220 156,320
Attributable to: BER:

Owners of the parent SR RIRRERA A 47,220 156,320

HTFERZERERA A 137
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B HBHERAE
31 December 2020 2020512 A31H
2020 2019
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = ARMT T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB NG 12 1,530,467 1,549,669
Construction in progress EETE 13 49,199 63,414
Investment properties B 14 63,924 73,548
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 101,420 112,659
Intangible assets B EE 16 345,541 346,294
Goodwill BES 17 991,236 991,236
Deferred tax assets EEFTEE E 18 370,995 385,712
Long-term bank deposits RHARITIE 24 736,004 546,091
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTRIE - B fEYORRIE &
other assets Hib&EE 21 403 4,135
Total non-current assets R EELREE 4,189,189 4,072,758
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Inventories T8 19 984,760 924,018
Trade receivables Z SRR 20 91,166 152,632
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTRIE ~ Bt fEYORRIE
other assets Hith&EE 21 171,745 205,498
Other current financial assets Hittno e &EE 22 20,000 49,434
Structural bank deposits AR RITIE SR 22 101,764 593,960
Derivative financial assets PTEEmTA 23 2,175 =
Pledged deposits RFESTTR 24 150,261 9,968
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITERS 24 2,080,918 1,504,233
Total current assets MENVE MR 3,602,789 3,439,743
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables S EMNF R 25 698,052 553,468
Other payables and accruals Hih S R E A 26 950,991 1,202,365
Interest-bearing bank and other SHEIRIT R EMER
borrowings 27 365,857 26,831
Derivative financial liabilities TESRTA 23 262 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 8,839 9,378
Tax payable FERTFR1ERE 4,885 7,294
Total current liabilities mEN A BB 2,028,886 1,799,336
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 1,573,903 1,640,407
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEAEBERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,763,092 5,713,165

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ER(E)
31 December 2020 2020412 F31H

2020 2019
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FaE AR¥ET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Deferred income RIEW =S 28 9,200 3,477
Lease liabilities HERE 15 10,700 18,671
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 18 20,075 9,296
Total non-current liabilities EmE B ERRE 39,975 31,444
Net assets EEFE 5,723,117 5,681,721
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners ISYNEIE 2PN
of the parent fE=
Share capital &N 29 399,352 399,352
Reserves & 5,323,765 5,282,369
TOTAL EQUITY R 5,723,117 5,681,721
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Mr. Zhang Ping
BEERERLE R EE
Director Director

EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHERBEER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #%£20205F12A31H &
Attributable to owners of the parent
SRRSATREREA
Capital PRC Other  Share option
Share Share  redemption statutory capital reserve/share  Translation  Contributed Merger Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve  award reserve reserve surplus Reserve eamings Total
BhiEke/
RitenE
fife/Bh
& RARE REEERE dEiERE ENELER ERRRE EXRE E4EH SRR REEA it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABETT  ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTr  ARMTr  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  AREBTR  ARBTR
Notes note 2]~ note 371l [note 37l (note 371il
i (W) (RgaEal) (Wesatil) — (BoaEali)
At1 January 2019 RWI9E1A1A 399,352 3845,616% 818* 182,001 (6 615]¢ 9,646* 31,168* 1,367,206 (830,504]* 17,119 5,957,825
Profitfor the year FEE - - - - - - - - 112366 112366
Other comprehensive income Afp2EkE
Exchange differences on translation ~ JMESEHEZE
of financial statements - - - - - 43954 - - - 43954
Total comprehensive income ENEEE
for the year - - - - - 43,95 - - 112366 156,320
Statutory reserves appropriated BAEERE = = = = = = = = = =
Final 2019 dividend declared*** - - - - - - = - [67524) [67,524)
Share option and share award REDERRENE
arrangements** FIE - - - - 15,100 - - - - 15,100
At 31 December 2019 0195128318 399,352 3845,616% 818* 182,001 (6 15)¢ 24,746* 10 1,367,204 (850,504 681,961* 5,681,721
At 1 January 2020 RNNEIR1A 399,352 3845,616% 818 182,021 (64,615 2%,7h6* o122 1,367,204 (850,504)* 681,961* 5,681,721
Profit for the year ) = - - - - - - - - 101,081 101,081
Other comprehensive loss Afp2EER
Exchange differences on translation M HEFEEE
of financial statements - - - - - - (53,861) - - - (53,861)
Total comprehensive income 2ANEEE
for the year = = = = = o (53,861) = = 101,081 47200
Statutory reserves appropriated BAEERE = - - 5,880 - - - - - (5,880) -
Share option and share award REDERREAE
arrangements** HE - - - - - (5,824) - - - - [5,824)
At 31 December 2020 RNNE12831R 399,352 3,865,616 818 187,901 (64 615]* 18922¢ 21,261% 1,367,206* (850,504]* T77,162% 5723117

*ok

These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB5,323,765,000,
(2019: RMB5,282,369,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

On 7 May 2018, 24 December 2018 and 5 June 2019, China Mengniu Dairy Company
Limited (“Mengniu Dairy”), the Company’s ultimate holding company, cumulatively
granted 327,355 units of shares and 2,067,151 units of share options under its share
award scheme and share option scheme, respectively, to the Company’s directors
and the management of the Group for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of Mengniu Dairy. The
amount represented the fair value amortisation of these share options and share
awards at 31 December 2020.

The Board recommended the payment of a special dividend of RMB1 cent per
ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2018, amounting to RMB47,524,000
in total, to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members on 18
June 2019.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SHHERER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z=2020F12A318LtFE
2020 2019
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AR¥T T ARBFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax AR A 129,679 102,923
Adjustments for: SHEIAR ¢
Depreciation of items of property, M - B REETE
plant and equipment 7 119,452 107,416
Depreciation of investment properties & &WEITE 7 3,882 4,037
Amortisation of intangible assets ER B EHE 7 17,381 13,012
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 1 RS EE B B 7 11,097 10,554
Amortisation of other non-current H A IERED & = i
assets 7 3,616 3,627
Amortisation of deferred income A M s 8 5 5,723 (885)
Net loss on disposal of inventories FEmEFIER 6 21,058 4,356
Net loss on disposal of non-current HEIERBEEMELR
assets b 772 3,200
Impairment of trade and other B 5 ME MBS RERIE
receivables, net EE=ES 7 3,758 5,804
Impairment of inventories FEKEEE 6 75,281 65,528
Interest income B A (33,912) (94,467)
Interest expense B 8 13,712 9,816
Foreign exchange differences, net b i B F 8 5,6 (40,792) 7,174
COVID-19-related rent concessions EEESRHR
from lessors 15 (463) -
(Reversal of)/equity-settled share- RrEE B D (R E),/
based payment expenses X (3,380) 15,100
326,864 257,195
Increase in inventories FEEN (161,397) (229,149)
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 IR TR A (3 hn)
receivables 32,748 (10,935)
Decrease in prepayments, other TERTRIE - B fEMORRIE &
receivables and other assets HibBER D 41,213 29,461
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits {R#& % F7K (12 hn), & 2> (19,401) 214,805
Decrease in trade and bills payables, Z SRR - EfbEN A
other payables and accruals MEETE AR (90,652) (77,450)
Cash generated from operations KEEBMERE 129,375 183,927
Income tax paid on operating activities &R & EENE NS (10,635) (6,700)
Net cash flows from operating activities K& FEIFFEREFEE 118,740 177,227
BLFEEZERERAD A

2020 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
EHEESRER(E)
Year ended 31 December 2020 #;Z£2020% 12831 HILFE

2020 2019
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
UoEsd AR¥T T ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, BEME  BER
plant and equipment BeL:] (66,317) (30,979)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BE RRES
property, plant and equipment FRE] 36,181 4,637
Additions to construction in progress  fEELA2IE B A9 HN (36,193) (65,682)
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE (17,744) (9,066)
Decrease/(increase) in long-term RERITERAVR D (380)
bank deposits 10,087 (446,091)
Purchases of other financial assets BEEHMERERE (180,833) (2,089,280)
Proceeds from disposal of other HEH B EEGERIE
financial assets 773,827 1,918,616
New time deposits with original JREEAE R =18 A A L&Y
maturity of more than three months SRITIFIRAYIE N (262,630) (928,069)
Receipts of time deposits with original  REIHE A=1E AU LK
maturity of more than three months ER1TIF B BR R MR 928,069 851,945
Increase in pledged time deposits B E BRTF SR A0 3L N (144,892) =
Interest received BEHFIE 27,509 98,901
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REFEFE (HEIEE
activities HE 1,067,064 (695,068)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETHRIRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank loans BHATSRIE 368,051 1,051,091
Repayment of bank loans EETEER (26,831) (1,347,640
New bank deposits pledged for bank ELER1T {8 S AE R A HE IR AT 5K
loans Eopyill (249,278) =
Release of bank deposits pledged for  E24R171E FXAH R A B HRHE 48
bank loans Fala s - 301,428
Principal portion of lease payments MENTHAREZE D 30 (8,373) (7,161)
Interest paid ERFE (12,493) (14,417)
Dividends paid AR E - (47,524)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMETEME (RHBRS
financing activities FE 71,076 (64,223)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN REeRBASEEYEM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R2) F&E 1,256,880 (582,064)
Cash and cash equivalents at FONRERALSEEY
beginning of year 24 576,164 1,158,373
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXSHUHESRESESEY
changes, net BB R R (14,756) (145)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRAERAEEEY
END OF YEAR 24 1,818,288 576,164

142 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of
dairy and nourishment products.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company is China
Mengniu International Company Limited (BVI). The ultimate
holding company of the Company is China Mengniu Dairy
Company Limited (Cayman).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

S HM B R R E

31 December 2020 2020512 831H

1. RAIREEEHR

M MBERZERBER AR (AR ]) 2010
FoAERBEREHRE R RIEF22E (1961
FE=FEN Bt REERSHE
T RERRERAR - HAMEE
Hbik A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

AEEFENFERELHEEARMIEERM -

505 REARANATERFERE
IRARF(BVI) - REISKZER AR AFERS
AXBRAF(FHE) -

FAREE

RRRBEFRFFBOT :

follows:
Place of
incorporation/
registrationand  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
business registered share capital  attributable to the Company
HMmRL/ BRIRA/ RAREEN Principal activities
BOREXBE EMERE RERSL IEXH
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
NEER (iF3 B A
Yashili International Ltd. BVI US$1 100% - Investment holding
(*Yashili (BVI)")
BEMERARAR ABRAES %7 100% - RESR
('Yashili (BVI)])
Yashili International Group Limited Hong Kong HK$!1 - 100%  Investment holding
("Yashili (HK]")
ELMEREEERAR &R BT - 100% RERK
(MHELRI(B%E)))
BELREBRZERAERLDH

2020 3R



144

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued]) 1.

RAREEER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) FATEER ()
Place of
incorporation/
registrationand  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
business registered share capital  attributable to the Company
A EBTRE/ ADFEED Principal activities
BERERLE ElliusdH RERSL IEXH
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
NEER (if3 Ef 54
Newou Hong Kong International Co., Hong Kong HK$!1 = 100%  Import and export of dairy
Limited (“Newou Hong Kong') products and related
materials
HEEEERERAR &k BT - 100% O SR RAmTH
([#EEE])
Yashili New Zealand Dairy Co., Limited New Zealand NZD?287,032,059 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
(“Yashili New Zealand") products
FERELAARARAA HER #FIR7287,032,0597C - 100% AERHFEARR
([#mEmslEl)
Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) i) The People’s Republic RMB470,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi of China (the “PRC” products
Mengniu’) [The PRC except for
NREREFEARnEREE AR Hong Kong
(Bt 54))) (*Mainland China") - AK#470,000,0007C - 100% 4£ERBENZSR
hEAREME
(&) HEEE
BRAMT R EIARE )
Yashili International Baby (i) & (i)~ PRC/Mainland China  RMB531,815,600 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
Nourishment Co., Ltd. products
(“Yashili Nourishment”)
FLHERRYRERRARAA T/ EAR AR#531,815,6007 - 100% AERHFEARR
(MHtieEm])
Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) Trading (i) PRC/Mainland China RMB620,000,000 - 100%  Wholesale and retail of dairy
Limited (“Maanshan Trading’) products
BIMAZ (BRI HERRAH i/ HEAR AR 620,000,007 - 100% ARBHERTE

(TB&LHE])
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued]) 1.

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

RAREEER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) FATEE ()
Place of
incorporation/
registrationand  Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
business registered share capital  attributable to the Company
A ERTRE/ ADFEED Principal activities
BUREXBE A& RFE RERAL TEEH
Company name Notes Direct Indirect
ARER i ER R
Yashili International Group Ltd. (i) & (i) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,676,105,300 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
(*Yashili (Guangdong) ] products
ELFEREEERAR ME/REARE  ARE676,105,3007 - 100% HERHEAEE
(ML AI(ER) )
Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. i) PRC/Mainland China  RMB300,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
(“Yashili (Shanxi]") products
WAL MIRBRAT VLD AR300,000,00070 - 100% HEREEANHm
(LML) ])
Dumex Bahy Food Co., Ltd. (ii) PRC/Mainland China  RMB2,226,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
(“Dumex”) products
SRHEPRRMBR AT T/ EAR AR #2,226,000,0007C - 100% AERHEEASD
(1%%%])
Yashili (Inner Mongolia) Nutrition Co., i) PRC/Mainland China  RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
Ltd. *Yashili (Inner Mongolia) ") products
RREELHNERRARLA T/ EAR AF%10,000,0007T - 100% AERHENRS
(MELHM(RFL)])
Mengniu Oushi Nutritional Food Co., (ii) PRC/Mainland China  RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of dairy
Ltd. ("Mengniu Oushi’) products
FHRUERRmBRAR] e/ EARE AR 50,000,000 - 100% HEREEANHm

(Bt )

HEREBRERERD 145
2020 3R



146

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

1.

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under PRC law.

(i) These companies are limited liability companies established
in the PRC. The official names of these companies are in
Chinese and the English names are for reference only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Boards (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for other current
financial assets and structural bank deposits which have been
measured at fair value. These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi ("RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee [i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received; (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’'s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

22CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised IFRSs for the first time
for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to IAS 1and IAS 8  Definition of Material

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised IFRSs are described
below:

(a) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance
to all parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence
and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of
the concepts contained therein override the concepts or
requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework did
not have any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

B O B RS R R M (4]
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

22CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business
and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on
whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the definition of
outputs to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to assess
whether an acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to transactions or other events that occurred
on or after 1 January 2020. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address issues
affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative risk-free rate ("RFR”). The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors about
their hedging relationships which are directly affected by
these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position and performance of the Group as the
Group does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

(e

Amendment to IFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting
for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease payments results
in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change
to other terms and conditions of the lease. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020 with earlier application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain monthly
lease payments for the leases of the Group’s plant and
buildings have been reduced or waived by the lessors upon
reducing the scale of production as a result of the pandemic
and there are no other changes to the terms of the leases.
The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1 January
2020 and elected not to apply lease modification accounting
for all rent concessions granted by the lessors as a result
of the pandemic during the year ended 31 December 2020.
Accordingly, a reduction in the lease payments arising from
the rent concessions of RMB463,000 has been accounted for
as a variable lease payment by derecognising part of the lease
liabilities and crediting to profit or loss (Or the corresponding
right-of-use assets) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information, or both. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position and performance

of the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Amendments to [FRS 9, IAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2!

IFRS 7,IFRS 4 and [FRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

IAS 28 (2011) its Associate or Joint Venture*
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current?

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 412

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates®

¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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5 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June 2020, IFRS 4
was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply
IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about these IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to IFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope
of IAS 37 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer
to IAS 37 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments
which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2
amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the effective
interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount
when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the amendments
permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform
to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with through
the normal requirements of IFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary
relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk component.
The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to
assume that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements
to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on
an entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but

entities are not required to restate the comparative information.

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in US Dollar based on the London Interbank Offered
Rate ("LIBOR") as at 31 December 2020. If the interest rates of
these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future period, the
Group will apply this practical expedient upon the modification of
these borrowings when the “economically equivalent” criterion is
met and expects that no significant modification gain or loss will

arise as a result of applying the amendments to these changes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in [FRS 10 and in IAS 28
(2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011) was removed by
the IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now. The application
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour
and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly
to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts
for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments
to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16,
and |AS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be
applicable to the Group are as follows:

e |FRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment
to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment is
not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

e |FRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative
Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives when
applying IFRS 16.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 require an entity to disclose its material
accounting policy information rather than its significant
accounting policies. To help entities to apply the amendments
to IAS 1, the IASB also amended IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements to illustrate how an entity can
judge whether accounting policy information is material to its
financial statements. The IASB added guidance and examples
to IFRS Practice Statement 2 to help an entity apply the four-
step materiality process to accounting policy information. An
entity shall apply the amendments to IAS 1 for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 introduce a new definition of accounting
estimates. The amendments are designed to clarify the
distinction between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies that
occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in
which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted and the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H
2.5, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

26 TEESTHERBE(E)

RESHREE(R)

BEYLRKAE - MAATIEMEER
B IR RESEANE AL AEE
A A R 77 MR R R A (BRI AR
AR FTRE AP 38Rl B B M PR i B (B ER

WEFAENAAE - BEEFTGRNE
S BHE 25 R R B AR RS A RV o

RATERIR - BBRAAR M RHRE
BIEETE - ABABFERENR F8F
HREXBERANERTREES A ERE
B Al E T ETTIRG - ARERN12A
MNRETRENFERENR - HETRE
AR AXRBAHMBANBEEBAZA
WO REFRBA RS HEENHR KNG
BNAKBERERSELBENNRCELE
IR MERARBEEMEERRERS
EDE T FELKEMHER

R ERB LR ERRNRESELEM (K
ReEEEMAR)H AT D S RETE - a0
KRB cELBEM(HRESELEMBAR) KA
YEl e RENREE - RIERRERSX - B
RN ERER R TR AR A RS -

IREEBBRRCELBN (FRNEELEN
AR — 8D - ZELMED X ER -
AIEREE M EXBNRER - EHEN
EBRBENRBFAZEGNEREE - £55
BIERTHENEEREMOEXHNRE
EBEMESELEUNFRENERETHE -

HETREREZRERA T
2020 5

159



160

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’'s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets,
investment properties and non - current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v] the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

26 TEESTHERBE ()

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vl a person identified in (al(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

vili] the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5, as further explained
in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition

and location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Plant and buildings 13-47 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Office equipment and others 3-5years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the
direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in buildings (including the
leasehold property held as right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of investment
properties. The estimated useful lives are 50 years. Depreciation
methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each
reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for Sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a

prospective basis.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 T EEHBERE(H)

(Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 5 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Land use right 50 years
Plant and building 3 to 6 years
Machinery and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 2 to 4 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the commencement
date, because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

26 TEESTHERBE ()

HE ()
EREBA ()

(b) HERE

HERERHERKAZEERRNEEN
RENRERER - HENFTEREEEN
RE(RREEEENFBBREREEE
BRE) - BURR IR Bt Rl S E
HE - ARRBERBMETRRFEATHR
AL - MREEHRRBAEEGITHE
RIFHEEERE  HENFETBREAE
BAEEESITERNBEREENTTERE
BRI IETEREIR o TMRIER S
St R RIS E N R R R EE
iR EHENBRRAERRER -

EHHEERREETHER - AREE
MR ERE BB EEFN R EHEN
HE - AREASHRIARRE - &HE
FiGH 2% - HERBMSHEEZEN S
BN AN - BEE T NHEREMRD
BEAN - ARR AR IR BRSH R B 5| R IR
MENREES (W : EREREEHHS|E
MARBEZRES)  HEHREH
BEEEHEN RS ABEEREEE
MHEESE AEEREFTEEER
EMRRMEHE -

SENHEEREMREENTBRITER
AR o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period
in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset are accounted for
as finance leases.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified

and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in
other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit
or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are
not subject to impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted
for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument
with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured
at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there
is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required
to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value

through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’'s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months
(a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.
At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.
In addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs;

Stage2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs;

Stage3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.

178 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

26 TEESTHERBE ()

&R W ERE(H)
—RA (&)

BHONRARIORE  AEERREMEE
ER o AT EETRRT - BAEKIMNB
BERBRASEELE B ARE R A IR
EEEBRICETAEEZBMEIREEER
TR ARENAERSEREEED -
EREAEBEHKEANESRER M
HEREE °

RanBEtEREZFH T AHLMES K
MWERS TAMSRBEENIZEHKX AT ER
TREEGE—MRIETNAIRESHELRE A
ABREABIIEZNEREE (A TFL)
Sh - EFEATEERDERARTERSER
=P

FIEE — BYRERARERRERK
BELZNMBHEBRERSS
RI2EARBERBRANE

BITE:
FEER — BVRERARERRRRE

EEMESARERRES
MEEBHBRERBESERN
REFEHERBERNSRT
B

EIER — WMEAGARENEREE
(ETREBEHRKERR
B) RBEXEFENEHE
SRR ATAREREX -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets and (ii] the amount initially recognised less,

when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
(Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued)

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss,
except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is
recognised in other comprehensive income and later reclassified
to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

e fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

e cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

e hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the
Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management
objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
(Continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (Continued)

The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged
and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship
meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (including the
analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the
hedge ratio is determined]. A hedging relationship qualifies for
hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness
requirements:

e There is “an economic relationship” between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument.

e The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value

changes” that result from that economic relationship.

e The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that
resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group
actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument
that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged
item.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
(Continued)

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting
are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income in the cash
flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash flow
hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or
loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair
value of the hedged item.

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are
accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying hedged
transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently results in
the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount accumulated
in equity is removed from the separate component of equity and
included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the hedged
asset or liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and will
not be recognised in other comprehensive income for the period.
This also applies where the hedged forecast transaction of a non-
financial asset or non-financial liability subsequently becomes a
firm commitment to which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or
periods during which the hedged cash flows affect the statement
of profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has
been accumulated in other comprehensive income must remain
in accumulated other comprehensive income if the hedged future
cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the amount will
be immediately reclassified to the statement of profit or loss as
a reclassification adjustment. After the discontinuation, once the
hedged cash flow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated
other comprehensive income is accounted for depending on the
nature of the underlying transaction as described above.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way
of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non - monetary assets
and released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method, as
further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial liabilities”
above.The benefit of the government loans granted with no or at
a below-market rate of interest, which is the difference between
the initial carrying value of the loans and the proceeds received,
is treated as a government grant and released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition [Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.

(a) Sale of dairy and nourishment products

Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the dairy
and nourishment products.

Some contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products provide customers with rights of return. The rights
of return give rise to variable consideration.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition [Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Sale of dairy and nourishment products (Continued)

Rights of return
For contracts which provide a customer with a right to

return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
requirements in [FRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the transaction
price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead
of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return
asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales)
is also recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.

(b

Consigned processing service

Revenue from the consigned processing service is recognised
when dairy and nourishment products is delivered.

Rental income

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition [Continued)
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Service income

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion of
customer acceptance. Revenues from services rendered are
derived principally from the testing service performed by the
Group. Revenue is recognised when the services are rendered.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer
before the customer pays consideration or before payment is
due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier]) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to
which the asset relateds. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognized for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods, and any
potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. The Group
updates the measurement of the asset recorded for any revisions
to the expected level of returns, and any additional decreases in
the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable] from a
customer and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately
expects it will have to return to the customer. The Group updates
its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change
in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in Mainland China participate
in a central defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed
by the local municipal government in the locations in which they
operate. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
companies’ payroll costs and are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central defined contribution retirement
benefit plan.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid
under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past services provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors] of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed
as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had
not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met.
An additional expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the equity-settled transactions or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. The directors
did not recommend the payment of dividend.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
based on the assessment of its specific facts and circumstances.
Once the functional currency is determined, it can be changed
only if there is a change to the underlying transactions, events
and conditions. As the Group mainly operates in Mainland China,
RMB is used as the presentation currency of the Group. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount
is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and
credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary
items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item [i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

B Ot SRR M (4E)
31 December 2020 2020412 831H

26 TEESTHERBE(E)

I (4R)

LASNEE DI B R 32 E S A AN FT E R SE B 1 1R
B DEENETRXSEBNERBKRE - A
SNESIERRAREFENIFERIRE - A
RETRAAEEENERBE - RERAA
EFFEMIFERIEE MELMWaER -
BHAZABNAABEDNRERER—
AR (AR 2 E RS A RS R
EEFANBEENAABREHEE  HBE
ZRND IR 2 E RSB R RAER) ©

RETRARBHEE  IRIEERAFEEE
ESFENRENANEEELNER RN
AR ERHIE XK - YR 5 AR AARE
B rERARANREEENIFEREEE
FHEMEEENEE - WREAAZEN
REWIE - RIARE ST T EN T
BENRENRXZEE -

HTEERNFEINTFRARNDEERLIFAR
¥ RBREPR  REERNEENARR

THRNEXRESAEENIIHREE
2 5B R R IE R RIZAFE N IR P E X

HETREREZRERA T
2020 5

199



200

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’'s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations,which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue
from contracts with customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and
assessing the constraint for the sale of dairy and nourishment

products.

Certain contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment products
include a right of return that give rise to variable consideration.
In estimating the variable consideration, the Group is required to
use either the expected value method or the most likely amount
method based on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that
the estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based
on its historical experience, business forecast and the current
economic conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the
economic life of the commercial property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially
all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of these properties which are leased out and accounts
for the contracts as operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements(Continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the
lease (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualified as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Variable consideration for returns

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of dairy and nourishment products
with rights of return.

The Group developed a statistical model for forecasting sales
returns. The model used the historical return data to come up
with expected return percentages. These percentages are applied
to determine the expected value of the variable consideration.
Any significant changes in experience as compared to historical
return pattern will impact the expected return percentages
estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected returns every half
year and the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. As at 31
December 2020, the amount recognised as refund liabilities was
RMB11,919,000 for the expected returns and trade discounts.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value ("CGU"s) in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2020 was
RMB991,236,000 (2019: RMB991,236,000). Further details are
given in note 17.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other
times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Further details, including a sensitivity
analysis of key assumptions, are given in note 16 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on ageing of the
balances for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions [i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of items of
property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charges where
useful lives are different to those previously estimated, or it will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives
may differ from estimated useful lives; and actual residual values
may differ from estimated residual values. Periodic review could
result in a change in depreciable lives and residual values and,
therefore, depreciation expenses in the future periods.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into business units based on their
products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(a) Milk powder products - this segment includes the
development, manufacture and sale of milk powder products
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and overseas.

(b) Other milk powder products - this segment includes the

production and sale of base powder.

(c) Dissolvable products - this segment includes the
development, manufacture and sale of soymilk powder, rice
flour and cereal products.

(d) Other operations mainly include the sale of surplus raw
materials, and consigned processing operation. The results of
these operations are included in the “others” column.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the senior executive
management team assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of “reportable segment profit”, i.e
“revenue less cost of sales and allocated selling and distribution
expenses”. The Group does not allocate other income and gains,
net finance costs, unallocated other expenses to its segments, as
the senior executive management does not use such information
to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the
operating segments. Segment assets and liabilities are not
regularly reported to the Group’s senior executive management
and therefore information of reportable segment assets and
liabilities is not presented in these financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) b4 B IRER ()

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference DEEIHE REEEREZUEREMERE =
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the EHEMERANEBHETRS °

then prevailing market prices.

Year ended 31 December 2020

HE2020F 12N BLFE
Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
RER HtfRER HEER Hit Rl

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR

Segment revenue (note 5) 2B (H5E5)
Sales to external customers HETINBER 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206
Intersegment sales HEREE - 111,714 - = 111,714
2,975,566 539,098 166,412 79,844 3,760,920

Reconciliation: #l -
Elimination of intersegment sales KA HHEHE - (111,714) - - (111,714)
Revenue PRI ON 3,649,206
Segment results PARE 313,442 31,367 39,512 (89,590) 294,731
Reconciliation: #k
Finance income Sl ON 88,470
Finance costs (other than intereston ~ BIEK A (R BHERE

lease liabilities) BEMFEEEL) (12,921)
Other income and gains A R 102,039
Unallocated other expenses RABHEAM 2 (342,640)
Profit before tax B AR 129,679
Other segment information Hih o HER
Total depreciation and amortisation — #T& K& $H48 %8 73,253 68,505 9,012 4,658 155,428
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SOt SRR M EE (FE)

31 December 2020 2020412 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) L4, BESIRER ()

Year ended 31 December 2019

BE2019F 128318 LFE
Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
PHER AthHER FRBE M Aty a&t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR®TR ARETT AREKTR

Segment revenue (note 5) DEUA (HEES5)
Sales to external customers SHETINERF 2,650,244 574,869 143,203 43,646 3,411,962
Intersegment sales DEffEHE - 69,142 = = 69,142
2,650,244 644,011 143,203 43,646 3,481,104

Reconciliation: #ik -
Elimination of intersegment sales &N HRHE = (69,142) - = (69,142)
Revenue PN 3,411,962
Segment results DEEE 282,022 40,764 16,822 (36,647) 302,961
Reconciliation: #
Finance income 5 UN 94,467
Finance costs (other than interest on  BIFAAR (TEEHRES

lease liabilities) ERRSZH) (8,962)
Other income and gains H A s 28,929
Unallocated other expenses ROBMEM X (314,472)
Profit before tax BRI &R 102,923
Other segment information Hin &R

Total depreciation and amortisation ~ #78& k#5485 65,148 64,401 6,312 2,785 138,646
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31 December 2020 2020412 831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. && 53358 ()

Geographical information BEZFE
2020 2019
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T
Mainland China PR A 3,151,244 2,828,509
Overseas sk Suid 497,962 583,453
3,649,206 3,411,962
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the R AE B AR PR EMEE D -
customers.
Information about a major customer FEEXFHER
Revenue of approximately RMB353,831,000 (2019: U R A A R #353,831,0007T (2019 4F -
RMB508,812,000) was derived from sales by other milk powder AR #508,812,0007T ) Jh 2k B E A 85 & @
products segment to a single customer, including sales to a group DEME-FFHNEE  BEFADAEZE
of entities which are known to be under common control with that PRI — A E A HE -
customer.

5. WA ~ BBl AR Wz
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

WADHTAE -

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers KIBEERE P & R A
Sale of goods HEEm 3,624,284 3,391,734
Consigned processing services RFER I TARTS 24,922 20,228

3,649,206 3,411,962

R REBERERA
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 5. U A - E 4k A & Wik (48)

Revenue from contracts with customers KiBEHERIIISREIBA

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WAEEBBA
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from ATRYHE 2N EBKBEEEFEI SR
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the WA DB EE S R4 :

segment information:

For the year ended 31 December
2020 E2020F 12831 HILFE

Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
IRER HtPRER HEER Hite Bt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRL ARBTR AR®TR ARETR ARETR

Segments Pak: |
Types of goods or services Em R &R
Sale of goods HEER 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 54,922 3,624,284
Consigned processing services R MIRE - - - 24,922 24,922
Total revenue from contracts with  KIFERE AT

customers BRBKA 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206
Geographical markets BEMS
Mainland China LlEipN 2,905,787 12,398 165,895 67,164 3,151,244
Overseas gl 69,779 414,986 517 12,680 497,962

Total revenue from contracts with  {KIFEE ST
customers BREIA 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206

Timing of revenue recognition LON 453

Goods transferred at a point in time AR EE X2 &) 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 54,922 3,624,284
Services transferred at a point RE TR IR
of time - - - 24,922 24,922

Total revenue from contracts with  {KIEERZ F3]57
customers BREIA 2,975,566 427,384 166,412 79,844 3,649,206
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 5. U A - E 4k A & Wik (48)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

EERERITISRKA ()

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

(i) WAEEHAE)

For the year ended 31 December
2019 HE2019F12AN AILFE

Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
MPER HEtihHER HRER Hth G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR%®FT ARETT AR%ETL
Segments 2
Types of goods or services EmR#%ER
Sale of goods HEEM 2,650,244 574,869 143,203 23,418 3,391,734
Consigned processing services AR RS = = = 20,228 20,228
Total revenue from contracts with  (XIFEZRF3] 7
customers ARBKA 2,650,244 574,869 143,203 43,646 3,411,962
Geographical markets WEHE
Mainland China B A B 2,641,937 3,479 143,203 39,890 2,828,509
Overseas g\ 8,307 571,390 - 3,756 583,453
Total revenue from contracts with  KIEER S
customers BREKA 2,650,244 574,869 143,203 43,646 3,411,962
Timing of revenue recognition DO ::A3
Goods transferred at a point in time A2 THEE 2,650,244 574,869 143,203 23,418 3,391,734
Services transferred at a point AR BE ST AR TS
of time - - - 20,228 20,228
Total revenue from contracts with  {KIEEREF3] 7
customers ARBBA 2,650,244 574,869 143,203 43,646 3,411,962
BLFEEZERERAD A
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and
recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:

5. A ~ Hf AR Wz ()

EERERITISRBKA ()

(i)

WAESBAE : (&)

TRETAREHARERN - WERESF
V&R EES RIART RN EOER
AL HE

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AR¥BFIT
Revenue recognised that was included in FUERAERERS A
contract liabilities at the beginning of the ~ FERHIULA
reporting period:
Sale of goods 5 A o 126,938 249,686
Performance obligations lii) R
Information about the Group's performance obligations is REENBHRBOAT
summarised below:
Sale of dairy and nourishment products SHE FL B mAN & & m

Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the dairy
and nourishment products.

Consigned processing services
Revenue from the provision of consigned processing service

is recognised when dairy and nourishment products are

delivered.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H
5. WA ~ HUr A R Wz (48)

HA WA R W SHI DT -

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREBFTT
Other income and gains B A R Kz
Gross rental income from investment KEUFEMELEHER KA
property operating leases
- Income relating to fixed lease payments ~ —EEHEU A 9,816 9,562
Government grants TR B
- Compensation for expenses incurred —HEEAXHAME 11,512 6,145
- Compensation for acquisition of assets — BB EERNMmE 293 885
- Taxes refunded — iR 944 77
Foreign exchange gain,net b W s F /R 40,792 =
Others EA 38,682 12,260
102,039 28,929
6. OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES 6. BB M| R
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Impairment of inventories FEBEEHS 75,281 65,528
Donations jgpe 21,388 30
Net loss on disposal of inventories FTEMEFEL 21,058 4,356
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets  BR & IF & FE K 772 3,200
Foreign exchange losses, net =P e ] = 1,174
Others EHA 33,010 4,548
151,509 84,836

BEABRERARAT 13
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRFADER]

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

A& B H B ADE A TR, (8 ) THIE

i EFS

2020 2019
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARET T AREFIT
Cost of goods sold EmHEKA 2,299,223 2,132,589
Cost of consigned processing ZFEMIALAR
services 16,150 12,602
2,315,373 2,145,191
Depreciation of property, plant and Yz - BE LR ETE 12
equipment 119,452 107,416
Depreciation of investment properties & E 14 3,882 4,037
Depreciation of right-of-use assets L FAEE ERH 15 11,097 10,554
Amortisation of other non-current B IEmB) & E i
assets 3,616 3,627
Amortisation of intangible assets B 16 17,381 13,012
Total depreciation and amortisation FrEREHER 155,428 138,646
Lease payments not included in the HEAEINEEER 15
measurement of lease liabilities 48,397 35,613
Auditors’ remuneration % EREM BN < 2,923 2,944
Employee benefit expense (excluding B E@FIE
directors’ and chief executive's (TNEREESEEETH
remuneration (note 9)): A BB (FIEE9)) -
Wages, salaries and allowances I8  HFa R 424,582 465,179
Termination benefits BB 1,028 11,940
Pension scheme contributions BRIREET IR
(defined contribution schemes) (EEEHIRETED) 3,317 32,976
(Reversal of)/equity-settled share- MRAEAEE AR 1D 2
based payment expenses ChED, (3,380) 15,100
425,547 525,195
Interest income FEUA (78,208) (66,736)
Other investments income E 1% & Was (8,429) (27,731)
Fair value gains of derivative MmEeMIAAREE
instruments, net )l (1,833) -
Total financial income B IR A 425 (88,470) (94,467)
Impairment of trade and B 5 R A M EWFEORE
other receivables, net EZEES 3,758 5,804
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B Ot SRR M (4E)
31 December 2020 2020412 831H
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. B I& R AN
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFIT
Interest on bank loans wholly HARAFRBEEER

repayable within five years RITEFRHFE 12,921 8,962
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHHE 791 854
13,712 9,816

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

The Directors” and chief executive’s remuneration for the years,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1](a), (b), (c]

RIBEE B RN

9. EERERAITEHMH

F15538315(1)(a), (b), (c)A(f)

REZHD (ARESERAEFHORE) -

and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the N
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFIT
Fees e 750 750
Other emoluments HEaHe
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREYH S 2,653 2,175
Performance related bonuses BEE AN ES 6,300 4,208
Pension scheme contributions BRIRESETEIRR - 49
8,953 6,432
9,703 7,182

BEABBREREARAT )15
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 9. BE= R SEETE M (&)
(Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) WIUEMITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during NEEI NGB IFRTESNERAN
the year were as follows: T @
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

- Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben —EEREE 250 250
- Mr. Cheng Shoutai —IESFARSEE 250 250
- Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway — B ERE 250 250
750 750
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent ANEEEES NGB IFNITESANEAM
non-executive directors during the year (2019: nil). BN (20194 : ) o

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the (b)RATTESE  ERITEEHNERRTE
chief executive

Salaries,
allowances,  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
in kind bonuses  contributions Total
Fees e 28 HEE k€  remuneration

i REMAE  ARNRS bIE e FmeE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2020 20206 ARET T ARBT ARET T ARET T ARBT
Executive directors HiES
- Mr. Yan Zhiyuan (i) (il —BHE() (i - 2,562 6,300 - 8,862
- Mr. Chopin Zhang (i} —5&FChopinZt i) - 91 - - 91
Non-executive directors FHTEE
- Mr. Lu Minfang -EfHRE - - - - -
- Mr. Qin Peng o i - - - - -
- Mr. Zhang Ping — k¥ Peterit = = = = =
- Mr. Gu Peij —EEARE - - - - -
- 2,653 6,300 - 8,953
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 9. =R EES TS &M (&)
(Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the

LIBATES  FRTESHHERERTE

chief executive (Continued) (#8)
Salaries,
allowances,  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
in kind bonuses  contributions Total
Fees e 2 R K% remuneration
ik REDNE  ARmEe HE s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2019 2019 ARETT NS ARETT ARETT N S
Executive directors HTES
- Mr. Chopin Zhang iii) — 5= Chopin £ [iil = 2175 4,208 49 6,432
Non-executive directors FHTES
- Mr. Lu Minfang —BSmEE = = - - -
- Mr. Qin Peng o= pirtia = = = - -
- Mr. Zhang Ping — K FPetert £ - - - - =
- Mr. Gu Peiji —BRELE - = = = =
= 2,175 4,208 49 6,432
(i) On 8 January 2020, Mr. Yan Zhiyuan was appointed as the chief executive (i) 2020601 A8H - BEEAEREEFRHITE °
officer.
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. Yan Zhiyuan has been (i) #BZE2020F12ANBIEFE - BEREEFERT
granted certain units of shares and share options by Mengniu Dairy under S ENBREAZE RN EE T ETNET
its share option scheme and share award scheme. The amount of fair value D R BERRHE - BEREEER THZERN X
amortisation of these shares and share options granted to Mr. Yan Zhiyuan AN E 2020512831 B ILEEHN AR BE
during the year ended 31 December 2020 was RMB695,000 (31 December Hi5e s A ARE6950007T(2019412A318 -
2019: nil). The remuneration relating to the share options and shares &) EHESERTHZERRERKEZENME
granted to the directors is not included in the above analysis. AW ARB SN Ll iTH -
(i) On 8 January 2020, Mr. Chopin Zhang resigned as the chief executive liii) 74202051 A8H * 5&kF(Chopin Zhang) R EEHE

BEHITE

officer.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(Continued)

(c) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included one

director (2019: one), details of whose remuneration are set out

in note 9 (b) above. Details of the remuneration for the year of

the remaining four (2019: four) highest paid employees who

are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

follows:

9. EEREREHTEFHM(E)

) ZEEREHEER

rEERUKRESHFALTHBE(L(2019
F:)ES AEREFNMEEND
R EXHEEI (b EE - AFEZN F IO
(20194 : MAE)IEF  FFEFRATER
REF =R TRABNMEIT

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®F T ARETIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYR R 2,962 4,637

Performance related bonuses HEEFANES 11,955 11,688
Pension scheme contributions RREFTEIER

(defined contribution schemes) (FEREHIETE) 130 132

15,047 16,457

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the

following bands is as follows:

S AA T HEBIRSEE S RIFEF AT
BENRSHHMNESZKBENT -

Number of employees

EEZB

2020 2019

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7512 500,001 T2
7513 000,0007C 1 =

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 753,000,001 TE
7513 500,0007T - -

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 75153 500,001 T2
F514.000,0007T 1 1

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 754,000,001 T
784,500,000 - _

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 754,500,001 E
75#5,000,0007C 1 2

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 785,000,001 T2
7515 500,0007T - 1

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 755,500,001 TE
7516,000,0007T - -

HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 756,000,001 7TE
7516,500,0007C - -

HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 756,500,001 T
7517 000,0007T 1 =
4 4
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10.INCOME TAX

PRC income tax has been provided at the rate of 25% (2019: 25%])
on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC during the
year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries (or jurisdictions) in
which the Group operates.

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

10. FR1E%E

R AREFMBHERFRERBEEMNGET
JE R F% i R #%2 25% (20194F ¢ 25% ) M B R &1
H o Hih R ERBUR M BIB NIZ A S H
REFMERR (K AVERER ) NRITHETHE -

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Current income tax BNEARTSHE 3,043 4,864
Deferred income tax IRIEFTISHR 25,555 (14,307)
Tax charge/(credit) for the year ANEFFHBEER, (R 28,598 (9,443)

A reconciliation of the income tax charge/(credit) applicable to
profit before tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate and the
income tax charge/(credit] at the Group's effective income tax
rate for the year is as follows:

EFEER - BRBRFANS RS BEEEAMEH
MEFEMFMEHER (HR) + EIREBA
SEERAMERBERAENMEHER, (K
) HERIAT

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT

Profit before tax PR3 AT A 129,679 102,923
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% 1L B A TE R % 25%

(2019: 25%] (i) (20194 : 25%)(i) 32,420 25,731
Effect of opening deferred tax of changes R GBI F YIRS

in tax rates BREER R 1,095 940
Effect of non-deductible expenses AR A R E 975 626
Effect of tax rate differences (i) TR EH () (21,717) (4,794)
Tax losses not recognised REERTIEE R 38,467 11,610
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B) F LA R W R 1R (15,769) (34,958)
Effect of non-taxable income TERBA R FE (6,873) (8,598)
Tax charge/(credit) for the year REZRERREAEDN

at the effective rate HIEBA(HER) 28,598 (9,443)

BLFEEZERERAD A
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10.INCOME TAX (Continued)

(i) Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC passed

by the Tenth National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007
(the “Income Tax Law”), the statutory income tax rate of
the Group’s subsidiaries located in Mainland China is 25%,
except for Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongonia) Diary Products
Co., Ltd. ("Oushi Mengniu”) and Ya Ou Duo (Inner Mongonia)
Nutrition & Food Co., Ltd. (“Ya Ou Duo”) which are subject to a
preferential tax rate of 15% in accordance with “The Notice of
Tax Policies Relating to The Implementation of Western China
Development Strategy”. Inner Mongonia Yashili Nourishment
Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mongonia Yashili”) is a small and micro
enterprise, which is subject to a preferential tax rate of 5% in
2019, but not applied for 2020.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”], the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2020 is calculated
at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for
the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New Zealand, Yashili
New Zealand is subject to an income tax rate of 28% (2019:
28%) in New Zealand.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

10. FR{S% (&)

(i) REFTEZEARKRAEN2007F3

R16B@BrCHREARIMBMERS
FEYTFBHIE]) ARENRFRA
BoE RO BT B8 A R B0 A TE FTIS BLRL R R 25% o
RIE R RAE I ARREEREE
B REENRA]  AEHBH RS
ARREREFAR (B RFDMAR
aEBZEERMARAR([ENZ )=
BI5%MNERHE - REHHELTFIEER
BRAR(TAREHELTF ) R2019F2/)
M % - ZH%MEBRFE - 2020F T
BiEA o

REFEHENEBRIES ([HBRK
BEDORENER AEEEEERES
BE RRBR LB SHMEAEN o

AEE2020F B BFNSHBEURNTE
REETE R B F - 1ERR16.5%(20194F
16.5% ) AT R5HE ©

RIBEF AR BER AR E MER - Tl
T HT U B ERANE TE 28% (20194F © 28%)
RIFTISFERL R o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B Ot SRR M (4E)
31 December 2020 2020412 831H

11.EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 11. B A S BEREZEEAELNSE

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT BRZEF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based SREARNBRNTVEBEANR AR LT @ER
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of BEEAELREINGUAFEARND ZTEEK
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares B 0 RE 7 15 B 4,745,560,296 % (2019 £F -
of 4,745,560,296 (2019: 4,745,560,296) in issue during the year. 4,745,560,296% 5T & o
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue ANEEEE2020F12A3181E - BB ERE
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: nil). @S 357 T (2019412 8318 : &) -
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are SAESREANMESERBNSEENMT
based on:
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Earnings: Vs

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders IR EFAE RSS2 H K
BIRRIEBERRTA AR
earnings per share calculations 101,081 112,366

of the parent, used in the basic and diluted

Number of shares

R EE
2020 2019
‘000 000
TR TR
Shares: & -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 5t & &I EAR R E 2|
for the purpose of the basic and diluted Pt AR B & B AR hniE 19 8L
earnings per share calculations 4,745,560 4,745,560
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

12.9% - MERRE

Machinery Office
Freehold Plant and and Motor  equipment
land buildings  equipment vehicles  and others Total
BER HER WOER
BELH i £3 R waE  HtRE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2020 2020% ARETT ARBTR AREMTR AR%TR AR®TT AR¥TR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2020 R202061 A1R 53,021 920,395 1,612,379 18,066 72,926 2,676,787
Additions NE - 840 57,983 - 6,698 65,521
Transfer from construction in BEATRTE
progress (note 13) (PzE13) - 30,251 27,882 - 4,229 62,362
Transfer from investment BREARENE
properties [note 14) (PrsE14) - 23,073 - - - 23,073
Disposals RE = (1,256) (35,603) (3,762) (12,426) (53,047)
Exchange realignment [ 87 638 1,335 1 1 2,072
At 31 December 2020 12020412 A31H 53,108 973941 1,663,976 14,305 71438 2,776,768
Accumulated depreciation and TR RAE |
impairment:
At 1 January 2020 P202041A1R = (286,580) (779,305) (15,360) (45,873)  (1,127,118)
Depreciation provided during EREHRR TE
the year (note 7) i) - (40,852) (69,430) (313) (8,857) (119,452)
Transfer from investment BREAREME
properties [note 14) (PirsE14) - (17,331) - - - (17,331)
Disposals RE - 423 7,824 3,585 6,176 18,008
Exchange realignment R - (91) (312 (1) (4) (408)
At 31 December 2020 R2020612 4318 = (344,431) (841,223) (12,089) (48,558  (1,246,301)
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 31 December 2020 120206124318 53,108 629,510 822,753 2,216 22,880 1,530,467
At 1 January 2020 R202041A18 53,021 633,815 833,074 2,706 27,053 1,549,669

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2020



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 12.9% - RERZE(E)

Machinery Office
Freehold Plant and and Motor  equipment
land buildings  equipment vehicles  and others Total
&5 K& e R RAER
BELH BT e HeE  HiRE G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2019 20195 ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2019 R201961 718 51,871 863,664 1,594,648 20,120 49,212 2,539,515
Additions NE - 27,441 5,720 - 20,799 53,960
Transfer from construction in ERAEETRE

progress [note 13) (P3213) - 22,846 65,137 - 5,441 93,424
Transfer to investment properties ~ ERFRENE

(note 14) (M&E14) - (62,752) = = - (62,752)
Transfer from investment properties 88 5 &Y%

(note 14) (M&E14) - 40,758 - - - 40,758
Disposals RE - - (30,868 2,064) (2,690) (35,622)
Exchange realignment xR 1,150 8,438 17,742 10 164 27,504
At 31 December 2019 20194124318 53,021 920,395 1,612,379 18,066 72,926 2,676,787
Accumulated depreciation and RAHERAE

impairment:

At 1 January 2019 20191718 = (249,923) (732,561) (16,259) (30,168) (1,028 911)
Depreciation provided during FREHRN TE

the year (note 7) (H3E7) - (33,530) (55,517) (923) (17,446)  (107,416)
Transfer to investment BRERENE

properties (note 14) (PirzE14) - 282 - - - 282
Transfer from investment ERERENF

properties (note 14) (BizE14) - (2,088) = = = (2,088]
Disposals RE = = 13,343 1,832 1,796 16,971
Exchange realignment EEREE - (1,321) (4,570) (10) (55 (5,956)
At 31 December 2019 20194124318 = (286,580) (779,305) (15,360) (45,873)  (1,127,118)
Net carrying amount: SRIERME -

At 31 December 2019 120194124318 53,021 633,815 833,074 2,706 27,053 1,549,669
At 1 January 2019 R2019%1 718 51,871 613,741 822,087 3,861 19,044 1,510,604

All the property, plant and equipment of Yashili New Zealand
amounting to RMB953,783,000 (31 December 2019: RMB999,041,000)
were collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili
New Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

iR IR EE AR 953,783,0007T (2019
F12A8318 : AR¥999,041,0007T) K9 %)
¥ BEREZHEAREMRKERAER
FEHILENERANREEE R ARYE
40,020,0007T °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B Ot R R B (&)
31 December 2020 2020412A31H
13.CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS BEEZEIR
2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B =E AR®T T ARETTT
Cost A
At beginning of the year REF 63,414 85,677
Additions il 48,135 70,978
Transfer to property, EEEYE 12
plant and equipment = 2 7% (62,362) (93,424)
Exchange realignment b R R 12 183
At end of the year RER 49,199 63,414
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A31BEREREE 49,199 63,414

All the construction in progress of Yashili New Zealand amounting
to RMB4,205,000 (31 December 2019: RMB5,964,000) were
collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili New
Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

HTru R FL 2 EE A R ¥ 4,205,0007T (20194
128318 : AR#5,964,0007T) ERETE
ARER AR AR I EERAN
A= 58/ HATA#5 40,020,000 JT °




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 1LIRE Y
2020 2019
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iE=3 AR¥ET T AREFTT
Cost: R :
At beginning of the year REH] 95,338 93,344
Transfer from property, plant and EEAME  BE
equipment P& 12 - 42,752
Transfer to property, plant and EEEYE - BE
equipment B 12 (23,073) (40,758)
At end of the year NER 72,265 95,338
Accumulated depreciation: R2IITE -
At beginning of the year REFT (21,790) (19,559)
Charge for the year FAE 7 (3,882) (4,037)
Transfer from property, plant and ERBEYE BB
equipment P& 12 = (282)
Transfer to property, plant and HEEYE - BE
equipment B 12 17,331 2,088
At end of the year RER (8,341) (21,790)
Carrying amount RERWERHEEE
at end of the year 63,924 73,548

The Group’s investment properties consist of several units and
car parks in a commercial building in Mainland China.

The fair value of the investment properties, as determined by the
directors of the Company, based on the market approach with
reference to market transaction prices of similar properties,
taking into account other factors, i.e., characteristics of the
properties and locations, was estimated to be approximately
RMB171,950,000 at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019:
RMB167,074,000). The fair value measurements of the Group's
investment properties are categorised within Level 2.

REBZIREMHE B P B —1ER %
REREEE T R FEAARMK

ARAFMES2BEAUMENTISZERFHE
% WwERIEMAOEE  WZMENR
BB UTSATFHEZREDER
20200512 AN BN AABENAARE
171,950,0007C (20194128318 : AR
167,074,0007T) - "EB 2 IREMELRE
B ERENEITH -

HETREREZRERA T
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant and
buildings, machinery and equipment motor vehicles used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of
these land leases. Leases of plant and buildings generally have
lease terms between 3 and 6 years. Leases of machinery and
equipment generally have lease terms of 5 years, while motor
vehicles generally have lease terms between 2 and 4 years. Other
equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/
or is individually of low value. The lease contracts of building and
machinery include extension and termination options. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

5. HE

ESEBEA

AEERABE BT  KBELRE - EH
BREZHEEAR - BE—RMEXN  BE
HEHRS0FHHEE LR - RIELTH
ERRIGK - B TEBETNRK - BERE
THESHRBERIZCF - BBERRED
HEHRARERF  ERRENEEHRE
FR2ELE - Rt REBREHEHMR/ 12
BAY A, HEEFEERRE - HREFR
EHANHEABTEHARILEERE - BF -
SERRHIERBZIINEZMEHEHEDN

(a) EFAEEE

A B0 52 PR HE A B HORRTE R UA R A
MBEBERIT

Machinery
Plant and and Motor Land
buildings equipment vehicles use rights Total
BEREF HERRE BRRE T RE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AEETFT ARBFT ARBFT ARETFT
As at 1 January 2019 220191818 27,175 462 88,002 117,570
Additions AR 4,368 - 1,188 - 5,556
Depreciation charge REHH (7,828) (51) (301) (2,374) (10,554)
Exchange differenceson  IMNERERITEZH
translation of financial
statements 34 43 10 - 87
Asat31December 2019  EHZE2019F12A831R
and 1 January 2020 &2020F1A1H 23,749 1,923 1,359 85,628 112,659
Additions AR = - - - R
Depreciation charge NS §i (6,763) (1,280 (680) (2,374) (11,097)
Exchange differenceson  AMNERERITEZH
translation of financial
statements (55) (57) (30) - (142)
Asat 31 December 2020  #HZE2020F12A31H 16,931 586 649 83,254 101,420

All the right-of-use assets of Yashili New Zealand amounting
to RMB3,304,000 (31 December 2019: RMB6,884,000] were
collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili
New Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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P ILEEEARKS,304,0007C(2019
128318 : AR¥6,884,0007T) B{ FB
B E AR ER A A 3L
¥R {F RS R8E H AT 41 #40,020,000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. A& (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

EREEAR)

(b) Lease liabilities

(b) HEAME

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

ARENAERENRDSBARAFH
2T

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January FUREEE 28,049 29,568
New leases STIEMEE = 5,556
Accretion of interest recognized during  ZANFHERF &
the year 791 854
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HNESRERITE 58
financial statements of group entities (137) 86
Payments A+ (8,701) (8,015)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from ZIEHEENEEH R
lessors (463) =
Carrying amount at 31 December FAREMEE 19,539 28,049
Current portion FARBEE 8,839 9,378
Non-current portion FTASEREI A& 10,700 18,671

are as follows:

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

(c) "EEABEANEEERBEROT :

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAETRFE 791 854
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEETE 11,097 10,554
Expense relating to short-term leases %5 #iFH & LA & EoAth ¢4
and other leases with remaining lease TS HiE R F R
terms ended on or before 31 December 12 A31HMNHEEE M 43,994 32,488
Expense relating to leases of low-value {KEHENHEE A
assets 4,403 3,125
Covid-19-related rent concessions from ZIEEEINHE SR %
lessors (463) =
Total amount recognised in profit or loss &R 45T 59,822 47,021
BELRERERERA A 227
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows
relating to leases that have not yet commenced are
disclosed in note 30 and note 32, respectively, to the financial
statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) of
commercial properties under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB9,816,000 (2019:
RMB9,562,000]).

At 31 December 2020, the undiscounted minimum lease payments
receivables by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

15 FHE (&)

EREEAR)

(d) FAEAEREEER &R A R R R P 2R 9
EHIRACR R B+ B MO I
2o

ESHBEA

SEGEREEFSETNAEYE(HE
16) HNETIREMRE - ZHEERFRE R
MABMERE  EREDHBEREHHE
M KSEAFRIANEHBARARE
9,816,0007T(2019 : AR¥9,562,0007T) °

HZE2020F12A31H - AEBEEALRHN
NG EHENRITR R EERARE
W

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Within one year —F AR 6,685 9,030
After one year but within two years —F A ERFELAR 6,151 6,728
After two years but within three years FF LA E=F AR 4,242 5,861
After three years but within four years =F A FMFEAR 3,197 1,341
After four years but within five years HEF A ERFLAR 2,654 1,309
After five years FEFEUE 2,436 3,810
25,365 28,079

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16, B EEE
Software Trademarks Total
0 A &5t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2020 2020%12A31H Bk ARMT T AR¥T T ARBT T
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of FFE
accumulated amortisation 63,247 283,047 346,294
Purchased BE 17,743 - 17,743
Disposals BRE (1,119) - (1,119)
Amortisation provided AREEH
during the year 7 (17,381) - (17,381)
Exchange realignment b R 2 4 - 4
At 31 December 2020 FRFE 62,494 283,047 345,541
At 31 December 2020 FER
Cost B AR 113,914 283,047 396,961
Accumulated amortisation BT (51,420) - (51,420)
Net carrying amount FRFE 62,494 283,047 345,541
Software Trademarks Total
gt [k &t
Note RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
31 December 2019 20194124318 BsE ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Cost at 1 January 2019, net of F%E
accumulated amortisation 44,925 283,047 327,972
Purchased BE 31,244 = 31,244
Disposals BE - - -
Amortisation provided REHEH
during the year 7 (13,012) - (13,012)
Exchange realignment EXREE) 90 = 90
At 31 December 2019 FRFE 63,247 283,047 346,294
At 31 December 2019 FR
Cost B 102,087 283,047 385,134
Accumulated amortisation R 5 (38,840 = (38,840
Net carrying amount FRFE 63,247 283,047 346,294

R REBERERA
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

All the intangible assets of Yashili New Zealand amounting
to RMB1,050,000 (31 December 2019: RMB1,662,000) were
collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili New
Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the intangible assets
represented trademarks with indefinite useful lives identified
in acquisition, and purchased and customised software held by
the Group. Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in
“Administrative expenses”, “Selling and distribution expenses”
and “Cost of sales”.

Impairment testing of trademarks

The recoverable amount of the Dumex infant formula products
CGU to which the trademarks belong has been determined based
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection is 16.02% (2019: 14.31%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the Dumex infant formula products
CGU beyond the five-year period is 3% (2019: 3%).

A decrease in the growth rate by 2% would cause the recoverable
amount of the Dumex infant formula products CGU to decrease
by approximately RMB21,319,000. A decrease in the gross
margin by 2% would cause the recoverable amount of the Dumex
infant formula products CGU to decrease by approximately
RMB20,048,000. An increase in the discount rate by 2% would
cause the recoverable amount of the Dumex infant formula
products CGU to decrease by approximately RMB20,738,000. In
the opinion of the Company’s directors, any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the Dumex infant formula products CGU’s
carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

6. BEEE (&)

TP FLEEEE A K% 1,050,0007T (20194
12A318 : AR¥1,662,0007T) EREE
FRAREA S IERAER B I E A F AR
FASEA/E HET41%40,020,000 7T ©

R2020F12 331 A %2019 123318 » &
BERWIETHARERFZn M EENER
MBE LI ROBAKREFHOU - B
BEBEAITRAX] - [#HE REHRA
XIR[HERA] -

T R Y K

RZFBERNZERE RS NNEMES
ERBEARNAIKESRE I NESREEAE
HEN R FHBE IR AE%E - FKAR
EREBAAEMSNERAEETUESE -
HERFHURRESREMAIREAE16.02%
(20194F : 14.31%)  ZREE N T
BeEAXEMNRSREBEERRBBERERF
H 7 BATS TR E 1 TE 3% (20194F : 3%) ©

WA RETE2%MERT - ZFREERE
FMERBeELBITESHAIKE S EE
15 T B AR #21,319,0007T © £ EF R TR
2%MIBRAT - EERBBREFIDMEDRR
eEDBEITMASHAESER TEARE
20,048,0007T ° fEHTH K EA2%HBERT -
SEBBRAEANPHERRSELETAS
/) AT U [B] & B8 1 T P& A R % 20,738,000 7T ©
ARAREBRERE Tt EERAEERES
HE TERENEMAENSEZSHENRN
AT EERELERLERR T NIVERBSE
LEBEMASNIRAEEBBEAIKEESEE -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment testing of trademarks (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the calculation of value in use as at 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019. The following describes
key assumptions based on which management prepared the cash

flow projections to undertake impairment testing of trademarks:

al

b)

c)

Budgeted gross margin - The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in prior historical years, adjusted for
the expected efficiency improvements and expected increase
in production costs.

Discount rate - The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

Growth rate - The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond the five-year period are based on the estimated
growth rate taking into account the industry growth rate, past
experience and the medium or long term growth target of the
relevant CGU.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market

development of dairy products, discount rates and raw materials

price inflation are consistent with external information sources.

B Ot SRR M (4E)
31 December 2020 2020412 831H

6. BEEE (&)

T R (R K ()

FE5TE 202012 531 H % 201912 531 HEY
FHEERRAETRS BTEEEEFERS
RETEETEERENRMEENEZR
REFMAT ¢

o) METH%—ARETEEENEEED
BRT S EERRE A ZELTFHE
FI% - 3 FABTAR T AR T R R A AN
KT T AR -

b) #rIR K — AT R 5T AT AR A B
TEHEMNRERR o

o BRIX-ARBEERFHUARRESREN
BEX  DAGFHEREREE  WER
TTHRIEREX BEKRNEARSELS
I REPER BIZEAEMS

ERFERMISERBER - FHEMERME
BEREEH N T BMRRHOEEEINEEBIRFIR
— o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

17. GOODWILL 7. 8
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETFIT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1ATBFI12A31B#Y
and 31 December BREEE 991,236 991,236

In 2016, Yashili (Guangdong) (the “acquirer”), a subsidiary of
the Group, acquired a 100% equity interest in Dumex China (the
“acquiree”). The business acquisition gave rise to goodwill of
RMB718,476,000.

In 2015, Yashili (Guangdong] (the “acquirer”), a subsidiary of the
Group, acquired a 100% interest in Oushi Mengniu (the “acquiree”),
a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, which is also the ultimate holding
company of the Group. The acquirer recorded goodwill amounting
to RMB272,760,000, which was originally recorded in the book of
Mengniu Dairy as a result of Mengniu Dairy’s acquisition of Oushi
Mengniu in previous year.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the following cash-generating unit for impairment testing which is
in line with the way in which the Company manages its business:

e Milk powder products cash-generating unit group

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the milk powder
products cash-generating unit group is RMB991,236,000.

The recoverable amount of the milk powder products cash-
generating unit group has been determined based on value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 15.81% (2019:
15.45%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of
the milk powder products CGU beyond the five-year period is 3%
(2019: 3%).

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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MR20165F  AEBH—RFAFHLTF(E
R)(TWER D) - W% ([
77 1)100%& & - LIEXBRETREBAR
#718,476,0007T Z & o

R2015%F - B F(ER)(TWET]) - A%
B —RTRAE - YWE TR (M5B
I D(AEENZERARRFIARN—RTA
A])H9100% 842 - WEETTRRERCE: T AR
#1272,760,000THAE - ZEERBEFE
SFARWBRME SR IEREL -

o i {5 R K

BERGAHELENEEREEERBNT
AW D ECEIA TN IREE B BT EE AR E
Al

o MEMBTELEVES

WHORENMERBRcELEEMBEENEE
AAR®991,236,0007T °

MMERRSEREMAESHNAKEESEET)
LERREREABRENAFMRELE KA
AAEEZE RARSRERAFTEREHE
FAEETUNEE HELAFHUERESRE
FIBLIR K 515.81% (20194 : 15.45%) ° &)
EREABMNRSREERXRERERSF
B2 B TS TR E W TE /3% (20194F : 3%) ©



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

A decrease in the growth rate by 3% would cause the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to decrease by approximately
RMB1,803,714,000. A decrease in the gross margin by 2% would
cause the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
decrease by approximately RMB1,710,754,000. An increase in
the discount rate by 3% would cause the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to decrease by approximately
RMB1,205,273,000. In the opinion of the Company’s directors,
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which
the recoverable amount is based would not cause the cash-
generating unit’'s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable
amount.

Assumptions were used in the value in use of calculation as at
31 December 2020 and 2019. The following describes the key
assumptions, based on which management prepared cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

a) Budgeted gross margin - The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in prior historical years, adjusted for
the expected efficiency improvements and expected increase
in production costs.

b) Discount rate - The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant group of CGU.

c) Growth rate - The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond the five-year period are based on the estimated
growth rate taking into account the industry growth rate, past
experience and the medium or long term growth target of the
relevant CGU.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of dairy products, discount rates and raw materials’
price inflation are consistent with external information sources.

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

17. HE (&)

o R E A (4D

WAERERTREI%NHIBERT » BINERR
CEHETHGNATKESES TRAR
#51,803,714,000 7T * £ EF & T £ 2%H) 15
AT IHERRESELETHES A
[B] & %8 % T f& A R % 1,710,754,000 7T © 7£
PWIRRR EA3%MBERT  IHERBES
EHETHAMATRESES TEARE
1,205,273,0007C - A A RIEEERE 5T
HEAEAERERANE TERERMEMAIER
EESHHERN HTSEBNERRS
ERBEVAEHIREEERBAETEI SR o

FEETE 20204 2019412 A31 B BEE
BEEAETRERE SEEBEEGBESRETEN
ETEESRENRMKENEEREF0nm
—F 2

a) BEEMNX-AREEEEENXEERD
BEENERERREFENZELFHE
M R ETRET BRI MR EK
ZRIEINT T PAGHEE o

b) #TIRE — P AITIR R THHL AT R AR B REIR
SEHBEMNFERE o

o BRX-ANHERFHURRESREN
BRE  DAGFHEREREE - WER
TRBEREX - BEKRNERRSELS
I REBER B IR EMSG

ERIEMMIBERIFRN  FIRERMRMF
EREZHNEERRNEBELDINBBIEIR
—H-
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SOt SRR M EE (FE)
31 December 2020 2020412 A31H

18. DEFERRED TAX 18. I|RAE B IE

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the FREEFEREEBMEEBNESIT
year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets BIEFRBIREE
Impairment Tax losses Accruals Others Total
EERE BiEE BRER it &t
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARETTT NS ARETTT ARETT ARETTT
At1 January 2020 120201818 16,083 130,169 218,909 20,551 385,712
(Credited)/Debited to the FRRNERRFAR
statement of profit or loss EREHE 10 (6,862) 94,221 (100,889) 1,246) [14,776)
Charged to other 2 ERER
comprehensive income Y& - 59 - - 59
At 31 December 2020 120208128318 9,221 224,449 118,020 19,305 370,995
At 1 January 2019 R2019%1818 15,081 128,977 197,785 29,193 371,036
(Credited)/Debited to the FRRERRFAR
statement of profit or loss A 10 1,002 122 21,124 8,642) 13,606
Charged to other B2 EMEN
comprehensive income T - 1,070 - - 1,070

At 31 December 2019 R2019E12A318 16,083 130,169 218,909 20,551 385,712




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2020 2020412 831H

18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 18 IEREREIE (48)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRRIRA R
Accelerated

Interest depreciation of
income property, plant
accruals and equipment

EHER BEEE Others Total
MEFER EFE Hity =)
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

Py ARBTTT ARBTTT ARBTTT ARBTTT

At 1 January 2020 720201718 9,265 - 31 9,296
Debited to the statement FRRIEZFEFTA
of profit or loss HIRAERTE 10 1,373 9,406 - 10,779
At 31 December 2020 72020 12H31H 10,638 9,406 31 20,075
At 1 January 2019 720191 H1H 9,966 - 31 9,997
Credited to the statement FRREZRK A
of profit or loss BIRETIE 10 (701) - - (701)
At 31 December 2019 7201912 H31H 9,265 - 31 9,296
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARETFTT
Represented by: EfRafE
- Deferred tax assets —IEETIREE 370,995 385,712
- Deferred tax liabilities —EEHRBRE (20,075) (9.296)
350,920 376,416
All the deferred tax assets of Yashili New Zealand amounting to PRI EBE AR 26,921,000 (201945
RMB26,921,000 (31 December 2019: RMB26,524,000) were 12A318 : AR¥26,524,0007T) HIEFET IR
collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili New BEANBERSERNETRFEBILETE
Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000. RS 5EE 541 #%540,020,000 7T ©
Management expects that it is probable that taxable profits will ERERHARFEAAIREHB BRI
be available against which the above tax losses and deductible - AT AR 0 b st B TR 5 18 K R A0 R B
temporary differences can be utilised in the coming years. MER

R REBERERA
20204F 3 235



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 18, MEFEF 78 (48)
The Group has tax losses arising in New Zealand of RMB96,145,000 AREERTAREANTREERARE
on which deferred tax assets have been recognised (31 December 96,145,0007T 2 i RR AL T IE & 2 (20194512
2019: RMB95,518,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting B318 : ARE#95518,0007T) + A] fE R HAK
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the FHETIR A B Y AR IR FERL 2 Al o

losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of NEFBRFEAWELENBRIBERAARE
RMB797,872,000 on which deferred tax assets have been 797,872,000 T & & 2R AL 7 18 & & (2019 4F
recognised (31 December 2019: RMB413,698,000) that will expire 128318 : ARE#413,698,0007T) * #57—
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. ERERm - AR R ER A o
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the EEFIBEE AR NYEBER :

following item:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Tax losses arising in Mainland China (i) AR B K e /2 A O B TR S 1B (i) 1,892,426 1,545,471
Tax losses arising in New Zealand (ii) RETPE R E R FIEEE) 324,043 23,758
2,216,469 1,569,229
li) The above tax losses are available for a maximum of five years to offset against (i)  FaFHTEEIE AT A LR A R E £ E1E B R ER DA
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. HERZRF -
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above item as MR FIENRLERIBEEEL R T AR - REZAR
it is not considered probable that there will be taxable profit available to offset BN AR REHE S AR R IERT R A AR S AR B A BE
against the tax losses in the future. THEE -
[i) The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future (i) 75 T 5 18 AT DA A PR ER 4 KBS 1R 18 B O AR 2R FE Bt Ve
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. FJ o
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above item as B EMEEABREREEEL AR TAER - REZA
it is not considered probable that there will be taxable profit available to offset SE T KA B R R ER B FE A SR BB
against the tax losses in the future. TR ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The following deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised in
respect of the following items:

At 31 December 2020, temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in
Mainland China amounted to RMB666,429,000 (31 December
2019: RMB543,415,000). Deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised in respect of the withholding tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these retained earnings, as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries in Mainland
China and the directors have determined that these profits are
not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

19. INVENTORIES

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

18. IEAER IH (4]

19.

AERHREHARE

72020F12 8318 » EAfE A B RFERK LAY F
RENRDEAEEHCEREEZEER/AR
#666,429,0007C (2019412 A31H : ARE
543,415,0007T ) ° ERAZR A A14% fil i S 1E
BAERNTARMBREEER  WAESE#®
ER A B8 s F &N & o8B - BRE
BRRDBILEB TR AZHNTTER
MABELEHBAE -

FE
2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

Finished goods B i 483,555 333,733
Raw materials R R 359,722 262,689
Work in progress e 109,328 301,439
Packing materials BEME 29,767 24,391
Low value consumables EEBEER 2,388 1,766

984,760 924,018

All the inventories of Yashili New Zealand including amounting
to RMB202,258,000 (31 December 2019: RMB244,793,000) were
collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili New
Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

PR FLEEE AR 202,258,0007T (2019
F128318 + ARM244,793,00070) HFE
AR AR s B R A BT A B S AT 5 AR
B 5A/E HAT41#40,020,000 Tt °

2. B Z EWFR

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Trade receivables B 5 ek 103,219 164,614
Provision for impairment B (12,053) (11,982)
91,166 152,632
BELRERERERA A

2020 3R
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group normally allows a credit limit and credit term to its
customers which is adjustable in certain circumstances. The
Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

20 BEZ B (&)

AEEBARGRTEPREEEREMEREY

R YAEREBATAE - AKENES
EH&%&E@K%T\WE%UE’J@EE@ R
BEAEESTRR - B 5 IR &M 5

B o
/Th

RmEMR - BNGRBEORERTIZER
BRI DT

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT

Within 3 months =fE@A A 80,472 119,984
3to 6 months =ZNE@A 8,817 29,837
6 months to 1 year NMEAZE—F 1,407 1,118
1to 2 years —FEWF 470 1,693

91,166 152,632

All the trade receivables of Yashili New Zealand amounting
to RMB60,507,000 (31 December 2019: RMB33,991,000) were
collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili New
Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

I EEEARK60,507,0007T(20194F
128318 : ARK#33,991,0007C) HE 5 fEU
AR ERAEERFABILEE R
R (=58 /E S5 40,020,000 JT °

B RUGBE R B EEIT

2020 2019

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Mt =E ARBT T ARBFIT

At beginning of year REA] 11,982 7,553
Impairment losses, net BB KT 7 7 4,429
At end of year RER 12,053 11,982
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date

using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.

The provision rates are based on the ageing of the balances

for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss

patterns (i.e., by customer type]. The calculation reflects the

probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and

reasonable and supportable information that is available at the

reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts

of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

20 BEZEBW (&)

BEKSHBHBERREREEETHED
i ARt ERBERER - BEXRERNASR
BUBRAEANSETFENSA(IRER

$BE) HIBRERTETE o

&t ERBR TR i AE

R EEEREEEN NSRS EHAESNE
RBEZM - BRI AR R BN FER
MAEARXENE

AEBE ZRUEKERBREBEEENEERR

MEEHEIMT -

Ageing
IR
Less than 1to2 Over
1 year years 2 years Total
As at 31 December 2020 M2020512831H —FUR —FERF MERE e
Expected credit loss rate TREAEREA R 9% 83% 100%
Gross carrying amount REREER
(RMB’000) (AR¥ETIT) 99,532 2,789 898 103,219
Expected credit losses TREAEAER
(RMB’000) (AR¥TIT) 8,836 2,319 898 12,053
Ageing
Less than 1to?2 Over
1 year years 2 years Total
As at 31 December 2019 F2019612A318 —FUR —FERF LA E #ET
Expected credit loss rate TREAERtER X 2% 81% 100%
Gross carrying amount HBHRTEE(E
(RMB000) (AR®TIT) 154,736 8,729 1,149 164,614
Expected credit losses TREAEAER
(RMB’000) (AR¥ETIT) 3,797 7,036 1,149 11,982
BERBEBRZERERRD A

2020 3R
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

2. FANFIE - HEKREAR A

ASSETS BE

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Value-added tax recoverable FIEFNR(ER 31,515 29,278
Prepayments for purchase of raw materials 3 & R R A TBHER 71,900 15,535

Prepayments for purchase of advertising B EERX
services 11,835 8,482
Interest receivable TELUS R B 10,220 3,817
Advances to sales offices BiEEER € 4,555 2,957
Others HAith 44,760 152,261
174,785 212,330
Less: Non-current prepayments B —FAENRSFEER (403) (4,135)
Impairment allowance TEER (2,637) (2,697)
171,745 205,498

All the prepayments, other receivables and other assets of
Yashili New amounting to RMB 16,838,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB7,692,000) were collateralised for the banking facilities
available to Yashili New Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

Except the amounts disclosed above, the amounts as at 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and had no fixed terms of repayment.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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FEBE AL EMNEBEEARE16,838,0007T(2019
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

22. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS/STRUCTURAL 2. B/ i B¢ mEE EEMEB1T
BANK DEPOSITS 75

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Structural bank deposits (i)(ii) BRI TSR ) 101,764 593,960
Commercial bank wealth investment BT EREE M)

products (iii) 20,000 37,691

Bills receivablel(iv) FEUZR K (iv) = 11,743

121,764 643,394

(i) At 31 December 2020, the structural bank deposits purchased

from commercial banks were for treasury management
for fixed terms within 1 year. The expected annual rates of
structural bank deposits ranged from 1.82% to 3.50% (31
December 2019: 1.30% to 6.10%). The Group measured the
structural bank deposits at fair value through profit and loss.

(i) At 31 December 2020, the structural bank deposits amounting

to RMB100,000,000 were pledged for bank loans (31 December
2019: nil).

(iii) At 31 December 2020, the Group's commercial bank

wealth investment products were mainly financial products
purchased from banks with an good credit ratings, which the
Group measured the structural bank deposits at fair value
through profit and loss, with an expected annual interest rate
of 1.20% to 1.90% (31 December 2019: 3.65%). The investment
products were acquired with original maturity of one month
to one year and were not allowed to be withdrawn prior to the
maturity date without the banks’ consent.

At 31 December 2020, no bank wealth management products
(31 December 2019: RMB26,722,000) were pledged for certain
bank loans. (31 December 2019: RMB26,831,000).

(iv)] At 31 December 2020, the Group has no bills receivable (31

December 2019: bills receivable amounting to RMB11,743,000
measured at fair value through profit and loss).

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

2020512 8318 © AEETEAER
EEEMNAEERTEE1FRNIHNGE
BUHRTHER - HHNFERNEE1.82%
Z£3.50% (2019412 8318 : 1.30% =
6.10%) * BB HEERUAREBEEFZ
BEEFHT A BN MEEZE -

M2020512H318 ' 45 AARE
100,000,000 7T A 45 1 14 4R 77 77 2045 4 3
AR ERRITER(2019F12A31H :
) o

72020512310 - AEEB R FERT
BWEMRTERERENEEFENRT

BENSRER  KEREESUAARE
EFfEREZHHABTNEREEZ

& FEHNFEFEE1.20%21.90%(2019
128318 : 3.65%) ° LI E A —E
AE—FZHB R BRITHRET
SHE -

R2020F12A31H - ERHERTHE
WEEM(2019F12A31H : AR
26,722,0007T ) # E R AR EEERTE &
(2019412 A31H : A R % 26,831,000
JT) °

120206128318 - AEEEEKNEE
(20194128318 : AR¥11,743,0007C
HEWEREAUARBEIEAHRE
FFABRNEREERE) -

HETREREZRERA T
2020 5
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BOTEEMIA
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE = BE BE

Foreign currency forward  =HISNES L

contracts 2,175 262 - -

The Group had foreign currency forward contracts with a bank to

manage its exchange rate risk. These forward contracts are not

designated for hedging purposes and are measured at fair value

through profit or loss.

All the derivative financial assets of Yashili New Zealand
amounting to RMB2,175,000 (31 December 2019: nil) were
collateralised for the banking facilities available to Yashili New

Zealand amounting to NZD40,020,000.

24, CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER DEPOSITS 24

AEEAEEEXRER - BIRTTII LRI
ek ZEHAOALIFEEL AR - X
BAREE ABRTE -

MR ILEEEAR2,175,0007T(20194F
12A318 : #)NITE SR EERARNEHE
RAEERF @A E N ERNBREREE KR
#1% 40,020,000 T °

RERBRTEHRRRIEER

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in

BHESRERMIIRE

the consolidated statement of cash flows KRG EEY) 1,818,288 576,164
Pledged deposits PRl BRI T 3K 150,261 9,968
Time deposits with original maturity of REEBEAE=@AMNUE

more than three months EHAITE R 998,634 1,474,160

2,967,183 2,060,292
Less: Short-term pledged deposits for B RITRE 2RES
banking facilities SEIVER 150,261 9,968
Less: Long-term bank deposits B REBIRITIFER 736,004 546,091
Cash and bank balances as stated in B HISARR K FTF3R &
the consolidated statement of financial KERTTHEBR
position 2,080,918 1,504,233
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

24. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER DEPOSITS

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

UWRERBRITERERREFEFM

(Continued) (&)
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
The above balances denominated in: AR5 EEFIER IR
MERTTHE R -
- RMB —ARE 2,505,205 1,762,222
- Hong Kong dollar ("HKD") — Bk 160,811 1,831
- United States dollar ("USD”) —3E7T 151,915 185,877
- New Zealand dollar (“NZD") — 4 116,101 10,332
- European dollar ("EUR") — BT 26,322 59,487
- Australian dollar (“AUD") —BIT 6,829 40,543
2,967,183 2,060,292

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market interest
rates. As at 31 December 2020, the effective annual interest rates
of short-term time deposits were approximately 1.93% to 4.18%
(31 December 2019: 1.36% to 5.00%), which would be due within a
year. The effective interest rate of long-term deposits was 3.14%
to 4.18% (31 December 2019: 1.95% to 4.18%). The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2020, the long-term bank deposits amounting
to RMB146,000,000 were pledged for bank loans amounting to
RMB326,664,000 (31 December 2019: nil). As at 31 December
2020, the long-term bank deposits amounting to RMB9,108,000
and a deposit of RMB20,261,000 were pledged for bank
acceptance bills (31 December 2019: RMB90,000,000).

ARBUIFAERAEESEMBESR - A -
RIB P BURPE RO HMNE B IR 1R 0| R AELE - BIE
RNEEERE ARBELELEREE
TTIMNEEBHRTT  SARBELSEME

RITH @ RBITMISF R B o 7R20205
12A318 - RHEHERNERENELN A
1.93% 2 4.18% (20195 12 A31H : 1.36% =
5.00%) * WK —FAEIE - RETFEEHTFR
BB TF AR 53.14% 5 4.18% (2019512
B31H : 1.95%%4.18%) - R1T45 64 M EIK
HERRCHERNCH B EERITNET
f#1F o

M20200F12A31H - BeBEAARK
146,000,000 7T K & BRER 1T 17 2 A 1 A 0 I8
AR #326,664,0007C K9 8R 1T & 3R (522019
F12H31H : &) - 120205F12H8318 - 8
$% B ARK9, 108,000 B K HASR 171 AN
AR #20,261,000 7T 17 SR8 1E /A AR 177
HIEZHRZS (R2019F12A318 : AREE
90,000,000 7T) °

HETREREZRERA T
2020 5
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

24, CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER DEPOSITS
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, a deposit of RMB4,476,000 were pledged
for letters of credit.

As at 31 December 2020, the long-term bank deposits of
RMB44,892,000 and a deposit of RMB130,000,000 were pledged
for banking facilities (31 December 2019: nil).

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

UWHRERBRITEHRERBERERK
(#&)

R2019%F 12 831 H r B8 AEAREK
4,476,000 7T K17 505 1E & B = S IRE

2N
& °

R220F12A431H - BE&mAAR
® 44,892,000 7T #) K Hl 17 KA A R &
130,000,000 7T A 52 HRERTT77 3¢+ FA R HE 3 A
FERR(S5EE (20194128318 « &) -

B EZREIRKERE

RBERH AEERBEZZAHNESE
NAEFEORESHTT

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Within 3 months =@AUA 598,593 422,713
3 to 6 months =@A=ENEA 70,755 66,720
More than 6 months NE A A 28,704 64,035

698,052 553,468
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued)

Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties, are
non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one month

to three months.

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

5 EZRARKES ()

EIRMNK  BREMNBBITHERR /T
ARE—RR-—E=EAREE -

26 BN BT E A

2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR%T T ARBT T
Accrued expenses TBIRE 265,258 588,198
Contract liabilities SRIAR (a) 220,522 126,938
Accrued payroll ezt H S 173,273 201,541

Payables for constructions of FERT THR2 K
property, plant and equipment 83,882 64,167
Guarantee deposits from customers WEE P HIRES 69,501 115,001
Other tax payables HAib eI 8,842 21,374
Interest payables RS FILE 1,892 673
Termination benefits payables FERTRERE A E = 15,792
Others Hih 127,821 68,681
950,991 1,202,365

Note: MisT -
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) EREBEFBOT :

31 December 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
2020%F 20194 20194
128318 12A318 1818
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARMWT T ARETT ARETT

Short-term advances received from customers

Sale of goods

HEEm

WEE P YA HIROR

220,522 126,938 249,686

R REBERERA
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

27.INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27 %+ E4R{7TR Ei{E

BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2020 As at 31 December 2019
2020128318 120195128318
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity ~ RMB’000 (%) Maturity ~ RMB000
ERFIR% GRS ARETz ERFER®%  IEEE ARETL
Current TE
Bank loans - secured RITER-BHA 2.60t03.22 2021 326,664 3.20 2020 26,831
Credit loans EREX LIBOR+1.20 2021 39,193 =
365,857 26,831
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T ARBEFIT
Bank loans denominated in RITER
_RMB —UARESE 326,664 26,831
- USD — AZETTEHE 39,193 =
365,857 26,831
As at 31 December 2020, the time deposits amounting to MR2020F12A831H r @eBBAEARE
RMB96,000,000 were pledged for bank loans amounting to 178,450,0007T BV ER1T & RUA AR #96,000,000
RMB178,450,000 (31 December 2019: nil). TTHTEFCEITE (20194128311 : &) o
As at 31 December 2020, the time deposits amounting to B2020F 12831 H - BB AEARE
RMB50,000,000 and structural bank deposits amounting to 148214000 T M 1TT E R U A R K
RMB100,000,000 were pledged for bank loans amounting to 100,000,000 JT M) &£ B 7 A A R ¥
RMB148,214,000 (31 December 2019: nil). 50,000,000 C 8917 BGESTE (201912 A 31
BH:&®)-
As at 31 December 2019, a bank loan of approximately 201912318 - AKR#26,831,0007THY
RMB26,831,000 was pledged by bank wealth investment products RITE FRIA AR 26,722,000 70 &9 78 5K 1T
amounting to RMB26,722,000. ISR EEMEITEIT -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

28.DEFERRED INCOME 28. IR FE UL 75
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
As at beginning of the year FHNEEER 3,477 4,362
Received for the year FERUE] 6,000 =
Amortisation for the year F N (277) (885)
As at end of the year FREEER 9,200 3,477
29.SHARE CAPITAL 29. BR A<
Number of Nominal
shares value
BB EE HE
Note ‘000 RMB’000
it = T AR®T T
Authorised: [SE=311
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each HRREENE T TR (i) 10,000,000 861,600
Ordinary shares, issued and BT -BHR
fully paid:
Shares issued upon the R2010F E4E R
reorganisation in 2010 BT (ii) 100 9
Capitalisation issue in 2010 20105 B AR L BT (i) 2,925,900 251,364
Shares issued by share 20105 3 B AR (7
offer in 2010 BEBITRG (iv) 574,000 49,312
Shares repurchased in 2011 R2011F AR D EIE (v) (10,000) (818)
Accumulated share options 2014 AT RET IR AERT EITTAE
exercised up to 2014 69,170 5,665
Shares issued to Danone Asia 20154 A1 RE
in 2015 M ETITRE (vi) 1,186,390 93,820
At 31 December 2019 and 2020 20194 %2020 £12H31H 4,745,560 399,352

R REBERERA
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31E

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

vi)

The Company was incorporated on 3 June 2010 with authorised capital of
3,800,000 shares at HK$0.10 per share. As part of a reorganisation of the Group
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2010 (the
“Reorganisation”), the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
to HK$1,000,000,000 (equivalent to RMB861,600,000) divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.10 each.

On 2 July 2010, as part of the Reorganisation, the Company issued a total of
99,999 shares at HK$0.10 per share equivalent to RMB9,000 to the shareholder
of Yashili (Guangdong) as the consideration to acquire Yashili (Guangdong).

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company’s shareholders passed on 8
October 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$380,000 to HK$1,000,000,000; in addition, 2,925,900,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each were issued at par value to the shareholders of the Company
as at 8 October 2010 by way of capitalisation of HK$292,590,000 (equivalent to
RMB251,364,000) from the Company’s share premium account.

A total of 3,500,000,000 shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 1 November 2010 (“IPO”), among which 644,000,000 shares
(18.4% of the total number of shares of the Company) were issued to the public,
comprising 574,000,000 new shares and 70,000,000 sale shares. The gross
proceeds received by the Company from the IPO were approximately HK$2,411
million.

On 10 June 2011 and 13 June 2011, the Company repurchased all of its own
ordinary shares of 10,000,000 at an aggregate price (including a transaction fee
and commission) of HK$18,728,000 (equivalent to RMB15,538,000), which was
deducted from reserves.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.
Pursuant to section 49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, an amount
equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of HK$1,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB818,000) was transferred to the capital redemption reserve. The
premium and transaction costs paid on the repurchase and cancellation of
the shares of HK$17,728,000 (equivalent to RMB14,720,000) were charged to
reserves.

On 30 October 2014, the Company, Mengniu International and Danone Asia
entered into a Subscription Agreement pursuant to which, among other things,
Danone Asia has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 1,186,390,074 subscription shares at the
subscription price of HK$3.70 per subscription share.

The share subscription has been approved by the Company’s shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting on 28 November 2014.

On 12 February 2015, the Company received all the share subscription
proceeds of HK$4,389,643,000, equivalent to RMB3,471,330,000, among which
RMB93,820,000 was accounted for as share capital, and the remaining, after
deducting issuance cost, amounting to RMB3,374,773,000 was accounted for as
share premium.
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29. 24 (&)

PR -

(il ARBR2010F6 A3RFEMKYL  EFEBARE
3,800,0000% © FREEA0.1ETHND o (EAARE
ER2010F AEHEARARRNREBHERSMBR
AR BEBBRA]) ER EmmETHEME(EM])
B — &b+ HOAE MR A 2 74 %1,000,000,0007T (46
W ARM861,600,0007T) © % /410,000,000 F f%
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30. &t 4R B XM
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions Q) EBHFBERXH
In 2019, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of- 20194 - NEBEBEAGAEEENEES
use assets and lease liabilities of RMB5,556,000 and EHIFR SR 5 AR H5,556,000 7T A
RMB5,556,000, respectively, in respect of lease arrangements K #5,556,0007T © 9 5ll = 78 5Bk B A0 2%
for plant and equipment. In 2020, the Group had no non-cash HEHHEZHE - 2020F NEBRBELERF
transaction of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. A#EENMHERENIFRERS °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b REFEFEDSENRBEHMT
Lease
Bank loans liabilities
SRITER HESE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR¥TR

At 1 January 2020 7202051818 26,831 28,049
Changes from financing cash flows BMERSRERET) 341,220 (8,373)
Exchange differences on translation of INERFRITE =58

financial statements of group entities (2,194) (137)
Interest expense MEER = 791
Interest paid classified as operating REREMEP AN BN

cash flows - (328)
Covid-19-related rent concessions from FIEHES R R

lessors - (463)
At 31 December 2020 7A2020%12831H 365,857 19,539
At 1 January 2019 20191 H18 415,128 29,568
Changes from financing cash flows MERSRENE (296,549) (7,161)
New leases ¥IgHE = 5,556
Exchange differences on translation of INEBEIRFRITE =

financial statements of group entities (91,748) 86
Interest expense FMNEEB - 854
Interest paid classified as operating cash AL &R B REHHY

flows MBS - (854)
At 31 December 2019 20195128318 26,831 28,049

R+ RERERARA
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B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of

N. SO R ERERME(E)

) HAEELMHREXH

BenEXPEsNEENRERLEHE

cash flows is as follows: R

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
Within operating activities BEEKEES (791) (854)
Within financing activities BEERELH (8,373) (7,161)
(9,164) (8,015)

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 3. EEEH

Details of the Group’s pledged assets are included in notes 12,
13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 26 and 27 to the financial
statements.

32. COMMITMENTS

(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
of the reporting period:

BRASEREEEFEFNFS  HRMHHR

=HIEE12 ~ 13
2123242526527

3. &IE

141516181920

(a) BEAREYR - AEEEAAERB RN

T

2020 2019
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREBTT

Contracted, but not provided for: EEESEE R
Buildings BB K5 661 5,682
Plant and machinery AR A 3,590 4,019
4,251 9,701

(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2020. The future lease
payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are
RMB3,625,000 (2019: RMB4,339,000) due within one year, and
RMB1,976,000 (2019: RMB2,135,000) due in the second to fifth
years.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS REBWAIRXS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these (a) BREFEARBF 7SR 55 E At MY TP 48 K2 /Y FE B

financial statements, the Group had the following material 5 NEEYEBEE T EITIATEARL

transactions with related parties during the year: 5
2020 2019
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B =E AR®T T ARETTT
Transactions with subsidiaries of b S s Sl /NI S /N =)
the ultimate holding company Rals 7 X 5)
Purchase of goods PREER o (i) 324,670 272,637
Sale of goods SHE R m* (i) 139,673 46,601
Service income AR AU A * (i) 33,075 16,395
Share option and share award % 52 A N ik 1 (i)
arrangements AT E* = 16,468
Service fee P& & R * (i) 669 921
Trademark licence fee PR & (i) - -
Transactions with subsidiaries of Lieh S g Sl NG I
the ultimate holding company's FERENHER R
main shareholder BT 22 5
Purchase of packing materials BEBEME (i) 74,320 51,552
Purchase raw materials BB RA (i) 9,652 11,926
Transactions with a substantial HAEEBSEATEN
shareholder and its subsidiaries WEH REWB AR
Sale of base powder PHEEM* (i) 353,831 511,003
Purchase of raw materials BB REH (i) 1,244 8,147
Income from consigned ZHEMNTI 2 U A (i)
processing 3,149 9,667
Consulting service expense AR RIS & * (i) 3,008 3,065
Office rental expense MHERA* (i) 55 158
Rental income AR (i) = 1"
Testing service income ORI AR S U A K (i) 50 138
Transactions with associates of iEh S S Sl NG Iz )
the ultimate holding company BB R R WO ARG 77 22 5
Purchase of base powder BEED (i) 35,892 76,622

The above related party transactions were conducted in

accordance with the terms mutually agreed between the

parties.

*

The above transactions also constitute connected transactions or

continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

BB 5 TR IR 5 AR F 2 K
7 -

* BlRSHEKETRALAATRREMNRER
SEFFEMER S ©

HETREREZRERA T
2020 5



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) B EAKARSE(E)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) BB ALHRERRER

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETFIT
TRADE RECEIVABLES =Y LEN
A substantial shareholder and its HAEFEEEAFENKRE S
subsidiaries N EKB AR 9,899 20,839
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company — &#3ZER& A &R T A 7] 8,743 968
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding AP A AR £ E AR AY
company’s main shareholder Ry EENGT 326 -
18,968 21,807
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES FENIE - HttERFRIER
AND OTHER ASSETS HibEE
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding BEERAARINEZRER
company’s main shareholder IEING 1,926 648
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company B4R A AIH) T2 &) 288 -
A substantial shareholder and its HAEBEEERTZENKES
subsidiaries N EKB AR - 59
2,214 707
TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES BESENRRERE
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding AR A A E ZARERAY
company’s main shareholder Loy 39,345 19,478
Associates of the ultimate holding company — fx#AR$% %A 7] AYH: B A A) 30,745 7,850
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company — FAXFER% A & E)F A 7 15,787 75,349
A substantial shareholder and its HASBEEEAXENRES
subsidiaries R EKTE A A 273 714
86,150 103,391
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS HittENRRETERA
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company — FAXFERL A B E)F A 7 13,346 =
A substantial shareholder and its HAEEEEATENKRER
subsidiaries Egii =N 2,487 5,118
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding BEZERARINEZRER
company’s main shareholder MERR = 60
15,833 5,178

MR2020F 12 A31H - Laigpsa A EiE
R EEHREE  ERBEUTRABYE=
IR B B = HIRENEEIERE
;ﬁ o

As at 31 December 2020, the above balances are unsecured,
non-interest-bearing and repayable on credit terms similar to
those offered to or by independent third parties.

(A FKEERETEARHHE

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group
EBEID A BRI S REN
Key management compensation is detailed in note 9 to the 9o
financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY U BERBESWERMTE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

BEHSHR SRR TANKEEED

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T :

Audited Audited
REX Bz
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
—EIEF —E-NEF
+=HA=+—-H +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets SREE AR¥ET T ARETTT
Financial instruments at amortised cost DS AT ENESRMIA
Trade receivables Z S W 91,166 152,632
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTFIE ~ Bt ENCRRIE I
other assets HEih&E 24,104 49,871
Pledged deposits X PRSI RITIF 263,217 9,968
Long-term bank deposits REAIRITIF X 736,004 546,091
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTHE 1,967,962 1,504,233
Financial assets at fair value through DAREBEFEEHEEFTA
profit or loss BENEmEE
Other current financial assets EtngsemEE 20,000 49,434
Structural bank deposits ERBMIRITIER 101,764 593,960
Derivative financial instruments TESMTE 2,175 =
3,206,392 2,906,189
Audited Audited
BEX KEZ
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
t=RA=t+—-8 +ZA=1+—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Financial liabilities THEE AR¥TR AR¥ETT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost DEsHEATTENERAs
Trade and bills payables ) NEES 698,052 553,468
Other payables and accruals BN ERE A 548,354 836,719
Derivative financial instruments TESBTA 262 =
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRIRITER 365,857 26,831
Lease liabilities HEAE 19,539 28,049
1,632,064 1,445,067
BELRERERERA A 253
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

3. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF % 2R TEAZARBRAALBEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS(Continued) (£8)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial AEENSRITENEEEMNAABE S T
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that BIHEUR AR BEMEEEE @ F50mT ¢

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
IREEE AREE
2020 2019 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTR ARETET AR®BTRE ARETT

Financial assets BRUEE
Long-term bank deposits ~ RHIRT1T/F 736,004 546,091 724,829 544,204
Other current financial HitRBomEE
assets 20,000 49,434 20,000 49,434
Structural bank deposits M IRITIE SR 101,764 593,960 101,764 593,960
Derivative financial TESRTA
instruments 2,175 - 2,175 -
859,943 1,189,485 848,768 1,187,598
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREEE NREE
2020 2019 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR®BTR ARBTT
Financial liabilities TREE
Derivative financial TESRTA
instruments 262 - 262 -
Interest-bearing bank STEIRTTIER
borrowings 365,857 26,831 365,857 26,831

366,119 26,831 366,119 26,831

254 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits,
trade receivables, other current financial assets, derivative
financial instruments, trade payables financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, derivative
financial instruments and short-term interest-bearing bank loans
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’'s corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to
management. At each reporting date, the corporate finance team
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by management. The valuation
process and results are discussed with management twice a year

for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of long-term bank deposits, other current financial
assets, structural bank deposits, derivative financial instruments
and the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as
a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2020 were

assessed to be insignificant.

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

UEMITEZAAREBERAREBEER

(#&)

ERHBAEHEREMREFEY - SHAR
BEEDNEMRTR - BHRUGK - Efh
MOTMEE  TEERMIEA  BHRENXK
B REATENROR - EtERFAERE B E
ENSREE FTAHMENREEFTER
MERAE  ITES R TAMEHT BRT
AN AR BERLREEERR - ARE
LS B T RNAED BERBAZIH -

AEERVBEEAENNKEEREEETE
TR TARAEBEENBRRMERF - M5
BERERRAEEERS - £®BEA®RSEHE - &
AVBEE S TeRmITABENEBUETE
FERRGENEIEGAE ZEEHERE
BEZEYE - RTTFHMEERBRS - A
BERRMERETEESTFIRMA

TREERABBENAREEAZTABREXR
577 CRAEFBERBERINEMRZ T ZA
BTN

EEt AR BENTARBRRAT

RERITER - HunBemEE - 8
BITEZR - TES R T AM BRITMEAM
B AR BEILBBERAELEBEOURK -
ERRBRMEKIHANSR T AN AT
AFMEFTRERNRRBESRERTED o
720206124318 - BRAKEEE 2RTT
REMEEBSHERNRBRMERN AR
BEZBEIHATTERK -

HETREREZRERA T
2020 5
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SOt SRR M EE (FE)
31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

3. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF % 2R TEAZARBRAALBEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (#&)

Fair value hierarchy DLREER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement REBHBUTERIAGHESRTAENAR
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: e

Assets measured at fair value: BARBENENEE :

Fair value measurement using

AREFTENER
Significant Significant
observable observable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)
BX E-UN
GIp ko AJERET
A 5 A\ BUE
(BE=Z4) (F=ZER)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
20204 720194
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Other current financial assets Hthmehe & E 20,000 49,434
Structural bank deposits EEEIRITIE K 101,764 593,960
Derivative financial instruments PTESmMTA 2,175 =
123,939 643,394

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

3. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF % 2R T A ARBRAALBEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (¢8)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) DREBRE)
Liabilities measured at fair value: WA EETEAaE

Fair value measurement using

AREFTENER
Significant Significant
observable observable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)
BX E-UN
GIp ko AJEER
WA I A\ BUE
(BE=%4) (F=ZER)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
120205 #20194F
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETT

Financial liabilities TRIBE

Derivative financial instruments PTESRTA 262 =

2020 e RMEENERABYES —FRE
F_FRENAAEBEER  AEAF=
EMAHOBAKEH (20195 © &) o

During the years of 2020, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for financial assets and financial liabilities (2019:
nil).

R REBERERA
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 35 BiiS RS EERBEE

POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group's operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
fair value and cash flow interest rate risks, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the senior management of
the Company meets regularly to analyse and formulate measures
to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks. In addition, the
board of directors of the Company holds meetings regularly
to analyse and approve the proposals made by the senior
management of the Company. Generally, the Group introduces
conservative strategies on its risk management. The Group’'s
accounting policies in relation to derivative financial instruments
are set out in note 2.4 above.

(a) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the fixed interest
rate borrowings in order to manage its interest rate risk. The
Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and short-term deposits
are stated at amortised cost and not revalued on a periodic
basis. Floating rate interest income is credited to profit as
earned.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

(Continued)

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest rates
of deposit and financial products with floating interest rates by
one percentage point, with all other variables held constant,
the consolidated pre-tax profit would have increased/
decreased by approximately RMB200,000 (2019: RMB102,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2020, with no impact on other
components of the consolidated equity, except for retained
earnings of the Group. The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and the Group has
applied the exposure to interest rate risk to those financial
instruments in existence at those dates. The estimated
one percentage pointincrease or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change
ininterest rates over the period until the end of the next
reporting period.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on
bank deposits, other receivables, trade payables and bank
loans of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily HKD, USD,
NZD and EUR.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rates
to HKD, USD, NZD and EUR with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities):

3. HBEREEE

B O B RS R R M (4]

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

=& R ()

(a) 23 7t {R{E B 31 ik B ) S LB (4%)

HIZFEFI R ﬁmfmwiﬁﬁrt%u%mu%
BENE,RE—EEDE - MATEHEMmE
ENE  AEZE2020F 128318 EFE * &
GERL AT S5 00,5 A 49 A R #5200,0007T

(20194 : /\Eﬂ%mz 0007%)  HEAREREES
HRESNEMBLWESTE - RS EFE

RN o Lm@ﬁ(@?& 7fﬁzETEj*“?'JT“@JEEA
EHRERRBEMETE - AKEC KEKRD
NEREREARZEENFENERIA -
B —EESHNEHEEEEHHANES

—(EREHRASLENIRER B E AR

(b) bR

RNEEHINERB EBREUINERTEZ R

TER - Hab MK - B S RARIBURR

TER - RNEEERBR S 2RI

E’]f”ﬁ%‘ S BERZEEEIBRER X
- A AR BT ©

TRINRERE EMEEER TENER
T ARBEBE - T - A% - ARBUT
E’]Fﬁf’—TT EHRNAEEH(NEREER
RAEEBEH) A K BN AEME

HETREBRZERERQ
2020¢$&
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk [Continued)

3. MR EE B FERBER (&)

(b) 515 B (48 )

Increase/(decrease)

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other assets,
pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents. Exposure
to the credit risk is monitored by management on an ongoing
basis. Details of the Company’s credit policy are contained in
note 20 to the financial statements.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging:

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’'s credit policy,
which is mainly based on the ageing information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-

end staging classification as at 31 December.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020

in RMB exchange Increase/(decrease) in
rate % profit before tax
ARMEE BADERA
R/ (TR) % E#/(TR)
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT
If RMB weakens against the USD MARBHETRE (5) (7,596) 8,882
If RMB strengthens against the USD  fi§ A R ¥ X E T HE 5 7,596 (8,882)
If RMB weakens against the HKD  fi§ A R¥EH B TRE (5) 7,961 5
If RMB strengthens against the HKD i A R¥ R BT FH{E 3 (7,961) (5)
If RMB weakens against the NZD ARG ATRE (5) 5,805 1
|f RMB strengthens against the NZD  fiii A R #& 5 4t T FHE 3 (5,805) (1)
If RMB weakens against the EUR MAREEBTRE (5] 545 2,974
If RMB strengthens against the EUR  {ifi A ¥ 5 BT FHE 9 (545) (2,974)
(c) Credit risk (c) (S EE MBS

AEENEERREIEREEFREGK -
BNERR - HttBURRA R EMEE - %
REIRITIFRMRE RBITET - EER
BIREEEBRHERR - ARANERK
REN B IRRMTE20 ©

BEEEAR

TERIVNERAEEBFEBRNEELEE
MEAEERBBO - AREE12A31H
HIPEER D EE - ZEEBREEERBEN
BRERE B » UREMET T NEM AR
LHENESREE



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 35, BA B E BAE R BE ()
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) (S5 B% (#8)
12-month ECLs
128 AR Lifetime ECLs
ERBE% EEFEDRAEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-ER BB =R A7 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 31 December 2020 2020127318 ARETTT ARET T ARETFT ARETT ARETTT
Trade receivables* g 5 g - - - 103,219 103,219
Financial assets included BERATE Bt
in prepayments, other R ME &
receivables and other assets ~ HJLRAE
- Normal** =R 24,104 - - - 24,104
- Doubtful** — T - - 2,637 - 2,637
Pledged deposits XBRHRTER
- Not yet past due — R 55 150,261 - - - 150,261
Long-term bank deposits KERITER
- Not yet past due —R5H 736,004 - - - 736,004
Cash and bank balances Re RiRfTH%
- Not yet past due —R5H 2,080,918 - - - 2,080,918
2,991,287 - 2,637 103,219 3,097,143
12-month ECLs
128 A B H Lifetime ECLs
EREX BEFEHEAERER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—EE EMBE F=IRER ‘A st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 31 December 2019 20196124318 ARETTT ARET T ARETT ANRETT ARETT
Trade receivables* g 5 e = = S 164,614 164,614
Financial assets included BERATE Bt
in prepayments, other R MEE E
receivables and other assets MG RIEE
- Normal** =g 49,87 - - - 49,87
- Doubtful** —TEiE - - 2,697 - 2,697
Pledged deposits RBHBRITER
- Not yet past due — R 5H 9,968 = = = 9,968
Long-term bank deposits REFIER
- Not yet past due —REH 546,091 - - - 546,091
Cash and bank balances Be RiRfTHHS
- Not yet past due —REH 1,504,233 - - - 1,504,233
2,110,163 - 2,697 164,614 2,277 474

HEREBRERERD 261
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

*  For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 20 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Majority of the Group’s customers have been trading with the
Group for years and the Group did not record significant bad
debt losses during the years ended 31 December 2020 (31
December 2019: nil]. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentration of credit risk of the trade
receivables as the receivables from the five largest trade
debtors represented 87.85% of the total trade receivables as
at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 72.87%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not provide
any other guarantees which would expose the Group to credit
risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
20 to the financial statements.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations. The Group’'s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank overdrafts, bank loans and other interest-bearing loans.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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(c) (S EEBR ()
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F - MEZE2020F12A31H IEFEHR K
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

3. MR EE B FERBER (&)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) TR ED M BB (48)

AEBRARB B ERRS A HEIH
BROZERARITRMAARETE )T

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

Within

1 year or
on demand 1to 2 years 2to5years Total

—FRZ
REXR —ZWF —ZEERE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2020 20206128318 ARET T ARET T ARBTR AR%T T
Derivative financial instruments fTEEMIA 262 - - 262
Lease liabilities HERE 8,839 5,942 4,758 19,539
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s ER1TIER 365,857 - - 365,857
Trade and bills payables BHENERRRE 698,052 = = 698,052
Other payables and accruals Hin 7R et E A 548,354 = - 548,354
1,621,364 5,942 4,758 1,632,064

31 December 2019 20194128318
Derivative financial instruments TEeRBTA = = = =
Lease liabilities HEAR 9,378 8,839 9,832 28,049
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  F8IR{TER 26,831 - - 26,831
Trade and bills payables BOERNERRRE 553,468 - - 553,468
Other payables and accruals Hit AR EER 836,719 - - 836,719
1,426,396 8,839 9,832 1,445,067
BEAEBRERARAT 5,0
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ORI IR R M ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 3. BiEKREE B EREE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2020 (31 December 2019: nil.

The Group uses different measures including an adjusted
net debt-to-equity ratio to monitor its capital. Net debt is
calculated as interest-bearing bank loans, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, less cash and
bank deposits. Total capital is calculated as equity holders’
funds (i.e., total equity attributable to owners of the parent), as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

el BXEH

AEEEAEENTERREREASHE
FEE RIS REERLL RS - A
SFREEBREACRREE -

REFEERHERER - WARBLCEMRNR
BE(L RIAREE ERRRIFEIEL AR -
HZE2020F12A31HIEFE - BEAERE
# B 1Z - BURSKIE R I &) (2019412
A318 : &) o

AEBERTRERE - SREHBFES
iR - UERHEER  FEBAEH
BERBRAITHERREFRR S KIR
TERAESL - BEAUAHEERE
RFTROBER A AE (A& QB
RAARGEEDS) AESH - BERS
HIREVEE =T -

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRRITER(KIEE27)

(note 27) 365,857 26,831
Lease liabilities (note 15) HEaE(ME15) 19,539 28,049
Less: R
Cash and cash equivalents (note 24) Re kRSB (HiE24) 1,818,288 576,164
Short-term bank deposits REHASRITIF IR 262,630 928,069
Long-term bank deposits (note 24) RESRITI AR (MEEE24) 736,004 546,091
Pledged bank deposits (note 24) R HIRTTER(FIFE24) 150,261 9,968
Net debt BEFHE (2,581,787) (2,005,412)
Total equity attributable to owners of R EIIRIEREE ARG

the parent TR 5,723,117 5,681,721
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio R R BT L X (45%) (35%)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

264 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O I R R B = (4R

31 December 2020 2020412 831H

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 3. MEHEREIE
As at the approval date of the consolidated financial statements, RAEHBEHRI AT - NEFMES AR
the Group had no significant events after the reporting period LEHAS ETAE B o

which need to be disclosed.

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. A RIB B4R IRTE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the BRARARRNABARE BT -

Company at the end of reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFARIEEZ 5,133,151 5,465,372
Total non-current assets IERBEELTE 5,133,151 5,465,372
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayment, other receivables and TARTRIE ~ Efth ENCRIE
other assets Ht&EE 589,879 642,850
Cash and cash equivalents BERIEESEEY 13,660 5,267
Total current assets MB)EERRE 603,539 648,117
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables =) ANEN 970 =
Other payables and accruals H b e RIB R EEHE R 11,255 22,855
Total current liabilities mEaEERE 12,225 22,855
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 591,314 625,262
Net ASSETS BEEFE 5,724,465 6,090,634
EQUITY e
Share capital R& 2R 399,352 399,352
Reserves & 5,325,113 5,691,282
Total equity HEmAEEE 5,724,465 6,090,634

R REBERERA
20204F 3 265
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B O R R B ()

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

37. DB IEAR R == (&)

Notes: 5T -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARFREFEEIT
Capital
Share redemption Contributed Translation Retained Total
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings equity
ROEE EERBREE BE4RH EiE REEF BEeE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT NS ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
(i) (ii) (iii)
At 1 January 2019 201941 A1 AR &eR 3,845,616 18 1,449,863 304,806 15,765 5,616,868
Total comprehensive income for the year 2EWEERE - - - 133,075 (11,137) 121,938
Final 2019 dividend declared 0195 ERRE - - - - (47,524) (47,524)
At 31 December 2019 2019412831 B &R 3,845,616 18 1,449,863 437,881 (42,896) 5,691,282
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2HEXRER = - - (367,264 1,095 (366,169)
At 31 December 2020 R2020F12 31 ARV &R 3,845,616 18 1,449,863 70,617 (41,801) 5,325,113
Notes: Bt e
(i) Share premium (i) WpEE

(i)

(jii)

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses over the par value
of the shares issued has been credited to the share premium account of the
Company. Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Contributed surplus

As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili (Guangdong])
transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (HK) on 2
July 2010. A contributed surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted from these
transfers for the purpose of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

In addition, for the purpose of the Company’s financial statements, a contributed
surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose from the issuance of shares by the Company
in exchange for the equity interests in the subsidiaries held by the shareholders
of these subsidiaries pursuant to the Reorganisation.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements.

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 24 March 2021.

YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
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(ii)

(iii)

BATE IR AT BHE HTRAEENEK
BEFARRBNRMGER - RIEFSHESRFE
(BIERT) - ARRRMDBEERNE SR DK TARE
IR - EREEEESIKRE AR - ARRIEBREN
EEERBREBKBRTEI M ER

M2010F7 A28 « EAEHRN—3 ) - FELF(ER)
BRI EIE R LA (ER) M SN FE 17
(B%) - AEBEEAHIBHRETELEEELER
B ARE1,367,204,0007T ©

BEAN  RAR BB HRET - REAARREITRE
PAIAERF R R RAE F A RS A MR EE R B AR
ANER#1,449,863,0007T °
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

The table below sets forth our summary income statement

information for the periods indicated:

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEMBEE

HAEKEZWHRR 2 AREREREMBFEE
ERmZEE  BEMBBEMEWT

TRENAKENA TN KSR EER

RMB million AREBET 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Restated
Revenue el 2,203.30 2,254.70 3,011.20  3,412.00  3,649.20
Cost of sales SHERAR (1,166.00) (1,332.50) (1,817.40) (2,145.20) (2,315.40)
Gross profit E7F 1,037.30 92220 1,193.80 1,266.80  1,333.80
Other revenue HAA 227.40 70.20 91.60 2890  102.00
Selling and distribution expenses HE RACHAS (1,170.90)  (893.20) (1,140.40)  (963.80) (1,039.10)
Administrative expenses THFX (389.50)  (271.20)  (208.60)  (223.00)  (186.6)
Impairment losses on financial Assets TREERERKX - (17.40) 1.20 (5.80) (3.80)
Other expenses HAE (148.30)  (145.60)  (69.90)  (84.80)  (151.50)
Profit/ (loss) from operations R, (BE) (444.00)  (335.00) (132.30)  18.30 54.90
Finance income BIHUA 130.20 123.70 113.60 94.50 88.50
Finance costs BATERR AR (18.80) (18.10) (16.10) (9.80) (13.70)
Net finance income/ (expense) FRBRA () 111.40 105.60 97.50 84.70 74.80
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSELATE T, (B518) (332.60)  (229.40)  (34.80)  102.90  129.70
Income tax expense FriS B 12.40 49.60 87.10 9.40 (28.60)
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations SECSESEF/(BEB) (320200 (179.80) 5230 11240  101.10
Discontinued operation BRI EETS
Loss from discontinued operation (net of 4% |44 ¥ F5 1
income tax) (FNBRETIEH)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRERF(B8) (320.20)  (179.80) 5230 11240  101.10
Profit/(loss) attributable to WRATAERT,/(B8) (320200  (179.80) 5230 11240  101.10
Non-controlling interests IR - - - - -
Profit/ (loss) for the year FEHF/(EE) (320.20)  (179.80] 52.30 112.40  101.10
BLFEEZERERAD A

2020 3R
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

FFEMEMEE)

The table sets forth our summary balance sheet information as of TR AEER20155F « 20164F + 20174F »

31 December 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019: 2018 FE K2019F12A3THNEERABREESE

B

RMB million AREBETT 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Non-current assets FEREEE 3,866.10  3,404.70 3,555.60  4,072.80  4,189.20
Current assets TEEE 4,099.90  4,025.90 4,166.60  3,439.70  3,602.80
Current liabilities REEE 2,253.50  1,918.00 2,150.00 1,799.30  2,028.90
Net current assets/ (liabilities) TRENEE,/(BE)FE 184640 2,107.90 2,016.60 1,640.40 1,573.90

Total assets less current liabilities BERERRBSAE 5,712.50 5,512.60 5,572.20 5,713.20 5,763.10
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